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Dell Corporation Limited

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the company for the period ended
3 February 2012

Principal activities

The company's principal activity throughout the financial year was the marketing and distnbution of computer
products under a commissionaire agreement with another group company, Dell Products In addition, due to
the acquisitions detailed below, the company also provides hosting, consulting, applications and business
process outsourcing and managed and modular services

Business review
Dell Corporation Limited 1s a commussionaire agent for Dell Products and hence the financial statements show
the commussion iIncome and operating costs of the agent

During November 2009, Dell Inc (the company's ultimate and controlling parent) acquired Perot Systems
Corporation  On 1 October 2010 Dell Corporation Limited acguired the trade ncluding certain business
assets and habilities of Perot Systems Europe Limited and Perot Systems (UK) Limted The integration of
Perot Systems into Dell extends Dell Services into hosting, consulting, applications and business-process
outsourcing, and expands Dell's existing managed and modular services

On 3 May 2011, the company acquired the business and assets of Compellent Technologies International
Limited The principal activity of the company 1s to perferm a sales and marketing function for another group
company

On 1 July 2011, the company acquired the business and assets of SecureWorks UK Limited The pnncipal
activity of the company 1s the provision of hardware and software consultancy and other computer related
activities

On 1 December 2011, the company acquired the business and assets of Force10 Networks Limited The
principal activity of the company 1s the provisicn of marketing services to another group company

For further details of the acquisiticns refer to note 24

The assets primarly consist of intercompany receivables with other group companies of £129,123,000
(2011 £186,242,000) and Dell International LLC of £59,261,000 being the long term loan to a Dell entity
which invests Dell's assets

The habilities prmarnly consist of trade creditors of £29,155,000 (2011 £45,679,000) and accruals for
operating expenses of £41,885,000 (2011 £69,433,000)

The commission income from Dell Products for the year was £168,968,000 compared to £136,591,000 n the
prior year Commussion revenue I1s calculated monthly based on a quarterly commussion rate and based on
forecasted revenues and operating expenses The company also recorded revenues of £91,799,000 (2011
£60,558,000) from the sale of locally procured products (LPP) and services on which the company earned a
gross profit of £8,386,000 (2011 gross profit of £7,501,000)

Net operating expenses include payroll, headcount related costs and administrative expenses directly related
to the provision of the services set out in the commissionaire agreement

The company made a less for the financial year of £6,137,000 (2011 profit of £3,114,000) The loss was
prnmarily due to loss making acquisiticns in the current and prior year and also an impairment of investments
The loss making acquisition in the current year was £2 Om as shown on the face of the Profit and Loss
Account There was an imparrment of investments of £4 4m, as shown in note 11

Future developments
The directors do not intend to significantly change the activities of the company




Dell Corporation Limited

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued

Key performance indicators

Given the straightforward nature of the business, the company's directors are of the opinion that analysis
using KPIs ts not necessary for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the
business

Financial risk management
The company's operations are not exposed to significant financial nsks

Foreign exchange nsk

The company operates in the UK market Transactions are primarily sterbng denominated, such that the
exposure 15 not sufficiently significant to warrant the use of hedging instruments to mitigate any foreign
exchange nisk

Price risk
The company's principal activity 1s the marketing and distribution of personal compulers under a
commissionaire agreement with another group company, Dell Products  Under this agreement ownership of
trade recevables ansing from the sale of these products, along with any associated credit nisk, rests with Dell
Products

in addition, due to acquisitions, the company also provides hosting, consulting, applications and business
process outsourcing and managed and modular services The company I1s exposed to credit nisk on debtors
for these services and minimises its nisk by providing credit to well capitalised debtors and enforcing its terms
of credit

Interest rate cash flow risk
The company's operations are principally funded through group loan arrangements, and as such the company
1s not exposed directly to external nisk factors such as hquidity and interest rate nsk

Subsequent evenis
On 1 August 2012, Dell Corporation Limited acquired the trade including certain business assets and liabiities
of ScnicWALL BV

On 1 September 2012, Dell Corporation Limited acquired the trade including certain business assets and
habilities of Wyse Technology (UK) Lid

There have been no other significant events affecting the company since the year end

Results and dividends
The company's loss after tax for the financial year 1s £6,137,000 (profit after tax 2011 £3,114,000) A
dvidend for the year ended 3 February 2012 was not recommended (see note 9)

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of approval of the financial statements were
as follows

J Wright

S Creed (alternate director, resigned 26 September 2011)

D Twomey (resigned 1 September 2011)

J Hayes-Warren {appointed 6 August 2010, resigned 6 October 2011)

T West {appointed 6 August 2010, resigned 26 September 2011)
N Gupta {appointed 26 August 2010, resigned 21 Apnl 2011)

S Debar (appointed 1 September 2011)

C Vyvyan (appointed 6 October 2011)

Directors' Indemnities
The company maintains hability insurance for its directors and officers which 1s a qualifying third party
indemnity provision for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006




Dell Corporation Limited

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued

Employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective
apttudes and abiliies of the applicant concerned In the event of members of staft becoming disabled every
effort 1s made to ensure that their employment with the company continues and the appropnate training 1s
arranged It 1s the policy of the company that the training, career development and promotion of a disabled
person should, as far as possible, be identical to that of a person who does not suffer from a disability

Consultation with employees or their representatives has continued at all levels, with the aim of ensuring that
views are taken into account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their interests and that all
employees are aware of the financial and economic performance of their business units and of the company
as a whole Communication with all employees continues through various internal communications vehicles,
including in-house newsletters, internal blogs and web sites, briefing groups and the internal publishing of the
company's annual 10-K fiing and an online "Year in Review" each spring

Political and charitable donations
Charitable donations of £405,000 were made by the company during the year (2011 £500 and £474,000 paid
by another group company )

No political donations or contnbutions were made or expenditure incurred during the year (2011 nil)

Creditor payments
For all trade creditors, it 1s, and will continue to be for the next financial year, Group policy to

+ agree and confirm the terms of payment at the commencement of business with that supplier,

« pay supplers in accordance with applicable terms, and

» continually review the payment procedures and haise with suppliers as a means of eliminating difficulties
and maintaining a goed working relationship

Other creditors are paid within agreed or specified terms and amounts owed to group undertakings are paid in
accordance with intercompany agreements

Statement of directors' responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the financial statements in accordance
with apphcable law and regutations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements tor each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company
law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that pernod

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

e state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explaned in the financial statements, and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropnate to presume that the
company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial positron of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities
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Dell Corporation Limited

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued

Disclosure of information to auditors

As at the date of this report, as far as each director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which
the company's auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that cught to have been taken
as a director 1n order to make himself aware of any reievant audit information and to establish that the
company's auditors are aware of that information

Auditors
The audtitors, PricewaterhauseCoopers, have indicated their willingness to continue In office and a resolution
concerning their re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

By order of the Board

A= &

Director
Stephane Debar

22 Qctober 2012
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Dell Corporation Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Dell Corporation Limited for the period ended 3 February
2012 which compnse the Profit and Loss account, the Balance Sheet and the related notes The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities set out 1n the Directors’ Report
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements 1 accordance with applicable law and Internatonal Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards
for Auditors,

This report, including the opintons, has been prepared for and only for the company’'s members as a
body 1n accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose
We do not, 1n giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report 1s shown or mnto whose hands 1t may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent 1 writing,

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures n the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matemnal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropnate to the company's circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the
financial and non-financial information 1n the annual report to identify matenal inconsistencies with
the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencles we will consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 3 February 2012 and of 1ts loss
for the period then ended,

¢ have been properly prepared mn accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Practice,
and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 20606

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opimion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements

PricewaterhouseCoopers, One Spencer Dock, North Weall Quay, Dublhin 1, Ireland, I D E Box No 137
T +353(0) 1792 6000, F +353(0) 1792 6200, www pwc cont/ie

Chartered Accountants
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Independent auditors' report to the members of Dell Corporation Limited - continued

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you if, 1n our opinion:

* adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recerved from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
we have not received all the information and explanations we requre for our audit.

Damian Byrne ;Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Dublin

2 ool 20(=
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Dell Corporation Limited

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
Period Ended 3 February 2012

Turnover

Commission income

Sales of locally procured products and
services

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Other operating iIncome

Operating (loss)/profit

Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar charges

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities
before taxation
Tax on profit on erdinary activities

{Loss)/profit for the financial year

Continuing SecureWorks Total Total
operations acquisition 53 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended
3 February 28 January
2012 2011
Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
2 168,266 702 168,968 136,591
88,826 2,973 9,799 60,558
257,092 3,675 260,767 197,149
(80,743) (2,670) {83,413) {53,057)
176,349 1,005 177,354 144,092
(215,850) (2,983) (218,833) (190,927)
3 34,287 - 34,287 50,071
(5,214) (1,978) (7,192) 3,236
6 1,879 1,441
7 {794) (675)
{6,107) 4,002
8 (30) (888)
20 {6,137} 3,114

All activities of the company arose from continuing operations

The company has no recognised gains or losses other than the profits above and therefore no separate
statement of total recognised gains and losses has been presented

There are no materal differences between the profit on ordinary activities before taxation and the retained
profit for the years stated above and their historical cost equivalents

As In the prior year comparative figures represent the results of the company before the consclidation of its

subsidiary, Dell Solutions (UK} Limited

Registered Number: 2081369
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Dell Corporation Limited

BALANCE SHEET
As at 3 February 2012

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments

Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Debtors

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current habihities
Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year

Provision for labilities and charges

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share based payment reserve
Profit and loss account

Total shareholders’ funds

Notes

10
11

12

13

14

16

18.

19
19

20

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000
9,191 4,272
17,476 21,886
26,667 26,158
6,782 1,411
221,746 285,681
228,528 287,092
(92,847) {147,650)
135,681 139,442
162,348 165,600
(19,759) (19,600)
- (2,367)
142,589 143,633
64,191 59,098
78,398 84,535
142,589 143,633

The financial statements on pages 9 to 24 were approved by the board of directors on 22 October 2012

and were signed on Its behalf by

By order of the Board

ANEEZES

Duwector
Stephane Debar

Registered Number 2081369

10




Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention
and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United
Kingdom  Accounting standards generally accepted in the United Kingdom in prepanng financial
statements giving a true and far view are those published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants In
England and Wales and issued by the Accounting Standards Board Accounting policies are appled
consistently The financial year represents the 53 week penod ended 3 February 2012 (prior 52 week
period ended 28 January 2011) The principal accounting policies are set out below

Changes in accounting policies
No new accounting pohicies came into effect in the year under review

Cash flow

The company 15 a wholly owned subsidiary (see note 22) and its results are included in the parent
consolidated accounts, which are publicly avallable These financial statements include a consclidated
cash flow statement Consequently, in accordance with 'FRS1 {Revised 1996), Cash Flow Statements”,
the company 1s exempt from prepanng a cash tlow statement

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation 1s charged on a
straight ine basis at rates calculated to write down assets to ther estimated residual value over therr
useful hves as follows

Leasehold improvements the lesser of 5 years or the lease period
Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 2to 5 years

Depreciation rates are reassessed penodically in the hight of experience gained

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recognised n respect of all timing differences that have onginated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future
or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date

A net deferred tax asset 1s recognised as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of
all availlable evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
against which to recover carned forward tax losses and from which the future reversal of underiying timing
differences can be deducted

Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply n the penods in which the
timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s measured on an undiscounted basis

Government grants
Regional development grants receved are treated as deferred income and credited to the profit and loss
account over the period of expenditure to which the grant relates

Operating leases
All operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the
lease term

Turnover

Turnover represents commission income and sales of locally procured products Commission income Is
accounted for on an accruals basis and anses on the shipment of final products or dehvery of services
Turnover ansing from the sale of locally procured products represents the invoiced value of goods and
services supplied, net of value added tax and trade discounts, and 1s accounted for on the shipment of
final products

All turnover onginates from the UK

11



Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
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Accounting policies - continued

Stock
Stock represents finished goods which are used as demonstration units and are valued at the lower of
cost and net realisable value

Cost includes all costs incurred in bnnging each product to ts present location and condrtion

Net realisable value compnises actual or estimated selling price less all costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution

Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilites denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates
ruling at the balance sheet date and revenues, costs and non-monetary assets at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions

Profits and losses ansing from foreign currency translations and on settlement of amounts recevable and
payable in foreign currency and dealt with in the profit and loss account

Monetary assets are money held and amounts to be received in money, all other assets are non-monetary
assets

Pensions

Pension contrnibutions are charged against profit as incurred and relate to defined contnibution schemes
held separately and independently administered by third paries  Contributions for the year amounted to
£5,686,000 (2011 £4,052,000) Contnbutions not paid over to the independently administered funds at
3 February 2012 of £273,000 (2011 £225,000) have been included in these financial statements

Share-based payment

The ulimate parent company, Dell Inc , operates a number of equity-settled, share based compensation
plans Cerain employees of the company are awarded options over the shares in the ulimate parent
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for these grants of options 1s recognised as
an expense over the vesting pencd, with a corresponding increase in the share-base payment reserve
(representing a capita! contnbution by the parent) The total amount to be expensed over the vesting
penod 15 determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets) Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest at each
balance sheet date, the company revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
It recognises the impact of the revision to onginal estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve

An agreement exists between the company and any of its employees who rece:ve stock options whereby
the employee is liable for any national insurance contributions ansing from the exercising of such options
Thus any estimated costs for share based payments are net of any employer national insurance
contributions

Consolidation exemption policy

The company I1s a wholly-owned subsidiary of Deil Inc, and 1s included in the consolidated financial
statements of Dell Inc which are publicly avallable Consequently, the company has taken advantage of
the exemption from preparng consolidated financial statements under the terms of the Companies Act
2006 The company also took advantage of this exemption in the prior year

Investment policy

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are recorded at cost plus incidental expenses less any provision
for impairment Impairment reviews are performed by the directors when there has been an indication of
potential impairment

12




Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
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Accounting policies - continued

Investment policy - continued

Investments in group undertakings are stated at cost As permitted by the Companies Act 2006, where
the relief afforded under the Companies Act 2006 applies, cost s the aggregate of the nominal value of
the relevant number of the company's shares and the far value of any other consideration given to
acquire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings

Turnover

On 1 February 1995, the company entered into a commissionaire agreement with a group company, Dell
Products Under this agreement Dell Products appeointed the company as its agent, with the company
acting n its own name, but for the account of the Principal, Dell Products, who assumes the economic
risks of the company's marketing and distnbution of Dell Products

The company generated its turnover and profit before tax from commission income and sales of locally
procured products and services, all of which anses and originates in the UK Full segmental disclosures
are detailed in the consolidated financial statements of the ullimate parent company, Dell Inc

Operating (loss)/profit 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Operating (loss)/profit 1s stated after charging/(crediting) the following

Staff costs (including directors)

Wages and salaries 167,196 128,614
Social security costs 18,266 13,430
Other pension costs 5,686 4,052
Share-based payments (note 17) 5,093 7,307
196,141 153,403
Release of provision {note 16) (2,367) -
Impairment (note 11) 4,410 -
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 3,113 6,090
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (334) (2,195)
Operating lease charges - other 4,350 5,396
Auditors' remuneration for audit of company financial statements 189 115
Fees payable to the company's auditor and its associates for other
services
- audit of the company's financial statements 189 115
- audit of company's subsidianes pursuant to legislation 19 19

- all other services - -

Included in operating income 15 £34,286,000 {2011 £50,071,000) of recharges to other group
undertakings

SecureWorks UK Limited was the only matenal acquisition during the year and 1s shown on the face of the
Profit and Loss Account The business and assets of the remaining acquisitions detalled in note 24 were
integrated into the company's existing operations immedately after acquisition and it 1s not now possible
to identify the separate results or turnover of each of the separate parts of the businesses However, the
operating expenses of the other acquired business had an immaterial effect in the financial year and are
included 1n the continuing operations figures in the Profit and Loss Account

13



Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4 Directors' emoluments

Aggregate emoluments

Of which
Amounts received under long term incentive schemes
Company pension coniributions to defined contrbution scheme

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

583 814
26 31
34 32

During the year no director (2011 none) exercised share options in the ullimate parent company and four
directors (2011 four) accrued benefits under a defined contribution pension scheme

T West and J Wnight are paid by Dell Inc for therr services to Dell Inc and its subsidiary undertakings

D Twomey 1s paid as an employee of Dell Products and received no remuneration for his services as a

director of Dell Corporation Limited

Highest pard director

Aggregate emoiuments

3 February
2012
£'000

286

28 January
2011
£'000

261

The highest paid director did not exercise share options (2011 nil) and did not accrue benefits under this

scheme in the year (2011 £nil)

5 Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by
the company during the year was

By activity:
Sales
Admirustration
Operations

6 Interest receivable and similar income

Interest recevable on intercompany loan
Other interest receivable

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
Number Number
488 425

1,193 1,050

371 363

2,052 1,838

3 February 28 January
2012 201
£'000 £'000
1,874 1,441

5 -

1,879 1,441

14



Deli Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

7

Interest payable and similar chares

Bank charges
Interest on intercompany loan

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the year
Adjustment Iin respect of previous periods

Total current tax

Deferred tax
- Current
- Previous years

Total deferred tax {see note 15)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

5 13
789 662
794 675

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

- 2,400
(1,003) (641)
(1,003) 1,759

394 (950)
639 79
1,033 (871)
30 888

The standard rate of tax for the year based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax 1s 28% {(as of 1
April 2011 the rate 15 26%) The actual tax change for the current and previous year differed from the

standard rate for the reasons explained below

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities befora tax

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities muluplied by the blended rate in the UK
of 26 32% (2011 28%)

Effects of

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Depreciation (less than)/in excess of capital allowances

Statutory deduction for stock option costs

Other short term timing differences

Adjustment in respect of previous penods

Impairment of investment in subsidiary not deductable for tax purposes
Group relief surrender

Current tax {credit)/charge for the year

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£000 £'000

(6,107) 4,002
(1,608) 1,120
124 123
(102) 578
(1.434) {1,478)
1,556 2,057
{1,003) (641)
1,168 -
296 -
(1,003) 1,759

A number of changes to the UK corporation tax system were enacled in the Finance Act approved on
17 July 2012 This act includes legislation to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 26% to 24%
from 1 Apnl 2012 and to 23% from 1 Apnl 2013 Further reduction to the rmain rate 1s proposed to reduce
the rate to 22% by 1 April 2014 The changes had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet

date and, therefore, are not included in these financial statements

15




Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

8 Tax on profit on ordinary actwities - continued

10

The effect of the changes enacted in the Finance Act 2012 would be to reduce the deferred tax asset
recognised at 3 February 2012 by £221,386 in 2012 This £221,386 decrease in deferred tax would
increase the loss for the year by £221,386 This decrease In deferred tax 1s due to the reduction in the
corporation tax rate from 26% to 24% with effect from 1 Apnl 2012 and to 23% with effect from 1 Apnl

2013

The other changes to be enacted would have no further effects on the deferred tax recognised at

3 February 2012

Dividends

Equity - Ordinary

Tangible assets

Cost

At 28 January 2011
Additions
Retirements

At 3 February 2012

Accumulated depreciation
At 28 January 2011

Charge for the year
Retirements

At 3 February 2012

Net book amount
At 3 February 2012

At 28 January 2011

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Buildings and Fixtures, Total
leasehold  fittings, tools
improvements and
equipment
£'000 £'000 £'000
3,737 50,806 54,543
6,876 1,175 8,051
- (1,067) {1,007)
10,613 50,974 61,587
2,074 48,197 50,271
907 2,206 3,113
- (988) {988)
2,981 49,415 52,396
7,632 1,659 9,191
1,663 2,609 4,272
16




Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

11

12

Investments 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Shares in group undertakings

At 28 January 2011 21,886 21,886
Impairment (4,410) -
At 3 February 2012 17,476 21,886

The following 1s a histing of subsidiary companies at 3 February 2012

Principal activities Country of Principal Proportion of
incorporation areas of shares held
or registration operation and voting

rights

Dell Sclutions (UK) The provision of IT solution England UK 100%
Limited services to other group company
Bracknell Boulevard  Manage, maintamn and administer England UK 71%
Management the common parts of the estate
Company Limited known as Bracknell Boulevard,

Amen Corner, Bracknell,

Berkshire

In the opimon of the directors, the aggregate value of the investments in subsidiary undertakings 15 not
less than the amounts at which those investments are carrnied on the balance sheet

Dunng the year under review, the company's subsidiary, Dell Solutions (UK) Limited, made a profit of
£912,000 (2011 £624,000), as disclosed by its financial statements for the year At the end of its financial
year 2012, Dell Solutions (UK) Limited had total capital and reserves of £9,996,000 (2011 £9,097,000)
The results of the company's other subsidiaries have not been disclosed as they are considered
insignificant

Durning the year, a number of indwvduais employed by De!l Solutions (UK) Limited were transferred to
other entittes {including Dell Corporation Limited) Given the nature of the entity’s operations, the income
generated by the Dell Sclutions (UK) Limited income generating unit changes proportionally based on its
headcount As such, due to the reduction In the perscnnel that are forecasted to be employed by the
company, an impairment review was performed This impairment review led to the recording of an
impairment charge in the financial statements of £4 4m

Debtors 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Amounts owed by group undertakings 188,384 245,503

Deferred tax {(note 15) 4,545 5,578

Corporation tax 4,912 130

VAT 1,870 1,054

Other debtars and deferred expenditure 20,234 32,323

Prepayments and accrued income 1,801 1,092

221,746 285,681
17
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Debtors - continued

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand Of the total balance,
interest 1s earned on a group loan of £59,261,000 at the 1 year Sterling Libor rate plus 0 45% Where
applcable interest 1s also earned on intercompany balances which are not settled within the agreed
payment terms and 1s charged at the 1 month Sterling Libor plus 50 base points The Interest receivable

in the current year from these balances is £1,879,000 (2011 £1,441,000) (note 6)

Of the £4,545,000 deferred tax asset shown above, £1,874,000 i1s due over more than one year

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Trade creditors 29,155 45,679

Other creditors 346 1,250

Amounts owed to group undertakings 14,351 24,535

Social secunty taxes 7,110 6,753

Accruals and deferred income 41,885 69,433

92,847 147,650

Amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand

Creditors - amounts due after more than one year 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Amounts due tc group undertakings 19,576 19,536

Other long term habilities - deferred rent 183 64

19,759 19,600

Amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured, are repayable on 10 November 2016 and 1 October

2015 and bear interest at a rate of 50% p a

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Matunity of debt
In one year or less, or on demand - -
In more than one year, but not more than two years 183 64
In more than two years, but not more than five years 7,076 7,036
In mere than five years 12,500 12,500
19,759 19,600
18
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
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16

17

Deferred tax 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

The movement in deferred tax asset I1s as follows

As at start of the year 5,578 4,299

Adjustment in respect of previous years (639) -

Transfer in - 408

Charge for the year (394) 871

At the end of the year 4,645 5,678

The amounts recognised for each significant type of timing difference 1s

as follows

Accelerated capital allowances 3,051 3,620

Other timing differences 1,494 1,958
4,545 5,578

Provision for liabilities and charges 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Government grant - 2,367

A contingent liability was recognised in the 2011 financial statement pertaining to a government grant
Dell Corporation Limited (DCL) has been in receipt of grant monies from the Scottish Executive amounting
to a total of £7 3m, of which all but £2 4m, had been released to the Profit and Loss Account during
previous financial years The remamning balance of £2 4m, may be revoked, cancelled or abated under
certain circumstances

Post year end, 13 April 2012, DCL receved confirmation from Scottish Enterpnise to notify them that DCL
had fulfilled their obligations to them As a result DCL released an amount of £2 4m to the Profit and Loss
Account which had been previously recorded as a contingent hability

Share-based payment

Employee stock plans

Dell Inc {"Dell”) 1s currently issuing stock grants under the Dell Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (“the 2002 Incentive Plan"), which was approved by shareholders on 4 December 2007
There are previous plans that have been terminated, except for options previously granted under those
plans which remain outstanding These are collectively referred to as the “Stock Plans”

The 2002 Incentive Plan provides for the grant of stock-based incentive awards to Dell's employees and
non-employee directors Awards may be incentive stock options, non qualified stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, or performance based restricted stock units

Stock option agreements

Stock options granted under the 2002 incentive plan vest pro-rata at each option anniversary date over a
three to five-year penod The options, which are granted with option exercise prices equal to the far
market value of Dell's common stock on the date of grant, generally expire within ten to twelve years from
the date of grant

19
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

17 Share-based payment - continued

Restricted stock awards

Awards of restricted stock may be either grants of restricted stock, restricted stock units, or performance-
based units that are 1ssued at no cost to the recipient For restricted stock grants, at the date of grant, the
recipient has all nghts of a stockholder, subject to certain restrichons on transferabiity and a nsk of
forfeiture Restnicted stock grants typically vest over a three to seven year pencd beginning on the date of
grant For restncted stock units, legal ownership of the shares 1s not transferred to the employee until the
unit vests, which 1s generally over a three to five year pertod The cost of these awards s determined
using the fair market value of Dell's common stock on the date of grant Dell also grants performance-
based restncted stock units as a long-term incentive in which an award recipient receives shares
contingent upon Dell achieving performance objectives and the employees' continuing employment
through the vesting pernod, which 1s generally over a three to five year period Compensation expense
recorded In connection with these performance-based restricted stock units are based on Dell's best
estimate of the number of shares that will eventually be i1ssued upon achievement of the specified
performance critena and when it becomes probable that certain performance goals will be achieved

The company recognised total expenses of $8,149,813/£5,093,000 (2011 $11,248,013/£7,307,000)
related to equity settled share based payment transactions

Details of the movement in share options durning the year are as follows

3 February 2012 28 January 2011

Number Weighted Number Weighted

of options average of options average

exercise exercise

price price
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 3,911,469 $26 13 4,725,085 %2912
Transfers {(out)/in the year (248,006) $22 96 172,939 $38 39
Granted in the year 547,811 $1312 509,410 $14 89
Exercised in the year (207,265) $910 (27,000) $8 51
Forfeited in the year {121,156) $12 65 {69,711) $16 13
Expired in the year {698,126) $25 01 (1,399,254) $34 49
Cutstanding at the end of the year 3,184,727 $26 01 3,911,469 $26 13
Exercisable at the end of the year 2,449,957 $29 75 3,266,368 $28 73

20
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Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

17 Share-based payments - continued

The options granted during the year had a weighted average fair value of $5 12 (2011 $502) These farr
values were calculated using the Black Scholes option pricing mode!  The inputs into the model were as

follows

Expected term (years)
Volatility (%)

Risk free rate (%)
Dividend yield (%)}
Share price ($)

3 February 28 January
2012 2011
weighted weighted
average average
457 4 51

3642 3638

19 229

$15 36 $14 89

Volatility 1s based on the weighted average historic volatlity over a penod equal to the weighted average

expected life

Detals of the movement in restrnicted stock options during the year are as follows

3 February 2012

28 January 2011

Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
shares grant date shares grant date
fair value $ fair value $
(per share) {per share)
Non-vested restricted stock at beginning of
year 863,719 $14 47 875,793 $17 49
Granted in the year 422,018 $15 09 553,965 $14 29
Transfers (out}in the year (46,054) $14 16 19,737 $15 22
Vested in the year (334,941) $17 19 (434,413) $20 02
Forleited in the year {87,616) $14 52 {151,363) $15 43
Non-vested restncted stock at the end of
the year 817,126 $1370 863,719 $14 47
3 February 28 January
2012 2011
Weighted average grant date fair value of restncted stock awards granted
{per share) $15 09 $14 29
Total estimated far value of restnicted stock awards vested $5 756 $8 695
18 Called up share capital 3 February 28 January
2012 2011
£ £
Authorised, allotted and fully paid
100 ordinary shares of £1 each 100 100
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22

Reserves

At 28 January 2011
Loss for the financial year (note 20)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments

At 3 February 2012

Reconciliation of movement in shareholders' funds

(Loss)/profit for the financial year
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments

Net (reduction)/addition to shareholders' funds
Opening shareholders' funds

Closing shareholders’ funds

Operating lease commitments

Share-based Profit and Total
payment loss account
reserve

£'000 £'000 £'000
59,098 84,535 143,633
- (6,137) (6,137)

5,093 - 5,093
64,191 78,398 142,589
3 February 28 January

2012 201

£'000 £'000

(6,137) 3,114

5,093 7,307

(1,044) 10,421

143,633 133,212

142,589 143,633

At 3 February 2012 the company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

expinng as follows

3 February 2012

28 January 2011

Land and Other Land and Other

buildings bulldings
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Within one year 295 - 82 77
Within two to five years 1,203 22 1,069 32
After five years 2,566 - 3,556 -
4,065 22 4,707 109

Ultimate and intermediate parent undertaking

The ultimate and controling parent undertaking and controlling party i1s Dell Inc a company incorporated
in the USA which 1s the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest group to consolidate these
accounts Group financial statements can be obtained from Dell Inc , One Dell Way, Round Rock, Texas,

USA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

23 Related parties
Since the company 1s a wholly owned subsichary of a group headed by Dell Inc and s inciuded in the
consohdated accounts which are publicly avallable, any transactions with fellow wholly owned subsidianes

and investees of the group qualifying as related parties are not disclosed as the company 1s exempt under
3(c) of FRS8 - Related Party Disclosures

24 Acquisitions

On 3 May 2011, the company acquired the business and assets of Compellent Technologies International
Limited

On 1 July 2011, the company acquired the business and assets of SecureWorks UK Limited
On 1 December 2011, the company acquired the business and assets of Force10 Networks Limited
The amount received for the acquisitions are shown below

Fair value and Fair value and Fair value ang
book value for book value for book value for

Compellent SecureWorks Force10
Technologies UK Network
International Limited Limited
Limited
Total Total Total Total
£'000 £°000 £'000 £°000
Tangible fixed assets 3 120 - 151
Inventory - 22 - 22
Trade debtors - 1,007 - 1,007
Prepayments 14 207 - 221
Accruals (245) (874) (137) (1,256)
Tax payable (VAT) - (195) - (195)
Deferred revenue - (997) - (997)
Total {200) (710) (137) (1,047)

25 Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been adjusted where necessary to conform to current period presentation

26 Approval of financial statements

The directors approved the financial statements on 22 October 2012

24
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D C 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
= ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURIIIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012
or
m] IRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT I'C SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF F'HE SECURITILS
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from _____to

Commission file number 0-17017

Dell Inc. :

{Exuct name of registrant as speeafied an its charter)

Delaware 74-2487834
{State or other yurtsdiction of {{R S Employcr
incorportion or organization} Identfication No )

One Dell Way, Round Rock, Texas 78682
(Address of principal execulive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant s telephone number, including area code 1-800-BUY-DELL

Secunties registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act

Tutle of each class Name of cach exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $ 01 per share The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(NASDAQ Global Select Market)
Securiies registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act None
Indicate by check mark 1f the registrant 1s a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act Yes O No R
Indicate by check mark 1f the registrant 15 nol required 1o file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act Yes O No R

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934
duning the preceding |12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days Yes R No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electromcally and posted on ts corporate Web site, 1f any, every Interacuve Data File required to
be submutted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation §-T dunng the preceding 12 menths (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files) Yes R No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 1s not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best
of registrant's knowledge, in defimtive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company See the
definittons of “large accelerated filer,” ‘accelerated filer " and * smaller reporting company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer R Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is 2 shell company (as defined n Rule 12b-2 of the Act) Yes O No R

Approximate aggregate market value of the registrant s common stock held by non-affiliates as of July 29 2011 based upon 525 3 bullion
the last sale price reported for such date on the NASDAQ Global Select Market

Number of shares of common stock outstanding as of March 7, 2012 1,762,044 563
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING SIAITEMENIS

"

-y "o

This report includes forward-lookimg statements  The words “may,” “will,” anticipate,™ ‘estimate,” expect,” ‘intend,” ‘plan,” ‘aim,” seek’™ and sirmilar
expressions as they relate to us or our management are intended to 1dentify these forward-looking statements All statements by us regarding our expected
financial position, revenues, cash flows and other operating results business strategy, legal proceedings and similar matters are forward-looking statements
Our expectations expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements may not turn out to be correct Qur results could be matenally different from our
expectations because of various risks, including the nsks discussed in this report under “Part 1 - ltem 1A - Risk Factors ™ Any forward-looking statement
speaks only as of the date as of which such statement 1s made, and except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking
slatement to reflect events or circemstances, including unanticipaled events, afier the date as of which such statement was made
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PART |

All percentage amounts and ratios were calculated using the underlying data in thowsands, Unless otherwise noted, all references to time periods refer to
our fiscal years Qur fiscal ycar 15 the 52 or 53 week pertod ending on the Friday nearest January 31 The fiscal year ended Febraary 3, 2012 (" Frvcal
2012") was a 53 week period

Unless the conrext indicates otherwise, references i this report to “we, ™ “us,” Your™ and “Dell” mean Dell Inc and cur conmselidated ~ubsidiartes
P

ITEM | — BUSINESS

General

Dell 1s a global information technology company that offers its customers a broad range of sotutions and services delivered directly by Dell and through other
distnbution channels We are focused on providing technology solutions that are more efficient, more accessible, and easier to manage

Dell Inc 15 a holding company that conducts 1ts business worldwide through s subsidhanes Our global corporate headquarters 1s located 1n Round Rock,
Texas When we refer 1o our company and 1ts business in this report we are refernag to the business and activities of our consolidated subsidiaries

Business Strategy

Dell built 1ts reputation as a leading technology provider through listening to customers and developing solutions that meet customer needs A few years ago,
we iitiated a broad transformation of the company to become an end-to-end technotogy soluttons company

We are expanding our enterprise solutions, which include servers networking and storage offerings In services, we are adding more capabilities to provide
end-to-end technotogy solutions to our customers, tncluding managed secunity services focused on threat intelltgence and secunty consulting We are also
focused on growing our end-user computing business which includes desktop and mobility offerings  Software 1s a critical part of enterprise solutions and
end-user computing, and we are expanding our capabilities 1n this business Since the beginming of Fiscal 2011, we have acquired more than ten companies
whose offerings and ntellectual property enhance our solutions business We will continue to focus our organic and inorganic investments on opportunities
that we believe will enhance our solutions capabihiies

We are committed to this transformation as we have experienced its benefits  We scek to balance revenue growth with an appropriate level of profitamility In
addition we will continue to manage our businesses to grow operating income and cash flows aver the long-term We believe our strategy will benefit our
customers, drive greater efficiency and productivity, and create value for our shareholders

Operating Business Segments

We operate in the information technology industry and we manage our business in four global customer-centric operating segments that we 1dentify as Large
Enterprise, Public, Small and Medium Business, and Consumer We belicve our business segments allow us to serve our customers with faster innovation and
greater responsiveness

. Large Enterprive — Our Large Enterprise customers mclude large global and national corporate businesses We believe that a single large-
enterprise unit enhances our knowledge of our customers and improves our advantage in delivering globaily consistent solutions and services 10
many of the world's largest IT users Qur efforts in this segment will be increasingly focused on delivering innovative solutions and services
through data center and cloud computing selutions

. Public — Our Public customers, which inctude educational nstitutions, government health care and law enforcement agencies, operale in theiwr
own communities These customers have a broad range of unique T needs and we strive to expand our leadership and address their urgent 1T
challenges through the delivery of technology solutiens that help them achieve their mission

. Small and Medum Bustness ¢"SMB”) — Our SMB segment 1s focused on helping small and medium-sized businesses get the most out of their
technology by offering scalable products, services, and solutions As cloud computing and workforce mobility become a routine part of a growing
business's operations, server and sterage virtualizauon facilitate achievement of the organization's [T goals Our SMB segment continues to create
and
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deliver SMB-specific solutions so customers worldwide can take advantage of these emerging technologies and grow their businesses

. Consumer — Qur Consumer segment 15 focused on delivering what customers want from the total technology experience of entertainment,
mobilty, gaming and design We are desigming new, innovative products and expenences with fast development cycles and competitive features
and will continue our efforts to deliver high quality products and services to Consumer customers around the world

We refer to our Large Enterprise, Public, and SMB segments as "Commercial * For financial information about the results of our reponable operating
segments for each of the last three fiscal years, see ‘Part [I - Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operaunons - Results of Operations - Segment Discussion™ and Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 1n Part 11 - ltem 8 -
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”

Products and Services

We design, develop, manufacture, market sell, and support a wide range of products solutions, and services We also provide vanous customer financial
services to our Commercial and Consumer customers

Enterprise Solutions and Services

. Enterprise Solutions
Our enlerprise selutions include servers, networking, and storage products

. Servers and Networking — Our PowerEdge hine of servers 18 designed to offer customers affordable performance reliability, and scalability
Our portfohio includes hugh performance rack, blade, and tower servers for enterpnse customers and value tower servers for small
orgamizattons, networks, and remote offices During Fiscal 2012, we expanded our PowerConnect campus networking product offerings with
a full suite of Dell Force 10 data center networking soluttons We have also recently introduced our 12% generation of PowerEdge servers,
which will help customers run their applications more effectively and their data centers more efficiently These products support our mission
to help companies of all sizes simphify their [T environmenis

. Storage — We offer a comprehensive portfolio of advanced storage solutions, including storage area networks, network-attached storage
direct-attached storage, and vanous backup systems Our acquisition of Compellent Technologies, Inc m early Fiscal 2012 has further
expanded our network storage offenngs, and we have added a vanety of increasingly flexible new Dell EqualLogic ("EqualLogic™),
Delt PowerVault, and Dell DX Object storage chorces that allow customers to grow capacity, add performance, and protect theiwr data
in a mote economical manner The flexibility and scalability offered by our Dell PowerVault and Equallogic storage systems help
organizations optimize storage for diverse environments with vaned requirements During Fiscal 2012, we shifted more of our
portfolio of storage solutions to Dell-owned storage products We believe that, along with our sohid position with the EqualLogic
product line our recent acquisittons allow us to expand our customer base for mid-range and high-end storage solutions and deliver
integrated data management solutions to our customers

. Services

Our services include a broad range of configurable [T and business services including infrastructure technelogy, consuliing and applications, and product-
related support services  Historically, we have provided the following categores of services to our customers either on a stand-alone basis or bundled within
a comprehensive solution We manage our services based on a customer engagement model which groups our services with similar demand, economic and
delivery profiles into three categonies of services transactional, outsourcing, and project-based Within those categornies, we offer a vanety of services to our
customers as part of an overall solution

. Transactional — We offer services that are closely tied to the sale of our servers storage, and chent offerings These services include support
and extended warranty services, managed deployment, enterprise installation, and configuration services

. Outsourcing — Our outsourcing services business 1s designed to reduce customer costs and increase the efficiency and improve the quality of
customer business operations  Our outsourcing services include data center and systems management, network management, hife cycle
application development and management
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services and business process outsourcing services A sigruficant portion of the revenue we denve from our outsourcing services contracts 1s typically
recurTing in nature

. Project-based — We also offer short-term services that address a wide armay of chent needs, including IT infrastructure, applications, business
process, and business consulting

Begirning i Fiscal 2013, we will transition to new classifications for our services business that are aligned with the types of service offerings we provide 1o
our customers This change reinforces our commitment to developing and delivering innovative solutions that meet our customers’ needs We will classify our
services as Support and Deployment services, Infrastructure, Cloud, and Secunity services, and Applications and Business Process services

. Support and Deplovment Services — Support and deployment scrvices are closely tied to the sale of our servers storage networking and
client offerings, as well as multivendor support services These services include the majonty of the services we currently classify as
transactional services above

. Infrastructure, Cloud and Securiry Services — Infrastructure, Cloud, and Secunty services may be performed under multi-year oulsourcing
arrangements, subscription services, or short-term consulting contracts These services include infrastructure and secunty managed
services, cloud computing, infrastructure consulting, and security consulting and threat intelligence We are often responsible for
defining the infrastructure technology strategies for our customers through the identification and delivery of new technology offerings
and innovanons that deliver value to our customers

. Applications und Business Process Services — Applications services include such services as application development and maintenance,
apphication migration and management services, package implementation, testing and quality assurance functions, business intelligence and
data warehouse solutions, and application consulting services Business process services involve assuming responsibility for certain customer
business functions, imcluding back office adnmimstration, call center management, and other techmical and administration services

Software and Peripherals

We offer Dell-branded printers and displays and a multitude of compettively priced third-party peripheral products such as printers, televisions, notebook
accessories, mice, keyboards, networking and wireless products digital cameras, and other products We also seli a wide range of third-party software
products, including operating systems, business and office applications, anti-virus and related security software, entertainment software, and products
various other categories We are focusing our participation in this area on lugher-value offerings

Chient Products

We offer a wide variety of mobihty and desktop products including notebooks workstations tablets, smartphones, and desktop PCs, to our Commercial and
Consumer customers

. Commercial — Our Latitude, Optiplex, Vostro, and Dell Precision workstation lines of mobility notebooks and desktop PCs are designed with
our Commercial customers i mund The Latitude line of notebooks and the Optiplex line of deskiop PCs deliver industry leading design,
durability, secunity, and manageability to drnive enterpnse efficiency and reduce the total cost of ownership The Vostro line 15 designed to
customize technology, services, and expertise to suit the specific needs of small businesses We also offer the Precision line of mobite and
desktop workstations for professional users who demand advanced workstation performance capabihities to run sophisticated applications
During Fiscal 2012, we introduced the new Vostro 3000 senes notebooks, and the Dell Precision M4600 and M6600 mobile workstations, and
made enhancements to our Dell Latitude E-famly of notebooks

. Consumer — For our Consumer customers, we offer the Inspiron, XPS, and Alienware lines of notebooks and desktop PCs The Inspiron line
15 designed for the mainstream user secking a personalized smart nvestment that 1s easy to use, while the XPS line 15 designed for customers
seeking un-compromised form plus function, with bugh performance and craftsmanship We target sales of our Alienware line to customers
seeking advanced multimed:a capabilities for high performance gaming Durning Fiscal 2012, we introduced new desktops and notebooks n
each of our consumer brands, including thin and powerful Inspiron and XPS notebooks
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For additional information about the above products and services, see ‘Part Il — Hem 7 — Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Results of Operations — Revenue by Product and Services Categories ™

In early Fiscal 2013 we launched our newly formed Software Group, which will expand our ability to execute in strategic areas that are important to our
customers The formation of this group, 1 conjunctuion with enhancements to our software capabilities across Dell will help support our strategie
transformation as an end-to-end technology solutions company

Financial Services

We offer or arrange vanious financing options and services for our Commercial and Consumer customers in the U S and Canada through Dell Financial
Services ("DFS") DFS offers a wide range of financial services, including ongmating, collecting and servicing customer receivables pnmanly related to the
purchase of Dell products DFS offers private labe! credut financing programs to quahfied Consumer and Commercial customers and offers leases and fixed-
term finaneing primanty to Commereial customers Financing through DFS 1s one of many sources of funding that our customers may select For additional
information about our financing arrangements, see “Part [l - ltem 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Fiancial Condition and Results of
Operations - Dell Financial Services and Financing Recervables™ and Note 4 of the Notes to Conselidated Financial Statements meluded in * Part [l -Item 8 -
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data*

Durnng Fiscal 2012, we acquired Dell Financial Services Canada Limuted from CIT Group Inc and we announced our entry mio a defimtive agreement to
acquire CIT Vendor Finance's Dell-related assets and its sales and servicing functions in Europe CIT Vendor Finance 18 currenily a Dell financing preferred
vendor operating 1 more than 25 countries and will continue to support Dell for the transition peniod in Europe CIT Vendor Finance wall also continue to
provide financing programs with Dell in select countries around the world including programs in Latin America, after completion of this transaction

Product Development

We focus on developing scalable technologies that imcorporate highly desirable features and capabilities at competitive prices We employ a collaberative
approach to product design and development i whuch our engineers, with direct customer input, design innovative solutions and work with a global network
of technology companies 1o architect new system designs, influence the directton of future development, and inlegrate new technologies into our products We
manage our research, development, and engineening ("RD&E") spending by targeting those innovauions and products that we believe are most valuable 1o our
customers and by relying on the capabilities of our strategic refattonships Through this coltaborative, customer-focused approach, we stnive to deliver new
and relevant products to the market quickly and efficiently

We are increasing our focus on research and development and will continue to shift our 1nvestment in RD&E activities to support initialives that enhance our
enterprise solutions and services offerings In Fiscal 2012, we opened the Dell Silicon Valley Research and Development Center, bringing the total number of
global research and development centers we operate to 12 Qur total research, development, and engineering expenses were $856 million, $661 milhon, and
$624 mullon for Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 201 1, and Fiscal 2010, respecuvely

Manufaciuring and Materials

Thard parties manufacture the majoraty of the client products we sell under the Dell brand We use contract manufacturers and manufacturing outsourcing
relauonships to achieve our goals of generating cost efficiencics, delivering products faster, better serving our customers, and bunlding a world-class supply
chamn Qur manufacturing faciliies are located in Austn, Texas Penang. Malaysia, Xiamen, China, Hortolandia, Brazil Chennay, India and Lodz Poland
See Par | - ltem 2 - Properties™ for information about our manufacturing and distribution locations

Our manufacturnng process consists of assembly, software nstallaton, functional 1esting, and quality control Testing and quahity control processes are also
applied to components parts, sub-assemblies, and systems obtaned from third-party suppliers Quality control is maintained through the testing of
components, sub-assemblies, and sysiems at various stages in the manufacturing process Quality control atso includes a burn-in pentod for compteted units
after assembly ongoing production reliability audits, failure tracking for early identification of production and component problems, and information from
customers oblained through services and support programs We are cernified 1o the 1SO (International
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Orgamzation for Standardizationy 9001 2008 Qualtty management systems standard This certification includes most of our global sites that design,
manufacture and service our products

We purchase matenals, supplies, product components, and products from a large number of vendors In somw cases, where multiple sources of supply are not
available, we rely on single-source vendors In other cases, we may establish a working relatonship with a single source or a imited number of sources of
supply 1f we believe 1t 15 advantageous to do se due to performance quality, support, dehvery, capacily, or pnce considerations We believe that any
disruptton that may occur because of our dependency on single- or limited-source vendors would not disproportionately disadvantage us relative to our
competitors See “Part | - liem LA - Risk Factors™ for information about the nsks associated with single- or limited-source suppliers

Geographic Operations

Our global corporate headquarters 1s located in Round Rock, Texas We have operations and conduct business 1n many countries located in the Americas,
Europe, the Middle East Asia and other geographic regions We continue to expand and 1avest in Growth Countries which we define as non-U § markets
excluding Western Europe, Canada, and Japan In particular, we are focused on the BRIC region, which consists of Brazil, Russia, India, and China Qur
continued expansion outside of the U S creates addithional complexity in coordinating the design, development, procurement, manufactuning, distnibution, and
suppon of our increasingly complex product and service offenings  For addiional information on our product and service offerings, see **Products and
Services - Manufacturing and Matenals”™ and “Part | - 1tem 2 - Properties * For information about percentages of revenue we generated from our operations
outside of the U § and cther financial mformation for each of the last three fiscal years, see Pant [ - Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Results of Operations” and Note 15 of the Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements included 1 “Part [ -
Item 8 - Financial Staternents and Supplementary Data "

Competition

We operate 1n an industry 1n which there are rapid technological advances in hardware, software, and service offenngs and we face ongoing product and price
compelition m all areas of our business including both branded and generic competitors We compete based on our ability to offer to our customers
competiive scalable, and integrated solutions that provide the most current and desired product and sersices features We believe that our strong relatnonships
with our customers and our distnbution channels, such as retail, syslem integrators, value-added resellers, distnibutors, and other channel partners, allow us to
respond to changing customer needs faster than many of our competitors

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products and services directty to customers and through vanous other sales distnbution channels, such as retailers, third-party solution providers,
system integrators, and third-party resellers Qur custemers include large global and natienal corporate businesses, public institutions that include government,
education and healthcare organizations, law enforcement agencies, small and medium business, and consumers No single customer accounted for more than
10% of our conseclidated net revenue duning any of the last three fiscal years

Qur sales efforts are orgamized around the evolving needs of our customers, and our marketing imtiatives reflect this focus Our direct business model
emphasizes direct communication with our customers, thereby allowing us to refine our products and marketing programs for specific customer groups We
market our products and services to small and medium-sized businesses and consutners through varnous advertising media Customers may offer suggestions
for current and future Dell products, services, and operations on an wteractive portion of our Internet website called Delt IdeaStorm [n order to react quickly
te our customers’ needs, we track our Net Promoter Score, a customer loyalty metric that 1s widely used across various industrnies Increasingly, we also
engage with customers through our social media commumbes on www dell com and in external social media channels In Fiscal 2012, n an effort to create a
more responsive and efficrent sales orgamization, we announced the umfication of our global sales and marketing teams We believe that this change will
create a sales orgamzation that 1s more customer-focused collaborative, and innovative

For large business and istitutional customers we maintain a field sales force throughout the world Dedicated account teams, which include fietd-based
enterpnse solution speciahists form long-term relationships to provide our largest customers with a single source of assistance, develop tallored solutions for
these customers and provide us with customer feedback For these customers, we ofter several programs designed to provide single ponts of contact and
accountability with global account speciahists special global pricing, and consistent global service and support programs We also maintamn specific sales and
marketing programs targeted at federal, state, and local governmental agencies, as well as healthcare and educational customers
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Patents, Trademarks, and Licenses

At February 3, 2012, we held a worldwide portfolio of 3,449 patents and had an addittonal 1,660 patent applications pending We also hold licenses to use
numerous third-party patents To replace expiring patents, we obtain new patents through our ongoing research and development activities The inventions
claimed n our patents and patent applications caver aspects of our current and possible future computer system products, manufactuning processes, and
related technologies Qur product, business method, and manufacturing process patents may establish barriers to entry 1n many product lines While we use
our patented inventions and also lrcense them to others, we are not substantially dependent on any single patent or group of related patents We have entered
nto a vanety of intellectual property licensing and cross-licensing agreements We have also entered into vanous sofiware licensing agreements with other
companies We anticipate that our worldwide patent portfolio will be of value 1n negotiating intellectual property rights with others in the industry

We have oblained U S federal trademark registration for the DELL word mark and the Dell logo mark We own

registrations for 107 of our other trademarks 1n the U § At February 3, 2012, we had pending apphications for registration of 14 other trademarks We believe
that ¢stablishment of the DELL word mark and logo mark n the U 8 15 matenial to our operations We have also applied for or obtained registration of the
DELL word mark and several other marks 1n approximately 183 other countnes

From ume to time, other companies and individuals assert exclusive patent copyright trademark, or other inteltectual property nghts to technologies or marks
that are mmportant to the technology industry or our business We evaluate each claim relating to our products and, :1f appropnate, scek a hicense to use the
protected technology The licensing agreements generally do not require the hicensor to asstst us 1 duphcating its patented technology, nor do these
agreements protect us from trade secret, copyright, or other violations by us or our suppliers 1n developing or selling these products

Gosvernment Regulanion and Sustainabifity

. Government Regulation

Qur business 1s subject to regulation by vanous U § federal and state governmental agencies and other governmental agencies Such regulation includes the
radio frequency emussion regulatory activities of the U § Federal Commumcations Commassion, the anti-trust regulatory activities of the U § Federal Trade
Commmssion, the U § Department of Justice, and the European Union, the consumer protection laws and financial services regulations of the U S Federal
Trade Commussion and vanous state governmenial agencies, the export regulatory activities of the U S Department of Commerce and the U S Department of
Treasury, the import regulatory activities of U § Customs and Border Protection, the preduct safcty regulatory activities of the U S Consumer Product Safety
Commussion and the U § Department of Transportation, the investor protection and capital markets regulatory activinies of the U § Securities and Exchange
Commussion, and the environmental, employment and labor, and other regulatory activities of a vanety of govemmental authontics 1n cach of the countries in
which we conduct business We were not assessed any material environmental fines, nor did we have any matenal environmental remediation or other
environmental costs, duning Fiscal 2012

- Sustainabiiity

Environmenial stewardship and social responsibility are both integral parts of how we manage our business, and complement our focus on business
efficiencies and customer satsfacion We use open dialogue with our stockholders, customers, venders, and other stakeholders as pant of our sustainabilhity
governance process tn which we solicit candid feedback and offer honest discussions on the challenges we face globally Our environmental imtiatives take
many forms, including maximzing product energy efficiency, reducing and ehminating sensitive matenals from our products, and providing responsible,
convenent computer recycling options for customers

We were the first company n our industry to offer a free worldwide recycling program for our consumers We also provide consumers with no-charge
recycling of any brand of computer or printer with the purchase of a new Dell computer or printer We have streamhined our transportation network to reduce
transit imes manimize air freight and reduce emssions Our packaging 1s designed to minimize box siz¢ and to increase recycled content of matenals along
with recyclability When developing and designing preducts, we select matenals guided by a precautionary approach in which we seek to eliminate
environmentally sensitive substances (where reasonable alternatives exist) from our products and work towards developing reliable environmentally sound,
and commercially scalable solutions We also have created a series of tools that help customers assess their current IT operations and uncover ways to reduce
both the costs of those operations and their impact on the environment
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Product Backlog

We believe that product backlog 1s not a meaningful indicator of net revenue that can be expected for any period Our business model generally gives us
flexibility to manage product backlog at any point in ime by expediting shipping or priontizing customer orders toward products that have shorter lead times,
thereby reducing product backlog and increasing current period revenue Moreover, product backlog at any point in time may not translate into net revenue in
any subsequent penod, as unfilled orders can generally be canceled at any time by the customer

1 rademarks and Service Marks

Unless otherwise noted, trademarks appeanng 1n this report are trademarks owned by us We disclaim proprictary interest i the marks and names of others
FICO 1s a registered trademark of Fair isaac and Company Nct Promoter Score 18 a trademark of Satmetrix Systems. Inc , Bain & Company, Inc  and Fred
Reichheld

Available Information

The mathing address of our principal executive offices 15 One Dell Way, Round Rock, Texas 78682 Qur telephone number 1s 1-800-BUY-DELL

We matntain an Internet website at www dell com All of our reports filed with the SEC (includimg annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments o those reports) are accessible threugh the Investor Relations section of our website at
www dell com/investor, free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the reports with the SEC You may read and copy any
materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N E , Washington, D C 20549 You may obtan information on the
eperation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 The SEC mammains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and |
information statements, and other information regarding 1ssuers that file electronically with the SEC a1t www.sec gov Information on our website 1s not
incorporated by reference into this report and does not otherwise form a part of this repon
|

Employees

At the end of Fiscal 2012 we had approximately 109,400 wtal employees (consisting of 106,700 regular employees and 2,700 temporary employees)

compared to approximately 103,300 total employees (consisting of 100,300 regular employees and 3,000 temporary employees) at the end of Fiscal 2011

Approximately 39 900 of our regular employees at the end of Fiscal 2012 were located inthe U S and approximately 66 800 regular employees were located

n other countries |
[

Executive Officers of Dell

The following table sets forth the name, age, and position of each of the persons who were serving as our executive officers as of March 9, 2012

Name Age  Tile

Michael S Dell 47 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Bradley R Anderson 52 President, Enterprise Solutions

Jeffrey W Clarke 49 Vige Chairman and President, End-User Computing Solutions & Operations '
Stephen] Felice 54 President, Chief Commercial Officer |
Brian T Gladden 47 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

David L Johnson 58 Sentor Vice President Strategy and Business Development |
Steven H Price 50 Sentor Vice President, Human Resources

Karen H Quintos 48 Sentor Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer

Stephen F Schuckenbrock 51 President, Services

John A Swainson 57 President Software

Lawrence P Tu 57 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Qur executive officers are elected annually by and serve at the pleasure of our Board of Directors

Set forth below is biographical information about each of our executive officers |

. Michael S Dell — Mr Dell currently serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
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He has held the ttle of Chairman of the Board since he founded Dell in 1984 Mr Dell also served as Chief Executive Officer of Dell from 1984 untl

July 2004 and resumed that role in January 2007 He serves on the Foundation Board of the World Economic Forum, the executive commutice of the
Internattanal Business Council, and 15 2 member of the U S Business Council and the Business Roundtable, and serves as chairman of the Technology CEO
Counci! He also serves on the governing board of the Indian School of Business in Hyderabad India, and 15 a board member of Catalyst, Inc

. Bradiey R Anderson — Mr Anderson joined Dell w July 2005 and has served as President, Enterprise Solutions since January 2012 In this role
he 1s responsible for worldwide engineering, design, development, and marketing of Dell's enterpnse products including servers, networking, and
storage systems From July 2005 unul January 2009, Mr Anderson served as Semior Vice President, Business Product Group Prior to joimng Dell
Mr Anderson was Semor Vice President and General-Manager of the Industry Standard Servers business at Hewlett-Packard Company (“HP"),
where he was responsible for HP's server solutions Previously, he was Vice President of Server, Storage, and Infrastructure for HP where he led
the team responsible for server, storage, penpheral, and infrastructure products Before joining HP 1n 1996 Mr Anderson held top management
positions at Cray Research in executive staff, field marketing, sales, finance, and corporate marketing Mr Anderson eamed a Bachelor of Science
degree 1 Petroleum Engineering from Texas A&M Umiversity and a Master of Business Administration degree from Harvard University

. Jeffiev W Clarhe — Mr Clarke serves as Vice Chairman and President, End User Computing Selutions & Operations In this role, in which he has
served since January 2009, he 1s responsible for worldwide engineenng, design and development of Dell's business chient products, meluding Dell
OptiPlex Desktops, Lattude Notebooks and Precision Workstations, and production of all company products worldwide From January 2003 until
January 2009 Mr Clarke served as Senior Vice President, Business Product Group From November 2001 to January 2003, Mr Clarke served as
Vige President and General Manager, Relationship Product Group In 1995, Mr Clarke became the director of desktop development Mr Clarke
Jowned Dell in 1987 as a quality engineer and has served 1n a vanety of engineenng and management roles Mr Clarke received a Bachelor's degree
m Electrical Engineering from the Umversity of Texas at San Antonio

. Stephen J Feltce — Mr Felice was named President, Chef Commercial Officer m January 2012 From November 2009 until January 2012, he
served as Prestdent, Consumer, Small and Medium Business Mr Felice leads the Dell orgamization that creates and delivers specific solutions and
technology to Commercial customers globally and 1s responsible for Dell's porifolio of products, including desktops laptops software and
penipherals as well as product design and sales From January 2009 until November 2009, Mr Felice served as President, Small and Medium
Business and from March 2007 until January 2009, as Senior Vice President and President, Asia Pacific-Japan, after having served as Vice
President Asia Pacific-Japan since August 2005 [n those positions, Mr Felice was responstble for Dell's operations throughout the APJ region
including sales and customer service centers in Penang, Malaysia, and Xiamen, China From February 2002 uniil July 2005, Mr Felice was Vice
President. Corporate Bustness Group, Dell Amernicas Mr Felice joined us in February 1999 and has held vanous executive roles in our sales and
consulting services organizations Prior to joming Dell, Mr Felice served as Chief Executive Officer and President of DecisionOne Corp
Mr Felice also served as Vice President Planning and Development, with Bell Atlantic Customer Services and he spent five years with Shell il
tn Houston Mr Felice holds a Bachelor's degree m Business Admnistration from the University of lowa and a Master of Business Administration
degree from the Umiversity of Houston

. Brian T Gladden — Mr Gladden serves as Semior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ( CFO™) In this role, in which he has served since
June of 2008, he 1s responsible for all aspects of Dell's finance functions, including accounting, financial planning and analys, tax, treasury, and
investor relations, and 1s also responsible for Dell's information technology, global secunty and facihities functions  Prior to jouung Pell,

Mr Gladden was President and CEO of SABIC Innovative Plastics Holding BV from August 2007 through May 2008 Prior to this role,

Mr Gladden spent nearly 20 years with General Electric Company (*GE”) 1n a vaniety of financial and management leadershiproles Heisa
member of the Umiversity of Texas McCombs School ot Business Advisory Council Mr Gladden eamed a Bachelor of Science degree in Business
Admmistration and Finance from Millersville Umiversity in Millersville, Pennsylvania

. David L Johnson — Mr Johnson serves as Sentor Vice President Corporate Strategy and Business Development He jotned Deil 1n June of 2009
as Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy In this role, he works with Michael Dell on the development of short- and long-term strategy, and
also with leaders of the company's global business units on their respective growth strategies in June 2050, Mr Johnson assumed responsibihity for
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Dell's Business Development sirategy, tncluding responsibility for Dell’'s acquisition strategy and other strategic investments Mr Johnson previously spent 27
years at International Business Machines Corporation ("IBM™) 1n a vanety of corporate-development and finance roles, and was a member of the company's
senior leadership team Mr Johnson holds both a Master of Business Admimistration and a Bachelor's degree 1n English from Boston College

Steven H Price — Mr Price serves as Semor Vice President, Human Resources In this role, he 1s responsible for overall human resources ("HR")
strategy 1n support of the purpose, values and business imtiatives of Dell He 15 also responsible for developing and dnving people strategy and
fostering an environment where the global Dell team thrnives Mr Price Joined Dell in February 1997 and has played leadership roles throughout the
HR orgamzation, mcluding Vice Prestdent of HR for the global Censumer business, Global Talent Management and Americas Human Resources
From November 2006 untt] June 2010, he served as Vice President, Human Resources Dell Global Consumer Group From January 2003 until
November 2006, he served as Vice President, Human Resources Dell Amencas Business Group From July 2001 untl January 2003, he served as
Vice President, Human Resources Global HR Operations From May 1999 to July 2001 he served as Vice President, Human Resources Dell
EMEA Prior to joinng Dell 1n 1997, Mr Price spent 13 years with SC Johnson Wax based in Racine, Wisconsin Having started his career there
in sales, he later moved into HR, where he held a vanety of senior positions Mr Price 15 a member of the Executive Advisory Board for the Rawls
College of Business at Texas Tech University and also serves on the Executive Advisory Board for The Wharton School at the Umnversity of
Pennsylvama He holds a Bachelor's degree in Business from Southwestern Oklahoma State University and a Master's degree 1n Business
Admimistration from the University of Central Oklahoma

Karen H Quintos — Karen Quintos 1s Semior Vice President and Chief Markeung Officer (‘CMO™) for Dell where she s responsible for bringing
the company's brand to hfe for Dell customers team members, and stakeholders around the world She leads Dell’s branding, messaging and
marketing for all Dell customer segments, 1n addition to global communications, social medta, and agency management Before becoming CMO in
September 2010, Ms Quintos served as Vice President of Dell's global Public business from January 2008 to September 2010, and was responsible
for driving global marketing strategies, product and pncing programs, communications and channel plans She has also held various executive roles
in SMB markeung and Dell's Services and Supply Chain Management teams since jorming Dell in 2000  She came to Dell from Citigroup, where
she senved as Vice President of Global Cperations and Technology She also spent 12 years with Merck & Co  where she held a vanety of roles in
marketing, planning operations and supply chain management Ms Quintos holds a Master's degree in Marketing and International Business from
New York University and a Bachelor of Science degree 1n Supply Chain Management from The Pennsylvania State University State Coltege She
has scrved on multiple boards of directors and currently serves on the Susan G Komen for the Cure, Penn State's Smeal Business School Board of
Visitors, Association of National Advertisers the Ad Council, and Dell’s Women's Networking Board

Stephen F Schuckenbrock — Mr Schuckenbrock serves as President, Services In this role, he 1s responstble for developing and delivering a best-
in-class suite of ntelhgent, end-to-end IT services and business solutions for global corporations, government, health care, educational istitutions
and medium-sized businesses 1n more than 180 countries around the world Mr Schuckenbrock yoined Dell in January 2007 as Senior Vice
President and President Global Services In September 2007, he assumed the additional role of Chief Informauon Officer, and he served in those
roles until January 2009 In those roles, he was responsible for all aspects of Dell's services business, with worldwide responsibility for Dell
enterpnse service offenings, and was also responsible for Dell's global information systems and technology structure From January 2009 until re-
assuming the Services role 1 January 20k t, Mr Schuckenbrock was President, Large Enterpnise, leading the delivery of mnovative and globally
consistent Dell solutions and services (o the world's largest corporate IT users Prior to joining Dell, Mr Schuckenbrock served as Co-Chief
Operating Officer and Executive Vice President of Global Sales and Services for Electromic Data Systems Corporation (“EDS™) Before joining
EDS 1n 2003, he was Chief Operating Officer of The Feld Group, an information technology consulting organization Mr Schuckenbrock served as
Global Chief Information Officer at PepsiCo from 1995 to 2000 Mr Schuckenbrock earned a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from
Elon University

John A Swamson — Mr Swainson jomned Dell in March 2012 He currently serves as President of Dell's newly formed Sofiware Group
Immediately prior to joimng Dell Mr Swainson was a Semor Advisor to Silver Lake, a global private equity firm from May 2010 to February
2012 From February 2005 unul December 2009, Mr Swamson served as Chief Executive Officer and Director of CA, Inc . an enterprise sofiware
company Prior to Jjoimng CA, Inc Mr Swainson worked for IBM for over 26 years, where he held vanious management positions
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inthe US and Canada, includmg seven years in the role of General Manager of the Apphication Integration Middleware Division Mr Swainson holds a
Bachelor's degree 1n Engineening from the University of Bniish Colombia, Canada  Ele currently serves on the boards of directors of Visa In¢ , Broadcom
Corporation, Assurant, Inc , and Cadence Design Systems, Inc - Mr Swainson wili be retiring from the boards of directors of Broadcom Corporation,
Assurant, Inc and Cadence Design Systems Inc 1n May 2012

. Lawrence P Tu — Mr Tu joined Dell as Semor Vice President General Counsel and Secretary in July 2004 and 1s responsible for overseeing
Dell's global legal, governmental affairs, and ethics and complhiance departments Before joiming Dell, Mr Tu served as Executive Vice President
and General Counsel at NBC Universal for three years Prior to his position at NBC, he was a partner with the law firm of O'Melveny & Myers
LLP where he focused on cnergy, technology, Internet and media-related transactions He also served five years as managing partner of the finn's
Hong Kong office Mr Tu's prior experience also includes serving as General Counsel Asia-Pacific for Goldman Sachs, attorney for the U S State
Depariment and law clerk for U 8§ Supreme Court Justice Thurgood Marshall Mr Tu holds Juns Doctor and Bachelor of Arts degrees from
Harvard Umiversity, as well as o Master's degree from Oxford University, where he was a Rhodes Scholar
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ITEM 1A — RISK FACTORS

Our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects are subject to a variety of significant nsks, many of which are beyond our control The
following 1s a description of some of the important nsk factors that may cause our actual results in future periods to differ substantially from those we
currently expect or seek The nisks descrnibed below are not the only nisks facing us There are addittonal nisks and uncertainties not currently known to us or
that we currently deem to be immatenial that also may matenally adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, or prospects

- We fuce intense compettiion, which may adversely affect our industry unit share position revenue, and profitabiliry

We operate 1n an idustry 1n which there are rapid technological advances 1n hardware, software, and service offerings, and we face aggressive product and
price competuion from both branded and generic competitors We compete based on our ability to offer 10 our customers competiive integrated solutions that
provide the most current and desired product and services features We expect that competihon will continue to be mtense, and there 15 a nisk that our
competitors’ products may be less costly, provide better performance or include additional features when compared to our products Additionally, there 15 a
risk that our preduct portfolios may quickly become outdated or our market share may quickly erode Moreover, our effonts to balance our mix of products
and services o optimize profitabiluty, hquidity, and growth may put pressure on our industry position

In addition to competitive factors we face as a resuli of the current state of our business and our industry, we confront additional competiuive challenges as our
business and industry continue to grow and evolve As we expand globally, we may see new and increased competition in different geographic regions
Moreover, the generally low barners to entry in our business increase the potential for challenges from new indusiry competitors We may also see increased
competition from new types of products as the options for mobile and cloud computing solutions increase Further, as our industry evolves and our company
grows, companies with which we have strategic alliances may become competitors in other product areas or our current competitors may enter 1nto new
strategic relationships with new or existing competitors, all of which may further increase the competitive pressures we face

. Our reliunce on vendors for products and components many of whom are single-source or limited-source suppliers could harm our business by
adversely affecting product availability delivery reliability and cost

We maintain several single-source or imited-source supplier relationships, either because multiple sources are not readily available or because the
relationships are advantageous to us due to performance, quality, support, delivery, capacity, or price considerations [f the supply of a critical single- or
Iimuted-source product or component 15 delayed or curtatled, we may not be able to ship the related product in desired quantities, configurations, or in a timely
manner Even where multiple sources of supply are available, qualification of the alternative suppliers and establishment of reliable supplies could result n
delays and a possible loss of sales, which could harm our operating results

We obtain many of our products and all of our components from third-party vendors, many of which are located outside of the U § In addition, significant
portions of the products we selt are now assembled by contract manufacturers, primarily in various parts of Asia A significant concentration of this
oulsourced manufacturmg 1s currently performed by only a few of our contract manufacturers, often 1n single locations We sell components to these contract
manufacturers and generate large non-trade accounts recervables, an arrangement that presents a risk of uncollectibility 1f the financial condition of a contract
manufacturer should deteriorate

While these relationships generate cost efficiencies, they reduce our direct control over production Qur increasing reliance on these vendors
subyects us to a greater nisk of shortages, and reduced control over dehivery schedules of components and products, as well as a greater nsk of increases n
product and component costs Because we mamntain mimimal levels of component and product inventories, a disruption in component or product availabihty
could harm our financial performance and our ability to satisfy customer needs In addition, defective parts and products from these vendors could reduce
product rehability and harm our reputation

. If we farl to achieve fuvorable pricing from owr vendors our profitabihity could be adversely affected

Qur profitabality 1s affected by our ability to achieve favorable pacing from our vendors and contract manufacturers, including through negotiations for
vendor rebates, marketing funds, and other vendor funding received in the normal course of business Because these supplier negotiations are continuous and
reflect the ongoang competitive environment, the variability in tming and amount of incremental vendor discounts and rebates can affect our profitabihty
These vendor programs may change penodically, potentially resulting 1n adverse profitability trends 1f we cannot adjust pricing or cost variables Our inabihty
1o establish a ¢ost and product advantage, or determine

14




Table of Contents

alternative means to deliver value to our customers may adversely affect our revenue and profitability
. Advei se global economic conditions and msiabiditv i financial markets may harm our husiness and result in 1educed net revenue and profitabduy

As a global company with customers in virtually every business and industry, our performance depends significanily on global economic conditions Adverse
economic conditions may negatively affect customer demand for our products and services and result in postponed or decreased spending amid customer
concemns over unemployment reduced asset values, volatile energy costs geopolitical 1ssues, the availability and cost of credit, and the stabihity and solvency
of financial institutions, financial markets, businesses, local and state govemments, and sovereign nations Weak global economic conditions also could harm
our business by contributing to potential product shorlages or delays, insolvency of key suppliers, potential customer and counterparty insolvencies and
mereased challenges in conducting our treasury operations All of these possible effects of weak global econemic conditions could negatively impacit our net
revenue and profitability

The European sovereign debt cnsis has negatively affected the financial markets in Europe These conditions have resulted in reduced consumer and business
confidence and spending 1n many countnes in Europe, where we denived a significant portion of our consolidated net revenue for Fiscal 2012 A continuation
or worsening of the European sovereign debt cnisis will likely have a negative effect on our European operations, as well as on the businesses of our European
customers, suppliers, and pariners Any of these conditions could harm our overall business and operating results

- We may not successfully execute our growth strategy of we fail to manage effectively the change mvolved in implementing our st ategic iutiatives

Our growth strategy involves reaching more customers through new distnbution channels expanding our relationships with resellers, and augmenung select
areas of our business through targeted acquisitions and other commercial arrangements As we reach more customers through new distnbution channels and
expanded reseller relationships we may fanl to manage 1 an effective manner the increasingly difficult tasks of inventory management and demand
forecasting Our ability to accomplish the goals of our growth strategy depends on our success in transitioning our sales capabilities 1n accordance with our
strategy, adding to the breadth of our higher margin offerings through selective acquisitions of other businesses and managing the effects of these strategic
imbatives 1f we are unable to meet these challenges, our results of operations could be unfavorably affected

. We muv not successfully implement our acquisition strategy

We acquire companies as a part of our growth strategy These acquisibions may involve signuficant new risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our
profitability or operations including distraction of management attention from a focus on our current business operations, insufficient new revenue to offset
expenses, inadequate return of capital, mtegration challenges, retention of employees of acquired businesses, new regulatory requirements, and habiliies and
other exposures not discovered tn our due diligence process Further, our acquisitions may negatively impact our relatonships with strategic partners if these
acquisitions are seen as bringing us mdo competition with such partners In addition, if we make changes in our business strategy or 1f external conditions
adversely affect our business operations, we may be required to record an impairment charge to goodwill or intangible assets

. If our cost efficiency measures are not successfil we may become less competitive

We conlinue to focus on minimizing our operating expenses through cost improvements and simphifying our structure However, certain factors may prevent
the achievement of these goals, which may i turn negatively affect our competitive position For example, we may expenence delays or unanticipated costs
i implementing our cost efficiency plans As a result, we may not achieve our expected cost efficlencies m the tme or to the extent anticipated

. Our ability to manage solutions product and services transttions in an effective manner could reduce the demand for our selutions producis
and services und the profitability of ow operations

Continuing improvements in technology result in frequent new solutions product, and services introductions, short product hife cycles, and improvements 1n
product performance charactenstics [f we cannot manage 1n an effective manner the transition to new sotutions offerings and these offenngs’ new products
and services, customer demand for our solutions, products and services could diminish and our profitability could suffer We are increasingly sourcing
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new products and transitioning existing products through our contract manufacturers and manufaciuring outsourcing relationships 1n order to generate cost
efficiencies, deliver products faster, and better serve our customers The success of product transiions depends on a number of factors that include the
availability of sufficient quantifies of components at attractive costs In addiion, product transitions present execution challenges and risks ncluding the risk
that new or upgraded products may have quality 1ssues or other defects

. We may lose cusiomers and experience dimmmshed profitabiliy i we fail to deliver products and services of consistent qualuy

In setling our extensive line of products and services, many of which include third-party components, we must identify and address any quality 1ssues
associated with our offenings Although quality testing 1s performed regularly to detect any quahity problems and implement required solutions, our farlure to
dentify and correct sigmiicant product quality 1ssues before sale could result in lower sates increased warranty or replacement expenses, and reduced
customer confidence that could harm our operating results

. Owr ability 10 generate substannial non-U S net revenue 1s subject to additonal risks and wuncertainties

Sales outside the U $ accounted for approxumately 51% of our consolidated net revenue for Fiscal 2012 Our future growth rates and success are substantially
dependent on the continued growth of our business outside the U S Our intemational operations face many risks and uncertainties, including vaned local
economic and labor conditions, political instability, changes in the U S and international regulatory environments, trade protection measures, tax laws
(including U S taxes on toreign operations), copyright levies, and foreign currency exchange rates Any of these factors could adversely affect our operattons
and profitabihty

. Our profitability may be adversely affected by our product customer and geographic sales muix and by seasonal sales rrends

Our overall profitability for any particular penod may be adversely affected by changes in the mux of products, customers, and geographic markets reflected in
our sales for that period, as well as by seasonal trends Qur profit margins vary among products, services, customers, and gecographic markets For instance,
our services offerings generally have a4 hugher profit margin than our consumer products In addition, parts of our business are subject to seasonal sales trends
Among the trends with the most sigmficant impact on our operating results, sales to government customers (parucularly the U S federal government) are
typically stronger 1n our third fiscal quarter sales in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa ("EMEA") are often weaker 1n our third fiscal quarter, and consumer
sales are typically strongest dunng our fourth fiscal quarter

. We may lose revenue opportunities and expertence gross margin pressure if our sales channel participants fail to perform as we expect

In recent years, we have added third-party distributors retailers systems tegrators, value-added resellers, and other sales channels to complement our direct
sales organization so that we can reach even more end-users around the world Our future operating results increasingly will depend on the performance of our
sales channel participants and on our success in masntaining and developing our relationships with those sales channels Our revenue and gross margins could
be negahvely affected 1f the financial condition or operations of our channel participants weaken as a result of adverse economic conditions or other business
challenges, or 1f uncertainty regarding the demand for our products causes our channe! participants to reduce their orders for our products Further, some
channel participants may consider the expansion of our direct sales imtiatives to conflict with their business inlerests as distributors or resellers of our
products, which could lead them to reduce their investment 1n the distnibution and sale of our products, or to cease all sales of our products

. Our financial performance could syffer from any reduced access to the capital markets by us or some of our customers

We are increasingly dependent on access to debt and captial sources to provide financing for our customers and 1o obtam funds mn the U S for general
corporate purposes, including working capital, acquisitions, capital expenditures, funding of customer receivables, and share repurchases In addition, we have
customer {inancing relationships with some companies that rely on access to the debt and capital markets to meet sigmficant funding needs Any mability of
these compantes to access such markets could compel us to self-fund transactions with them or forgo customer financing opportumities, potentially harming
our financial performance The debt and capital markets may expenience
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extreme volatility and disruption from time to time 1n the future which could result in ligher credut spreads in such markets and higher funding costs for us
Detenoration in our business performance, a credit rating downgrade, volatihty 1n the secuntization markets changes in financial services regulation, or
adverse changes 1n the economy could lead to reductions in debt availability and could limit our abthity to continue asset secunitizations or other financings
from debt or capital sources, reduce the amount of financing receivables that we originate, or negatively affect the costs or terms on which we may be able to
abtain capital Any of these developments could unfavorably affect our net revenue, profitability, and cash flows

Developments in the European Union could have significant repercussions for the U S and international debt and capital markets The current
macroeconomic chmate and related disruption of the financial markets have led to concerns over the solvency of certain European Union member states and
of financial institutions that have significant direct or indirect exposure to debt 1ssued by those countries Cenain of the major credit rating agencies have
downgraded the sovereign debt of some of the European Union member states The ratungs downgrades and uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of the
European Union and pnvate sector actions to address such negauve developments have increased concems that other European Union member states could
expenence stmilar financial troubles

. Weak economuc condittons and additional regulanion could harm our financial services aenvities

Our financial services activities are negatively affected by an adverse economic environment through related loan delinquencies and defaults Although loan
delinquencies and defaults have improved from higher levels in recent penods, an increase 1n defaults would result in greater net credit losses, which may
require us to Increase our reserves for customer recervables in the future In addition, the implementation of new financial services regulation or the
application of existing financial services regulation in new countnes where we expand our financial services activitics and related supporting activities, could
unfavorably 1mpact the profitability and cash flows of our consumer financing activiies

. We are subject to counterpariy default risks

We have numerous arrangements with financial institutions that include cash and investment depostits, interest rate swap contracts, forcign currency option
contracts, and forward contracts As a result we are subject to the risk that the counterparty 1o one or more of these arrangements will default, either
voluntanly or involuntanly, on 1ts performance under the terms of the arrangement In umes of market distress, a counterparty may default rapidly and
without notice to us, and we may be unable to take action to cover our exposure, etther because we lack the contractual ability or because market conditions
make 1t difficult to 1ake effective action If one of our counterparties becomes tnsolvent or files for bankmuptey, our ability eventualiy to recover any losses
suffered as a result of that counterparty's default may be hmited by the iquidity of the counterparty or the applicable legal regime goverming the bankniptey
proceeding In the event of such default, we could 1ncur sigmificant losses, which could harm our business and negatively impact our results of operations and
financial condition

. The exercise by customers of certain rights under ow services contracts or ow failure to perform as we anficipate af the timg we enter Services
- coniracts, could adversely affect our revenue and profitabilty

Many of our services contracts allow the customer to take the following actions that may adversely affect our revenue and profitability

. Terminate the contract 1f our performance does not meet specified service levels

. Look to a benchmarker's opinion of market rates in order to request a rate reduction or altematively terminate the contract
. Reduce the customer's use of our services and, as a result, reduce our fees

. Terminate the contract early upon payment of an agreed fee

In addition we estimate our costs to dehiver the services at the outset of the contract [f we fail to estumate accurately, our actual costs may significantly
exceed our estumales, even for a time and materals contract and we may ncur losses on the services contracts

. Loss of government contracts could harm our business

Contracts with the U S federal, state, and local governments and foreign governments are subject to future funding that may affect the extension or
terminatien of programs and are subject to the nght of governments to termmate for
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convemence or non-appropriatton [n addition 1f we violate legal or regulatory requirements, the applicable government could suspend or disbar us as a
contractor, which would unfavorably affect our net revenue and profitability

. Qur business could suffer if we do not develop and protect our own mtellectual propertv or do not obtamn or protect licenses lo intellectual property
developed by others on commer ciallv reasonable and competitive terms

If we or our suppliers are unable to develop or protect desirable technology or technology licenses, we may be prevented from marketing products, could be
forced to market products without desirable features or could incur substanuial costs to redesign products, defend or enforce legal actions, or pay damages
Although our suppliers might be contractually obhigated to obtain or protect such licenses and indemmify us against related expenses, those supphers could be
unable to meet their obligations Simlarly, we 1nvest 1in research and development and obtaimn additional intellectual property through acquisinons but these
activities do not guarantee that we will develop or obtain intellectual property necessary for profitable operations Costs involved 1n developing and protecung
rights i mntellectual property may have a negative tmpact on our business In addition, our operating costs could mcrease because of copyright levies or
simalar fees by nights holders and collection agencies 1n European and other countnies

. Infrastructure disruptions couled hurm our business

We depend on our information technology and manufactunng infrastructure to achieve our busingss objectives A disruption ot our infrastructure could be
caused by a natural disaster manufacturing failure, telecommunications system failure, or defective or improperly nstilled new or upgraded business
management systems Portions of our IT infrastructure also may expenence interruptions, delays, or cessations of service or produce ermors in connection with
systems inlegration or migration work that takes place from tume to time In the event of any such disruption, we may be unable to receive or process orders,
manufacture and ship products m a umely manner or otherwise conduct our business in the normal course Moreover, portions of our services business
nvolve the processing, storage and transtmssion of data, which would also be negatively aftected by such an event A disruption of our infrastructure could
cause us to lose customers and revenue partcularly during a penod of heavy demand for our products and services We also could incur significant expense
in repainng system damage and taking other remedial measures

. We could suffer a loss of revenue and increased casts exposwre to significant hability reputational havm and other sertous negative consequences
if we sustamn cvber aitacks or other data security breaches that disrupt eur operations or result 1n the dissemination of proprietary or confidential
mformation about us or our customers or other third-parnes

We manage and store vanous proprietary information and sensitive or confidential data relating to our operations In addition, our outsourcing services and
cloud computing bustnesses routinely process store, and transmit targe amounts of data for our customers, including sensitive and personaltly 1dentifiable
information We may be subject to breaches of the information technology systems we use for these purposes Expenenced computer programmers and
hackers may be able to penetrate our neswork secunty and misappropriate or compromise our confidential informauon or that of third-parties, create system
disruptions, or cause shutdowns Computer programmers and hackers also may be able to develop and deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious software
programs that atiack our products or otherwise exploit any secunity vulnerabihities of our products [n addition, sophisticated hardware and operating system
software and applications that we produce or procure from third-parties may contain defects 1n design or manufacture, including "bugs” and other problems
that could unexpectedly mnterfere with the operation of the system

The costs (0 us to eliminate or address the foregoing security problems and secunty vulnerabilities before or after a cyber incident could be significant Qur
remediation efforts may not be successful and could result m interrupuions, delays, or cessation of service, and loss of existing or potential customers that may
impede our sales, manufacturing, distnbution, or other entical functions We could lose existing or potentral customers for outsourcing services or other
information technology solutions 1n connection with any actual or perceived secunty vulnerabilities in our products In addition, breaches of our secunty
measures and the unapproved dissemination of propnietary information or sensitive or confidential data about us or our customers or other third-parties, could
expose us, our custemers or other third-parties aftected to a nsk of loss or misuse of this information, result in itigation and potential Lhiability for us, damage
our brand and reputation, or otherwise harm our business in addition, we rely in certain limited capacities on third-party data management providers whose
possible secunty problems and secunty vulnerabihties may have simular effects on us

We are subject 10 taws, rules, and regulations in the U S and other countries relating to the collection, use, and
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secunty of user data Our ability to execute transacttons and to possess and use personal information and dala in conducting our business subjects us to
legislative and regulatory burdens thal may require us to notify customers or employees of a data security breach 'We have incurred, and will continue to
mncur, signtficant expenses to comply with mandatory pnvacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, regulation, mdustry standards, or
contractual oblhigations

. Cur performance could be adversely affected by our failure to hedge effectively our exposwre 1o fluctuations i foreign currency exchange rates
and 1nferest rates

We utihze denvatve instruments to hedge our exposure to fluctuations 1n foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates Some of these instruments and
contracts may involve elements of market and credit nsk 1n excess of the amounts recogmzed 1n our financial statements I we are not successful in
meonitoring our foreign exchange exposures and conducting an eflective hedging program, our foreign currency hedging activities may not offset the impact of
fluctuations in currency exchange rates on our future results of operations and financial position

. The exprration of tax kolidavs or fanor able tax rate structures or unfavorable outcomes in tax auduts and other tax comphance matters could
result in an incredse m our curenl lax expense ar o gffective income tax rate 1 the future

Portions of our operations are subject 10 a reduced tax rate or are free of tax under varous tax holidays that expire in whole or in part from time to me Many
of hese holidays may be extended when certain conditions are met, or termunated 1f certain conditions are not met if the tax holidays are not extended, or 1f
we fail to sausfy the conditions of the reduced tax rate, then our effective tax rate would 1ncrease in the future Our effective lax rate could also increase 1 our
geographic sales mix changes We are under audit in vanous tax junsdictions An unfavorable outcome 1n cenain of these matters could result i a substanual
ncrease to our tax expense In addition, changes in tax laws (including U S taxes on foreign operations) could adversely affect our operations and
profitability

. Qur profitabiliny could suffer from anv imparment of our porifolio investments

We invest a significant portion of our available funds in a portfohio consisting prumanly of debt secunities of various types and matunities pending the
deployment of these funds 1n our business Qur earmings performance could suffer from any impairment of our investments Our portfolio secunties generally
are ¢lassified as available-for-sale and are recorded on our Consohidated Statements of Financial Position at fair value If any such investments experience
market price declines, we may recognmize in earmings the dechine 1n the fair market value of such investiments below their cost or carrying value when the
dechine 1s determuned to be other than temporary

. Unfaverable restlts of legal proceedings could harm our business and result in subsiannal costs

We are involved in vanous claims, suils, investigations and legal procecdings that anse from time to time 1n the ordinary course of our business, including
those described elsewhere 1n this report Additional legal claims or regulatory matters may anse 1n the future and could involve stockholder, consumer,
govermment regulatory and compliance, sntellectual property, antitrust, tax, and other 1ssues on a global basis Litigation 1s inherently unpredictable
Regardless of the ments of the (laims, hitigation may be both ime-consuming and disruptive to our business We could incur judgments or enter into
setilements of claims that could adversely affect our operating results or cash flows n a particular penod In addition, our business, operaing results, and
financial condition could be adversely affecled if any infringement or other intellectual property claim made against us by any third-party 1s successful, oraf
we fail to develop non-infringing technology or license the proprictary rights on commercially reasonable terms and conditions

. Our success depends on anr ability to atiract retain and motivate our key employees

We rely on key personnel, including our CFO and executive leadership team, to support anticipated continued rapid international growth and increasingly
complex product and services offerings 'We may not be able to attract, retain, and mouivate the key professional techmcal, marketing, and staff resources we
need

. We fuce 11sks relanng to anv mability to marntamn strong internal controls

1f management 1s not successful in mantatming a strong nternal control environment, investors could lose confidence 1n our reported financial information
This could lead to a decline m our stock price, imit our ability to access the
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.
caputal markets in the future and require us 1o incur additional costs 1o improve our nternal control systems and procedures
. Current or future environmental and safetv luws or other regulatory laws may harm our business

Our operations are subject 10 environmental and safety regulation 1 all of the areas 1n which we conduct business Our product design and procurement
operations must comply with new and future requirements relating to chmate change laws and regulations, matenals composition, sourcing, energy efficiency
and collection, recycling, treatment, transportation and disposal of our electromics products, including restrictions on mercury lead, cadmium, lithium metal,
lithaum 10n, and other substances If we fail 1o comply with applicable rules and regulations regarding the transportation, source, use, and sale of such
regulated substances, we could be subject to liability The costs and timing of costs under environmental and safety taws are difficult to predict but could
have an unfavorable impact on our business

in addition, we are subject 1o provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act intended to improve transparency and
accountability concerning the supply of minerals originating from the conflict zones of the Democratic Republic of Congo or adjoining countrics We will
incur costs to comply with the new disclosure requirements of this law and may realize other costs relating to the sourcing and availability of minerals used in
our products Further, since our supply chain s complex, we may face reputational harm 1f our customers or other stakeholders conclude that we are unable to
venfy sufficiently the orygins of the minerals used n the products we, sell

. Armed hostilities terrorism natural disasters, or public health issues could harm our buviness

Armed hostilities, terronsm  natural disasters, or public health 1ssues whether m the U S or abroad, could cause damage or disruption to us, our suppliers, or

our customers, or could create political or economic instability, any of which could harm our business These events could cause a decrease in demand for our
products, could make 1t difficult or impossible for us to dehiver products or for our suppliers to deliver components, and could create delays and wnefficiencies

1 our supply chamn

The carthquake and tsunam in Japan and severe flooding 1n Thatland which occurred dunng Fiscal 2012 caused damage to infrastructure and factories that
disrupted the supply chain for a variety of components used 1n our products In particular, the flooding 1n Thailand resulted 1n a sigmficant shortage in the
supply of hard disk drives that has adversely affected our operations  1f we are unsuccessful 1n our continuing efforts to minimize the 1mpact of these events
on our customers and operations our business and financial resulis could suffer

ITEM 1B — UNRESOLVLD STAFF COMMENTS

None
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11EM 2 — PROPERTIES

At February 3, 2012, we owned or leased 2 total of approximately 18 9 million square feet of office, manufacturing, and warehouse space worldwide,
approximately 8 5 million square feet of which 15 located in the US We owned approximately 58% of this space and leased the remainmg 42% Included in
these amounts are approximately 1 6 milhion square feet thal 1s either vacant or sublet

Our principal executive offices meluding global headquarters, are located at One Dell Way, Round Rock Texas Our business centers, which include
facihities that contain operations for sales, techmical support, admimstrative, and support functions, occupy 12 7 mullion square feet of space, of which we own
46% We own 2 6 million square feet of manufacturing space In addition, our research and development centers are housed in 2 0 million square feet of
space, of which we own 53%

During Fiscal 2012 we opened a research and development center i Santa Clara, Cahiforma as well as a data center in Washington At February 3, 2012, a
business center in Goimbatore, India was under construction We believe that our existing properties are suitable and adequate for our current needs and that
we can readily meet our requirements for additional space a1 competitive rates by extending expining leases or by finding alternative space

As discussed 1n ‘Part | — Item | — Business " we have four operating segments identified as Large Enterprise, Public, SMB and Consumer Because of the

interrelation of the products and services offered in each of these segments, we do not designate our properlies Lo any segment All four segments use
substanually all of the properties at least in part, and we retain the flexibility to make future use of each of the properties available to each of the segments

ITEM 3 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this Item 3 1s incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth under the caption ‘Legal Matters” 1n Note 10 of Notes
1o Consolidated Financial Statements included in “Part [ — ltem 8§ — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ™

ITEM 4 — MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PARTTI

ITEM 5§ — MARKET FOR REGIS 1 RANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED S10OCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASLES OF
EQUITY SECURITILS

Market for Common Stock

Our common stock 1s hsted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market of The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC under the symbol DELL Information regarding the
high and low sales prices per share of our common stock for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011, as reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market 15 set forth
below

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Stock sales pnce per share for the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012
High $ 1598 §$ 1760 % 1665 % 17 88
Low $ 1299 § 1534 % 1329 % 1415
Stock sales price per share for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2011
High $ 1752 § 1646 & 1489 3§ 1470
Low 3 1292 § 17z 3 113 3 13 06
Holders

At March 7, 2012 there were 28,041 ho Iders of record of Dell common stock

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on shares of our common stock and currently do not anticipate paying any cash dividends 1n the
immediate future Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors
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Purchases of Common Stock

We have a share repurchase program that authorizes us 1o purchase shares of common stock in order to increase sharcholder value and manage dilution
resulting from shares issued under our equity compensatien plans However, we do not currently have a policy that requires the repurchase of common stock
i conjunction with share-based payment arrangements The following table sets forth information regarding our repurchases or acquisitions of common stock
dunng the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2012 and the remaining authorized amount of future purchases under our share repurchase program

Pertod

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Weighted Average Price Total Number of Shares
Paid per Share
Announced Plans or

Programs

Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that
Purchased as Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans
or Programs

Repurchases from
Oclober 29 2011
through November
25,2011
Repurchases (rom
November 26, 2011
through December
30,2011
Repurchases from
December 31, 201t
through February 3
2012

Total

(8} Bopwcen 1996 and 2007 our Board of Directors authorized sharg repurchase programs to repurchase up to $40 bllion of our common stock over an unspecified amount of tme On
September 13 2011 we announced that our Board of Dircctors had authorized an edditonal $5 bullion tor share repurchascs under the program bninging the aggregate amount of common
stock we can repurchasc to $45 billion over an unspecified emount of time As of February 3 2012 $6 0 bilhon remarmed available for future share repurchases

36

(in mulions, except average price paid per share)

1478 11 5
3 1529 15 3
$ 16 50 10 5
$ 1545 36

23
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative tofal return on Dell's common stock dunng the last five fiscal years with the S&P 500 Index, the Dow Jones US
Computer Hardware Index, and the S&P Informaton Technology Index during the same penod During Fiscal 2012, we transitioned from using the Dow
Jones US Computer Hardware Index as our published industry index to the S&P Information Technology Index We believe the S&P information Technology
Index 15 more representative of Dell's peer group of companies and the industry 1n which Dell operates

The graph shows the value, at the end of each of the last five fiscal years, of $100 invested in Dell common stock or the indices on February 2, 2007, and

assumes the reinvestment of all dividends The graph depicts the change 1n the value of our common stock relative to the indices at the end of each fiscal year
and not for any intenm penod Historical stock price performance 1s not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
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ITEM 6 — SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data for our company should be read 1n conjunction with *Part 11 — Item 7 — Management s Discussion and
Analysts of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and Part Il — Item 8 —— Financial Statements and Supplementary Data™ and are derived from our
audited consolidated firancial statements included in Part 11 — [tem 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Daia™ or n our previously tiled Annual
Reports on Form 10-K

Fiseal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29, January 30, February 1,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

(1n millions, except per share data)

Results of Operations

Net revenue $ 62,071 b 61 494 $ 52,902 3 61,101 5 61,133
Gross margin $ 13,811 5 11,396 % 9,261 3 10,957 3 11.671
Operating income $ 4431 $ 3,433 $ 21723 3190 % 3,440
[ncome before income taxes % 4,240 b 3,350 s 2024 § 3,324 b 3 827
Net income $ 3,492 s 2 635 $ 1,433 3 2,478 s 2,947
Earmings per share

Basic $ 190 $ 136 % 073 % 125§ 133

Diluted $ 188 A 135 b1 073 g 125 3 1 3|‘
Number of weighted-average shares outstanding

Basic 1 838 1,944 1,954 1,980 2,223

Diluted 1,853 1,955 1,962 1,986 2,247
Cash Flow & Balance Sheet Data
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5527 5 3,969 5 3906 § 1,894 $ 3,949
Cash, cash equivalents and investments 5 18,222 $ 15,069 $ 1,789 8 9,546 3 9,532
Total assets $ 44,533 $ 38599 0§ 33652 S 26,500 % 27.561
Short-term borrowings $ 2,867 3 851 s 663 8 113 $ 225
Long-term debt $ 6,387 $ 5,146 3 3417 § 1,898 $ 362
Total stockholders” equity $ 8917 $ 7,766 $ 5,641 $ 4,271 s 3,735
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[TEM 7 — MANAGEMENT’S BDISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Thes section should be read in cornyunction with *Part il — Item § — Fu 1al Stat ty and Suppi v Data.™

INTRODUCTION

We are a leading integrated lechnology solutions provider 1n the 1T industry We built our reputation through listemng to customers and developing solutions
that meet customer needs We are focused on providing long-term value creation through the delivery of customized solutions that make technology more
effictent, more accessible and easter 1o manage Our four customer-centric global business segments are Large Enterpnise, Public, Small and Medium
Business, and Consumer We also refer to our Large Enterprise, Public and SMB segments as “Commercial ”

A key component of our business strategy 1s to continue shifting our portfolic to products and services that provide higher-value and recumng revenue |
streams over ime  As part of this strategy, we emphasize expanston of our enterprise solutions and services which include servers networking storage, and ‘
services We believe the most attractive areas for profitable growth include data center and information management as well as client and cloud computing

Some of our most altractive growth opportunities for technology expansion are 1n emergimg countrics which include a vast majority of the world's population

In recent years we have focused much of our investment in Growth Countries, with a particular focus on BRIC Growth Countries now account for a

significant portion of our revenue and revenue from BRIC has continued to increase each year

Qur strategic transformation has contnbuted to significant improvements 1n our operating margins We have directed our client product development efforts
towards streamlining our product portfelio and focusing on product leadershup by developtng next generation capabiliies We employ a collaborative
approach to product design and development in which our engineers, with direct customer input design innovative solutions and work with a global network
of technology companies to archutect new system designs, influence the direction of future development, and integrate new technologies into our products
Through this collaborative, customer-focused approach, we stnve to deliver new and relevant products and services to the market quickly and efficiently We
continue to invest in the enhancement of our sales and marketing functions Over time, we have added new distribution channels, such as retail system
integrators, value-added resellers, and distnbutors, to expand our access to more end-users around the world

We supplement orgame growth with a disciplined acquisition program targeting businesses that will expand our portfolio of igher-margin enterprise
soluuons offerings We emphasize acquisitions of compames with portfolios that we can leverage with our global customer base and distnbution Since the
beginning of Fiscal 201 1, we acquired more than ten busmesses that extended our core capabihties 1n a vanety of enterprise solutions offerings including
slorage, networking, systems management apphance, virtualized server and data center solutions, and software-as-a-service application integration, as well as
enabled expansion of our customer financing activities The comparabihity of our results of operations for Fiscal 2012, as compared to Fiscal 2011 15 affected
by our Fiscal 2012 acquisitions though the impact 1s not material Our Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011 results of operations, as compared to Fiscal 2010, are
impacted by our acquisition of Perot Systems Corporation ("Perot Systems™) m November of 2009 See our Services discussion under "Results of Cperations
— Revenue of Operations — Revenue by Product and Services Categones” for more information about our acquisiion of Perot Systems

The successful execution of our business strategy 1s subject to a vanety of risks and uncertainties, inctuding those discussed 1n ‘Part [ - llem 1A - Risk
Factors ”

Fiscal Year Periods

Our fiscal year 1s the 52 or 53 week penod ending on the Friday nearest January 31 Fiscal 2012 was a 53 week pertod that ended on February 3, 2012, while
Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010 were 52 week penods that ended on January 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010, respectively
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Presentation of Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In this management's discussion and analysis, we use supplemental measures of our performance, which are denved from our consolidated financial
informanon but which are not presented in our consolidated financial statements prepared i accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United Siates of America { GAAP™) These financial measures, which are considered non-GAAP financial measures’ under SEC rules, include our non-
GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP operating expenses, non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP earnings per share Sec “Resulis
of Operations — Non-GAAP Financial Measures® below for informauon about our use of these non-GAAP financial measures, including our reasons for
including the measures, malenal hmitanons with respect to the usefulness of the measures, and a reconciliatuon of each non-GAAP financial measure to the
most directly comparable GAAP financial measure
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Consolidated Operations

The following table summanzes our consolidated results of operations for each of the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Year Ended

Februarv 3, 2012 January 28, 2011 January 29, 2010
Dollars % of Ya Doltars %% of % Dollars % of
Revenue Change Revenue Change Revenue

(in rmlhons except per share amounts and percentages)

Net revenue

Product § 49906 80 4%% —% 3 50,002 81 3% 14% $ 43,697 82 6%
Services, including software related 12,165 19 6% 6% 11,492 18 7% 25% 9,205 17 4%
Taotal net revenue $ 62071 100 0% 1% $ 61,494 100 0% 16% $ 32,902 100 0%
Gross margin
Product § 10217 20 5% 209% $ 7,934 i5 9% 29% $ 6,163 14 1%
Services, including software related 3,594 29 5% 4% 3,462 30 1% 12% 3,098 337%
Total gross margin . $ 13,811 22 3% 21% $ 11,3906 18 5% 23% $ 9,261 17 5%
Operating expenses $ 9,380 152% 18% $ 7983 12 9% 12% 3 7,089 13 4%
Operating income ’ $ 4431 71% 29% § 3,433 S56%  58% % 2172 41%
Net income $ 3,492 56% 33% § 2,635 43% 84% $ 1,433 27%
Earnings per share — diluted ) 188 N/A 39% $ 135 N/A 85% 5 073 N/A
Other Financial Information @
Non-GAAP gross margin § 14,165 22 8% 21% 311,731 19 1% 22% 5 9,649 18 2%
Non-GAAP operating expenses $ 9,030 14 5% 15% $  7.582 12 3% 14% $ 6,675 12 6%
Non-GAAP operating income $ 5,135 8 3% 24% $ 4,149 6 7% 40% 3 2,974 5 6%
Non-GAAP net income § 3952 6 4% 27% 3 3,106 5 1% 51% 3 2,054 39%
Non-GAAP earmings per share - diluted g 213 N/A 34% $ I 39 N/A 51% $ 105 N/A

{4 Non GAAP gross margin non-GAAP opcrating expenses non-GAAP operating income non-GAAP netincome and non-GAAF carmings per sharc are not measurements of financial
performance propared in accordance with GAAP Sec Non-GAAP Financial Measures  below for mformatien about these non-GAAP financial measurcs, including our reasons for
including the medsures matenal hmitations with respect to the usefuiness of the measures and 4 reconcthation of cach non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable
GAAP financial measure

Overview

Our Fiscal 2012 total net revenue mcreased 1% from the prior year Qur fiscal calendar for Fiscal 2012 mcluded an extra week of operations Without the
additional week of operations, our total net revenue would have been essentially unchanged from the prior year Revenue from our SMB and Large Enterprise
segments increased over the prior year while our Consumer and Public segments expenenced a decrease in revenue from the prior year Revenue from our
Consumer customers decreased 4%, year-over-year, during Fiscal 2012, pnimarily due to a decline from our U S business In addition, revenue growth in the
Consumer business was adversely affected as we focused our product portfolio on higher-value offerings Revenue from our Public segment decreased 2%
year-over-year as our Public customers have been challenged by budgetary constramnts on govemment spending, particularly in Western Europe and the U 8
Revenue from our Commercial segments overall increased 2% year-over-year, and represented approximately 81% of our total net revenue during Fiscal

2012 Revenue from our enterprise solutions and services increased 6%, led by growth in our SMB segment, while revenue from our client products decreased
1% Durnng Fiscal 2012, revenue from outside the U S 1ncreased to $31 7 billion, surpassing 50% of our total net revenue The increase in revenue from
outside the U S was primarily driven by higher revenue in the Asia Pacific and Japan region ("APJ™), which grew 13% year-over-year
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During Fiscal 2012 our consolidated operating income as a percentage of net revenue increased 150 basis points to 7 1% The tncrease 1n operating income
percenlage was pnmarnty dnven by improved product gross margins the effect of which was partially offset by higher selling general, and administrative
expenses, and to a lesser extent, an increase in research, development, and engineenng expenditures Operaung income as a percentage of nel revenue rom
our Commercial segments increased 130 basis pounts to 10 3% year-over-year during Fiscal 2012, while our Consumer operating income percentage increased
220 basis points to 2 7%

Our improved profitability for Fiscal 2012 was n part due to growth in our enterpnse solutions and services business For Fiscal 2012 enterpnse solutions
and services revenue grew 6% year-aver-year to $18 6 billion, while gross margins generated from this category grew 10% year-over-year We also
substantially improved the profitability of our chent product business in Fiscal 2012 by simplifying our product offerings, continuing ¢ optimize our supply
chain, and shifirng our revenue nmux to higher-value products We will retmaim focused on growing our revenue and profitability by continuing our efforts to
provide IT soluttons to our customers in arcas such as enterprise solutions and services In addition, we will continue to utilize our flexible supply cham to
enhance the profitability of our chent products

As of February 3, 2012 we had $18 2 billion of total cash cash equivalents, and mvestments, compared to $15 1 billion as of January 28, 2011 Durnng Fiscal
2012 we contimued to maintain an efficient cash conversion cycle as well as strong cash and mvestment positions  Cash fiow from operations was 35 5
bilhon, $ 4 0 billion and 83 9 bilhon duning Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, respecuively As of February 3, 2012, we had $9 3 bilhion 1n total debt,
compared to $6 0 billion in total debt as of January 28, 2011

In the thnrd quarter of Fiscal 2012, several regions of Thailand experienced severe flooding, causing damage to infrastructure and factories that have
sigmificantly impacted the hard disk drive ("HDD") supply chain Although we were effective in shaping demand and pnicing for hard drive cost increases in
the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2012, we were impacted by the avaitable mux of hard drives, winch affected the product configuration mix we were able to sell
We prionitized high end-dnives to our strategic customers, which reduced profitability 1n our Consumer segment Durnng the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2012, we
entered into purchase commitments with certain HDD suppliers to ensure continunty of supply for these components We expect the impact of the HDD
situation to 1mprove as we move through Fiscal 2013 See "Liquidity, Capital Commutments, and Contractual Cash Obligations — Conitractual Cash
Obhgations" for more information about our purchase commitments

We beleve that we will continue to profitably grow revenue 1n the long- term through the expansion of our enterprise solutions, services, and product
offerings We will balance revenue growth with the objective of enhancing operating income and cash flow We expect that total revenue growth 1n the first
half of Fiscal 2013 will be challenging, given the existing weakness 1n our Public segment as wetl as the uncertain macroeconomic environment

Revenue

Frscal 2012 compared to Fiscal 2011

. Product Reveme — Product revenue for Fiscal 2012 was essentially unchanged from the prior year Product revenue increases in our Large Enterprise
and SMB segments were offset by decreases from our Public and Consumer segments The decline in product revenue from our Public segment was
driven by weakened demand, while the decrease in our Consumer segment revenue was largely attributable to lower average selling prices, partally
offset by an increase n sales of higher-value products

¢ Services Revenue, including software related — Services revenue, including software related, increased year-over-year by 6% for Fiscal 2012 Our
services revenue performance dunng Frscal 2012 was attnbutable to a 8% year-over-year increase in services revenue, excluding soflware related, and
an increase of 1% in software related revenue All of our Commerctal segments expenenced increases n services revenue while Consumer services
revenue decreased

At a regional level, revenuc from outside the U S increased 7% to $31 7 bilhion and represented 51% of total net revenue while revenue from the U S
decreased 5% to 530 4 bilhon Revenue from Growth Countries increased 12% overall year-over-year In paricular, revenue from BRIC increased 15% year-
over-year during Fiscal 2012 and represented 14 2% of our total net revenue for Fiscal 2012 compared to 12 3% for the prior year We are continuing to
expand wnito these and other emerging countries that represent the vast majority of the world's population tailor solutions to meet specific regional needs and
enhance relationships to provide customer choice and flexibility

We manage our business ona U S dollar basis and factor foreign currency exchange rate movements into our pricing decisions In addition, we utilize a
comprehensive hedging strategy intended to mitigate the impact of foreign currency volatlity over
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tume During Fiscal 2012, we experienced favorable changes in foreign currency exchange rates, though the impact of these currency movements was not
material to our results for the penod

Fiscal 2011 compared to Fiseal 2010

»  Product Revenne — Product revenue increased year-over-year by 14% for Fiscal 2011 Our product revenue performance was primanly attributable to
umproved customer demand as a result of increased global 1T spending from our Commercial customers across all product categories as well as a shift in
mux to higher priced praducts See "Revenue by Product and Services Categories™ for further intormation regarding the average selling pnces of our
products

. Services Revenue, including softw are related — Services revenue including software related ncreased year-over-year by 25% for Fiscal 2011 Our
services revenue performance was attnbutable to a 36% year-over-year increase mn services revenue, excluding software related, and an increase of 7% 1n
software related services revenue during Fiscal 2011 The increase i services revenue was primarily due to our acquisition of Perot Systems 1n the
fourth quarter of Fiscal 2010, which was integrated into our Public and Large Enterpnse segments

During Fiscal 2011, revenue from the U S increased 14% to $31 9 billion and represented 52% of total net revenue Revenue from outside the U 8 increased
19% to $29 6 billion Revenue from BRIC increased 38% year-over-year for Fiscal 2011 As a resull of our comprehensive hedging program, our results were
not matenally impacted by foreign currency exchange rates tn Fiscal 201 | or Fiscal 2010

Gross Margin

Fiscal 2012 compared to Fiveal 2011

. Products — Dunng Fiscal 2012, product gross margins increased in absolute dollars year-over-year and 1n gross margin percentage Product gross
margin percentage increased to 20 5% for Fiscal 2012 from 15 9% for Fiscal 2011 A shift away from lower-value business better supply chain
execution, a discipimed pricing strategy 1n a competiive environment, and favorable component cost conditions contributed to the year-over-year
increase 1n product gross margin percentage for all of our segments  We have created a flexible supply chain that has improved our supply chain
execution, and we have simplhified our product offerings

= Services, mcluding software related — Duning Fiscal 2012, our services gross margin ancreased n absolute doellars compared (o the prior fiscal year,
although our gross margin percentage decreased The decrease in gross margtn percentage for services ncluding software related was pnmanly dniven
by declines 1n gross margin percentages from our transactional and outsourcing services

Total gross margin for Fiscal 2012 increased 21% on both 2 GAAP and non-GAAP basis Total gross margin on a GAAP basis for Fiscal 2012 was $13 8
billion, compared to $14 2 billion on 2 non-GAAP basis Gross margin on a GAAP basis for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011 includes the effects of amortization
of intangible assets and of severance and facility action costs and acquisiion-related charges As set forth in the reconciliation under “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures" below, these items are excluded from the calculation of non-GAAP gross margin for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011 Amortization of mtangible assets
included 1n gross margin increased 10% to $305 mullion for Fiscat 2012 Severance and facility action costs and acquisition-related charges included n gross
margin decreased 14% to $49 miilion during Fiscal 2012 The overall decrease in severance and facility action costs and acquisition-related charges was
primanly due to a decrease in charges related to facility closures in Fiscal 2011, which was slightly offset by an increase m acquisition-related charges during
Fiscal 2012

Fuoseal 2011 compared to Fiscal 2810

. Products — Dunng Fiscal 2011, product gross margins increased 1n absolute dollars year-over-year and in gross margin percentage Product gross
margin percentage increased to 15 9% for Fiscal 2011 from 14 1% for Fiscal 2010 Reduced component costs, improved prnicing discipline, betier sales
and supply chain execution, and improved quahity resulting in favorable warranty expenence conlributed to the year-over-year incredse in product gross
margin percentage

« Services, including software related — Dunng Fiscal 2011 our services gross margin increased in absolute dollars compared to the prior fiscal year
although our gross margn percentage decreased The decrease 1n gross margin percentage for services, including software related, was pnmanly due toa
higher mix of outsourcing and project-related services

Total gross margin for Fiscal 2011 increased 23% 1o $11 4 bilhon on a GAAP basis and 22% to $11 7 illion on a non-GAAP basis from Fiscal 2010 Gross
margin on a GAAP basis for Fiseal 2011 and Fiscal 2010 includes the effects of amortzation of intangible assets and of severance and facility action costs
and acquisition-related charges As set forth in the reconciliation
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under "Non-GAAP Financial Mcasures® below, these 1terms are excluded from the calculation of non-GAAP gross margin for Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010
Amortizatien of intangible assets included in gross margin increased 84% to $278 mitlion for Fiscal 2011 The increase in amortization of intangibles for
Fiscal 2011 was pnmanly attributable to an increase in intangible assets of $1 2 billion 1n Fiscal 2010 related 1o our acquisiion of Perot Systems Severance
and faciluy action costs and acquisitton-related charges included 1n gross margin decreased 76% to $57 million during Fiscal 2011 The overall decrease in
severance and facility action costs and acquisition-related charges was due to a decrease 1n cost reduction actrvittes from Fiscal 2010

Vendor Rebate Programs

Qur gross margin 1s affected by our ability 10 achieve competitive pricing with our vendors and contract manufacturers, including through our negotiation of a
variety of vendor rebate programs to achieve lower net costs for the various components we include 1n our products Under these programs, vendors provide
us with rebates or other discounts from the list prices for the components, which are generally elements of their pncing strategy Vendor rebate programs are
only one element of the costs we negotiate for our product components We account for rebates and other discounts as a reduction 1n ¢ost of net revenue Our
total net cost includes suppher hist pnees reduced by vendor rebates and other discounts We manage out costs on a total net cost basis

The terms and conditions of our vendor rebate programs are largely based on product volumes and are generally not long-term 1n nature but instead are
typically negouiated at the beginmng of each quarter Because of the flurd nature of these ongoing negotiations, which reflect changes 1n the competitive
environment the timing and amount of rebates and other discounts we recerve under the programs may vary from period to penod Since we manage our
component cosis on a total net cost basis, any fluctuations 1n the tming and amount of rebates and other discounts we receive from vendors may not
necessanly result in matenal changes to our gross margin We monitor our component costs and seek to address the effects of any changes to terms that might
artse under our vendor rebate programs Our gross margins for Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010 were not materally affected by any changes to the
terms of cur vendor rebate programs, as the amounts we reccived under these programs were gencrally stable relative to our total net cost We are not aware
of any sigmficant programmatic changes to vendor pricing and rebate programs that will impact our results in the near term

In addition, we have pursued legal action against certain vendors and are currently involved in negotiations with other vendors regarding their past pncing
practices We have negotiated settiements with some of these vendors and may have additional settlements 1n future quarters  Bunng Fiscal 2012, negotiated
vendor settlements, including settlements related to past pricing practices, resulted in a net inerease to our Consalidated Gross Margin of approxamately $70
rmilhion These settlements are allocated to our segments based on the relanve amount of affected vendor products used by each segment
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Operating Expenses
The following table presents information regarding our operating expenses during each of the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011 January 29, 2010
Dollars % of %% Doliars %o of Yo Dollars % of
Revenue Change Revenue Change Revenue

(in mulhons except percentages)

Operating expenses

Selling, general, and admimistrative $ 8,524 13 7% 17% $ 7302 11 9% 13% $ 6,465 12 2%
Research, development, and engineenng 856 135% 30% 661 1 0% 6% 624 1 2%
Tetal operating expenses 3 9,380 15 2% 18% $ 7.963 12 9% 12% $ 7,089 13 4%

Other Financial Informanon
Non-GAAP operating expenses & $ 9,030 14 5% 19% $ 7.582 12 3% 14% $ 6.675 12 6%

(@ For a reconcihation of non-GAAP operting expenses (o operating expenscs prepared in accordance with GAAP, sce Non-GAAP Financial Mcasures  below

Fiscal 2012 compared to Fiscal 2011

«  Selling, General, and Admmistrative — Dunng Fiscal 2012, selling, general, and administrauve ("SG&A") expenses ncreased $1 2 billion year-over-
year The overall ligher level of SG&A was largely attributable to the continued execution of our strategic transformation Qur strategic mihatives
have entailed organic investments m enterprise solution selling capabilities and other infrastructure spending as well as investmenis 1n enterprise
and services-focused acquisitions, which generally have higher expense structures Dunng Fiscal 2012, compensatton-related expenses, excluding
severance-related expenses, increased appraximately 3967 mullion due to a 6% year-over-year ncrease 1n headcount, which was driven by our
organic and 1norganic investments We also expertenced a year-over-year merease of $175 mulhon i adverusing, promotional, and other selling-
relaled expenses In addition, igher SG&A expenses for Fiscal 2012 reflected increases i acquisition-related charges, which were offset in part by
decreases tn severance and facility action costs, discussed below

. Research, Development, and Engineering — Dunng Fiscal 2012, research, development, and engineering expenses were 1 5% of net revenue, compated
to 1 0% during the prior year We manage our research, development, and engineering spending by targeting those innovations and products that
we believe are most valuable to our customers and by relying upon the capabilities of our strategic relationships We are increasing our focus on
research and development and will continue to shifi our investment in RD&E activities to support our initiatives that grow our enterpnise solutions
and services offerings

Total operating expenses for Fiscal 2012 increased 18% to $9 4 billion on a GAAP basis and 19% to $9 O btllion on a non-GAAP basis over Fiscal 2011
Operating expenses on a GAAP basis for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 201 [ includes the effects of severance and facility action costs and acquisitron-related
charges and amortization of intangible assets These charges increased 45% to $350 million dunng Fiscal 2012 compared to Fiscal 2011, primarily due to an
increase 1 acquisition-related charges as a result of the larger acquisitions that were completed 1n Fiscal 2012 compared to Fiscal 2011 For Fiscal 2011,
operating expenses on a GAAP basis also included $140 mullion in settlements we 1ncurred related to an SEC mvestigation and a securities litigation matter
As set forth 1n the reconciliation under *Non-GA AP Fmancial Measures™ below, non-GAAP operating expenses for Fiscal 2012 and for Fiscal 2011 excludes
the effects of severance and facility action costs and acquisition related charges, amortization of intangible assets, and, for Fiscal 201 1, the settlements
referred to above

Fiscal 2011 compared to Fiscal 2010

*  Selling, General, and Admmistrative — Dunng Fiscal 2011, SG&A expenses increased year-over-year, while SG&A expenses as a percentage of net
revenue decreased The increase in SG&A expenses was primarily attributable to increases in compensation-related expenses and advertising and
promotional expenses Compensation-related expenses, excluding severance-related expenses, increased approximately $679 milbion due to an increase
n performance-based compensation expense, which 1s tied to revenue and operating income growth and cash flow targets, and an increase in headcount
Our
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headcount increased approximately 6% due to our acquisiions and new hires related to our strategic tnitlatives We also expenenced a year-over-year increasc
of $111 million in adverusing and promotional expenses These increases were offset in part by decreases 1n severance and facihty action costs and
acquesition-related charges, discussed below

+  Reseench, Development, and Engineering — During Fiscal 2011, research, development, and engineernng expenses remamed at approximately 1 0% of
revenue, consistent with the prior fiscal year

Total operating expenses for Fiscal 2011 increased 12% 1o $8 0 billion on a GAAP basis and 14% to $7 6 billion on a non-GAAP basis for Fiscal 2011 over
Fiscal 2010 Operating expenses on a GAAP basis for Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010 includes the effects of severance and facility action costs and acquisition-
related charges as well as amortization of intangible assets For Fiscal 201 1, operating expenses on a GAAP basss also includes $140 million 1n settlements we
incurred related to an SEC investigation and a securities liigation matter As set forth m the reconcihiation under ‘Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ below,
non-GAAP operating expenses for Fiscal 2011 and for Fiscal 2010 excludes the effects of severance and facility action costs and acquisition-related charges
amortzatien of mtangible assets, and for Fiscal 201 1, the settlements referred to abeve Severance and facihity action costs and acquisition-related charges
ncluded 1n operating expenses decreased year-over-year by 53% to 5170 milhion for Fiscal 20k 1 The decrease in severance and facility action costs and
acquisition-related charges was primanly due to a decrease in cost reduction activities from Fiscal 2010 Amortization of intangibles included 1n operating
expenses increased 31% to $71 mithon over Fiscal 2010 and was pnimanly related to our acquisition of Perot Systems in Fiscal 2010 as well as our Fiscal
2011 acquisitions

Operating and Net Income

Frveal 2012 compared to Frscal 2011

*  Operanng Income — Dunmg Fiscal 2012, operating income increased 29% to $4 4 billion on a GAAP basis and 24% to $5 1 biltion on a non-GAAP
basis over Fiscal 2011 The tncreases were primanly attributable to the improved gross margins discussed above, the effect of which was partially oftset
by an increase in selling and marketing costs

= Metjncome — Dunng Fiscal 2012, net income increased 33% to $3 5 billion on a GAAP basis and 279 to $4 0 billion on a non-GAAP basis over Fiscal
2011 Net income was posiively impacted by increases in operating income and a lower effective tax rate, offset in part by unfavorable changes in
Interest and other, net Interest and other, net for Fiscal 2011 was favorably impacted by our receipt of a $72 million merger termination fee This fec 1s
excluded from net income on a non-GAAP basis See [ncome and Other Taxes™ and “Interest and Other net™ below for a discusston of our effective tax
rates and Interest and other, net

Fiscal 2011 compared to Fiscal 2010

*  Qperanng Income — Dunng Fiscal 2011 operating income ncreased 58% to $3 4 billion on a GAAP basis and 40% 10 $4 1 billon on a non-GAAP
basis over Fiscal 2010 The increases were primarily attributable to increased revenue, improved gross margins and better operating leverage resulting
from the increase 1n net reverue

*  Netincome — Dunng Fiscal 2011, net income nereased 84% to $2 6 billion on a GAAP basis and 51% to $3 | billion on a non-GAAP basis over Fisca!
2010 Net income was positively impacted by increases in operating income and a lower cffective income tax rate In additon, on a GAAP basis, Interest
and other, net increased favorably by 44% for Fiscal 2011 due primarily to a $72 million merger termination fee that we received duning the third quarter
of Fiscal 2011 See “Income and Other Taxes * and ‘Interest and Other, net” below for discussion of our effective tax rates and Interest and other net
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use non-GAAP financial measures 1o supplement the financial information presented on a GAAP basis We believe that excluding certain items from our
GAAP results allows our management to better understand our consolidated financial performance from period to pertod and in relatonship to the operating
results of our segments, as management does not believe that the excluded items are reflective of our underlying operating performance We also believe that
excluding certain items from our GAAP results allows our management to better project our future consolidated financial performance because our forecasts
are developed at a level of detail different from that used to prepare GAAP-based financial measures Mareover, we believe these non-GAAP financial
measures will provide investors with useful information to help them evaluate our operating results by facilitating an enhanced understanding of our eperating
performance, and enabling them to make more meaningful pertod to penod comparisons

The non-GAAP financial measures presented n this report include non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP operating expenses, non-GAAP operating income
non-GAAP net income, and non-GAAP earnings per share These non-GAAP financial measures, as defined by us, represent the comparable GAAP measures
adjusted to exclude severance and facility action costs and acquisiion-related charges, amortizatton of purchased intangible assets related to acquisitions, the
settlements related to the SEC investigation and a secunities htigation matter, which were both incurred during the first quarter of Frscal 2011, and a merger
termunation fee, which we received during the third quarter of Fiscal 2011, and for non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP earmings per share the aggregate
adjustment for income taxes related to the exclusion of such itlems  We provide more detail below regarding each of these 1tems and our reasons for excluding
them In future fiscal penods, we may exciude such items and may incur income and expenses simlar to these excluded items Accordingly, the exclusion of
these 1tems and other sumular items 1n our non-GAAP presentation should not be interpreted as implying that these items are non-recurnng infrequent, or
unusual

There are imitations to the use of the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this report Our non-GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to

sumilarly titled measures of other companies Other compantes, mcluding companies in our industry, may calculate the non-GAAP financial measures

differently than we do, himiting the usefulness of those measures for comparative purpeses In addiuon, items such as amortization of purchased intangible

assets represent the loss 1n value of intangible assets over ime The expense assoctated with this loss (n value 1s not included n the non-GAAP financial

measures and such measures, therefore, do not reflect the full economic effect of such loss Further, 1tems such as severance and facility action costs and

acquisition-related charges that are excluded from the non-GAAP financial measures can have a matenal impact on earmings Our management compensates ‘
for the foregoing limitations by relying prnimarily on our GAAP results and using non-GAAP financial measures supplementally or for projections when |
comparable GAAP financial measures are not avallable The non-GAAP financial measures are not meant to be considered as indicators of performance 1n |
1solation from or as a substitute for gross margin operating expenses, operating mcome, net income, and earntngs per share prepared 1n accordance with

GAAP, and should be read only m conjunction with financial information presented on a GAAP basis We provide below reconeiliations of each non-GAAP

financial measure to its most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, and encourage you to review the reconciliations 1n conjunchion with the

presentation of the non-GAAP financial measures for each of the past three fiscal years

The following 15 a summary of the costs and other 1tems excluded trom the most comparable GAAP financial measures to calculate the non-GAAP financial
measures presented 1n this management's discussion and analysis

= Severance and Facility Actions and Acquisition-related Costs — Severance and facility action costs are pnmanly related to facilines charges including
accelerated depreciation and severance and benefits for employees terminated pursuam to cost synergies related to strategic acquisitions and actions
taken as part of a comprehensive review of costs Acquisiton-related charges are expensed as incurred and consist primanly of retention payments,
integration costs, and other costs  Retention payments include stock-based compensation and cash incentives awarded to employees, which are
recogmized over the vesting penod  Integration costs pnmarly include IT costs related to the integration of 1T systems and processes, costs related to the
integration of employees, costs related to full-nme employees who are working on the integration, and consulung expenses Severance and facility
actions and acquisition-related charges are inconsistent 1in amount and are sigmificantly impacted by the tinung and nature of these events Therefore
although we may ncur these types of expenses n the future, we behieve that elimnating these charges for purposes of calculating the non-GAAP
financial measures facthiates a more meaningful evaluation of our curtent operating performance and compansons to our past operating performance

* Amortization of Intangible Assets — Amortization of purchased intangible assets consists pnmanly of amormization of customer relanonships, acquired
technology, non-compete covenants, and trade names purchased 1n connection with business acquisitions We incur charges relating to the amortization
of these tniangibles, and those charges are included n our Consohdated Financial Statements Amortizaton charges for our purchased intangible asscts
are inconsistent in
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amount from penod to period and are sigmficantly impacted by the ming and magmtude of our acquisitions Consequently, we exclude these charges for
purposes of calculating the non-GA AP financiat measures to facilitate a more meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance and compansons (o
our past operating performance

*  QOther Fees and Settlements — We also adjust our GAAP results for certain fees and seitlements Dunng the third quarter of Fiscal 2011, we received a
$72 mallion fee for termination of a merger agreement with us During the first quarter of Fiscal 2011, we recorded a $100 nullion settiement amount lor
the SEC investigation 1nto certain of our accounting and financial matters, which was imitiated 1n 2005, and incurred $40 mllion for a secunties hitigation
class action lawsuit that was filed against us duning Fiscal 2007 We are excluding these fees and settlements for the purpose of calculating the non-
GAAP financial measures because we believe these fees and settlements while not unusual, are outside our ordinary course of business and do not
contribute to a meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance or comparisons to our past operating performance

«  Aggregate Admistment for income Taxes — The aggregalte adjustment for income taxes is the estimated combined income tax effect for the ttems
described above The tax effects are determined based on the junsdictions where the 1tems were mncurred
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The table below presents a reconciliation of each non-GAAP finanuial measure to the most comparable GAAP measure for each of the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Ycar Ended

February3, % Change  January 28, % Change January 29, 2010

2012 2011
{in mullions excopt percentages)
GAAP gross margin S 13,811 21% s 11,396 23% s 9,261
Non-GAAP adjustmenis
Amortization of ttangibles 305 278 151
Severance and facility actions and acquis:tion-related costs 49 57 237
Non-GAAP gross margin s 14,165 21% ) 11,731 22% 3 9 649
GAAP operating expenscs S 5,380 18% 3 7,963 12% $ 7.08%
Non-GAAP adjustments
Amortization of mtangibles (86) (7n (54)
Severance and facility actions and acquisition-related costs (264) {170} (360)
Other fecs and settlements — (140) —
Non-GAAP operating expenses $ 9,030 19% $ 7,582 14% 3 6,675
GAAP operating income 3 4,431 29% s 3,433 58% $ 2,172
Non-GAAP adjustments
Amortuization of intangibles 39 349 205
Severance and facthly actions and acquisition-related costs 313 227 597
Other fees and settlements — 140 —
Non-GAAP operating income 3 5,135 24% s 4,149 40% $ 2,974
GAAP net income 3 3,492 33% s 2,635 84% $ 1,433
Non-GAAP adjustments
Amortization of intangibles 391 349 205
Severance and facility actions and acquisthon-related costs 313 227 597
Other fees and settlements — 68 —
Aggregate adjustment for income taxes (244) {173} (181)
Non-GAAP net income 3 3,952 27% b3 3,106 51% $ 2.054
GAAP earmings per share - diluted 3 188 39% S 135 85% $ 073
Non-GAAP adjustments per share - diluted 02s 024 032
Non-GAAP eamings per share - diluted 3 213 34% 3 159 51% s 105
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Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, 2011 January 29,
2012 2010

Percentage vf Total Net Revenue
GAAP gross margin 223% 185% 17 5
Non-GAAP adjustments 05% 06% 07%
Non-GAAP gross margin 22 8% 191% 182%
GAAP operating expenses 152% 129% 134¢%
Non-GAAP adjustments (0 TV (0 6)% (0 8)%
Non-GAAP operating expenses 145 % 123% 126%
GAAP operating income T1% 56% 41 %
Non-GAAP adjustments 12% 1% 15%
Non-GAAP operating income 83% 67% 56%
GAAP net income 56% 43% 27%
Non-GAAP adjustments 08% 08% 12%
Non-GAAP net income 64°% 51% 39%
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Segment Discussion

Qur four global business segments are Large Enterprise, Public, Small and Medium Business, and Consumer

Severance and facility acuions and acquisition-related charges, broad based, long-term incentive expenses, amortization of purchased intangible assets costs
and charges related to our settlement of the SEC investigation as well as a securities litigation class action lawsuit that were incurred duning Fiscal 2011, are
not allocated to the reporting segmenis as management does not believe that these items are reflective of the underlying operating performance of the
reporting segments These costs totaled $1 1 billion for each of Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 201 1, and $1 2 billion for Fiscal 2010

See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements tncluded in Part Il — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data™ for
addinonal information and reconcihation of segment revenue and operating income to consolidated revenue and operating income

The following table presents our net revenue and operating income by our reportable global segments

Fiscal Year Ended

Februar 3,2012 Janaary 28, 2011 January 29, 2010
Dollars o5 of Yo Dollars % of Q) Dollars o4 of
Resenue® Change Revenue'™ Change Revenue™®

(in millions excepl percentages)

Large Enterprise

Net revenue $ 18,457 3% 4% $ 17,813 29% 25% $ 14,285 27%

Operating income $ 1,854 10 0% 26% $ 1,473 8 3% B0 % $ 8i9 57%
Public

Net revenue § 16,548 27% (2)% $ 16,851 27% 16 % S 14484 27%

Operating income i 1,644 9 9% 1% g 1 484 8 8% 9% $ 1.361 9 4%
Small and Medium Business

Net revenue $ 15168 24% 5% $ 14473 24% 20 % $ 12,079 23%

Operaling 1ncome 5 1,665 11 0% 3% 8§ 1,477 10 2% 42 % $ 1,040 86%
Consumer

Net revenue $ 11,900 19% (4)% $ 12,357 20% 3% $ 12,054 23%

Operating mcome 5 324 27% 398% S 65 05% {39)% S 107 09%

(8} Operating tcorne percentage of revenue 1s stated an relation to the respective segment

Fiscal 2012 compared to Fiseal 2011

»  Large Enterprise — Dunng Fiscal 2012 Large Enterprise experienced a 4% year-over-year increase 10 revenue that was driven by mcreases in revenue
across all product lings, except for storage revenue and desktop PC revenue, which declined 30% and was essentially unchanged, respectively The
decline 1n storage revenue was primanly due to a decrease in the sale of third-party storage products as we shified to sales of Dell-owned storage
solutions Revenue from services and servers and networking increased 13% and 8%, year-over-year, respectively, while mobility revenue increased 6%
and software and penpherals revenue increased 2% year-over-year During Fiscal 2012, Large Enterprise’s revenue from outside the U S increased year-
over year, while revenue from the U S decreased shghtly

During Fiscal 2012, Large Enterprise's operating income as a percentage of revenue increased 170 basis points year-over-year to 10 0% The mcrease was
primanly atinbutable to improvements in gross margin for our products, partially offset by an increase in operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue,
resulting pnmanly from mcreased selling and marketing costs

»  Public — Dunng Fiscal 2012, Public expenenced a 2% year-over-year decrease in revenue which was pnmarnly dniven by a weakened demand
environment Revenue from desktop PCs, storage products, and mobility products decreased year-over-year by 7% 16%, and 3% respectively Revenue
from services, servers and networking, and software and pertpherals increased 4%, 3%, and 1% year-over-year, respectively The dechine in Public's
revenue was pnimanly
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attnbutable to revenue decreases 1n the U S and Western Europe, largely because of budgetary constraints on public spending. the effects of which were
partially offset by revenue growth in APJ

During Fiscal 2012, Public's operating rcome as & percentage of net revenue increased | 10 basis ponts to 9 9% The increase was pnmarnly attnbutable to
improvements in gross margin for our products partally offset by an increase 1n operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue, which was primanly due
to increased selling and marketing costs

»  Small and Medumm Business — During Fiscal 2012, SMB expenenced 2 5% year-over-year increase 1n revenue that was pnmanly atiributable to
increases from enterpnse solutions and services and software and peripherals, partially offset by a shight decrease in mobihty revenue Revenue from
servers and networking, storage and services increased 17%, 10%, and 21%, year-over-year, respectively Revenue from software and penpherais and
desktop PCs increased 5% and 1%, year-over-year, respectively, while mobility product revenue dechined 2% year-over-year SMB expenenced revenue
growth across all regions

During Fiscal 2012, SMB's operating income as a percentage of net revenue ncreased 80 basis points to 11 0% The increase was pnmanly atinbutable to
improvements in gross margin for our products, partially offset by an increase tn operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue, resulting principally from
ncreased selling and marketing costs

. Consmmer — Dunng Fiscal 2012, Consumer experienced a 4% year-over-year decrease m revenue Revenue from all product and services categories
decreased during Fiscal 2012 except mobility product revenue, which increased shightly The overall decrease 1n consumer revenue was driven by a 12%
decline 1n revenue from desktop PCs and a 16% decline in revenue from software and penipherals Duning Fiscal 2012, desktop PC unit sales declmed
4% and the average selling price ot desktop PCs decrcased 8% The decline i software and penipherals revenue was due to the removal of lower-margin
products from our portfolio of sofiware and penipheral product offerings Mobility revenue increased 1% due to an increase in units sold of 6%, which
was largely driven by an overall increase in demand for our higher-value product ines The revenue mcrease from the increase in unuts sold was largely
offsel by a decrease in average selling prices of 4% Revenue from Consumer services decreased 7%, year-over-year, largely due to decreased sales from
our U S business as well as lower attach rates on our product sales Revenue from the U S decreased 18% year-over-year, while revenue from outside
ofthe U § increased 10% Revenue from Growth Countries increased 27% over the prior year

For Fiscal 2012, Consumer's operating income percenlage as a percentage of net revenue tncreased 220 basis points, year-over-year. to 2 7% The increase in
operating income percentage was largely attnbutable o an increase in our product gross margin percentage due to a more favorable component cost
environment In addition, during Fiscal 2012, we sold more units of higher-value client products, as compared to the prior year Furthermore we have
experienced year-over-year increases in profitabihty from our customer financing arrangements, which benetited from improvements 1n consumer credit loss
performange on our owned and purchased portfolhios We believe the impact of this improved profitability from our financing arrangements will moderate in
future periods as our loss rates have stabihzed and as our overall consumer financing portfoho 1s dechimng The positive effects of these factors have been
partially offset by a shght increase in operating expenses as a percentage of revenue year-over-year due to increased selling and marketing costs

Fiscal 2011 compared to Fiscal 2010

«  Large Enterprise — The year-over-year mcrease i Large Enterpnise's revenue for Fiscal 2011 was mamly attnbutable to improved demand due toa
hardware refresh among our Large Enterprise customers Large Enterprise experienced year-over-yeatr increases tn revenue across all product hines during
Fiscal 2011, except for stornge revenue, which declined 5% ‘The decrease in storage revenue was primarily due to a decrease 1n the sale of thurd-party
storage products as we shufted more towards Dell-owned storage solutions Revenue from servers and networking and services increased 33% and 35%,
respectively The increase in services revenue was largely due to the acquisition of Perot Systems in Fiscal 2010 Sales of client products generated large
revenue 1ncreases, with mobility and desktop PCs revenue increasing 33% and 25%, year-over-year respectively Dunng Fiscal 2011, Large Enterpnise’s
revenue increased year-over-year across all regions

During Fiscal 2011 operating mcome as a percentage of revenue mcereased 260 basis points year-over-year to 8 3% The increase was mostly driven by
Improvements 1n gross margin due to a shifl 1n gross margin mix to enterpnse sotuttons and services 1mproved component costs, better product quality, and
improved pricing disciphne, particularly in the latter half of Fiscal 2011 for client products Revenue increases and tighter spending controls on operating
expenses resulted in a decrease in operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue

»  Pubhc — During Fiscal 2011, Public experienced a year-over-year increase tn revenue across all product and service categories Services contributed the
largest increase, with a 69% increase 1n revenue over Lhe prior year The increase i
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services revenue was primanly a result of our acquisition of Perot Systems 1n Fiscal 2010 Revenue from servers and networking and storage increased 15%
and 8%, ycar-over-year, respectively Software and penpherals revenue increased 10% year-over-year Revenue from mobility and desktop PCs increased 5%
and 6%, ycar-over-year, respectively Public's revenue grew during Fiscal 2011 across the Amencas and the Asia-Pacific region, but declined in Europe due
10 budgetary constraints on pubhc spending

Public's operating income percentage declined 60 basis points to 8 8% for Fiscal 2011 due to a year-over-year increase 1n operating expenses as a percentage
of revenue, offset 1n part by a slight increase in gross margin percentage The increase 1n operating expenses was a result of higher selling and marketing
cosis

+ Small and Medium Business — Durning Fiscal 2011, SMB expenenced a year-over-year increase in revenue with increases across all product and services
categonies Servers and networking, and storage revenue increased 26% and 21% year-over-year, respectively Revenue from mobility and desktop PCs
increased 20% and 23%, year-over-year, respectively while software and penpherals revenue increased 16% year-over-year The improved demand
environment was a major contributor to the increase 1n revenue for all product categonies Services revenue ncreased 6% year-over-year SMB revenue
expenenced year-over-year growth across all regions during Fiscal 2011 SMB revenue from BRIC grew 40% year-over-year

Operating income percentage increased 160 basis points to 10 2% The increase in operating income percentage was atinbutable 1o 1mproved gross margins as
a result of lower component costs and an improved pricing environment, as well as to a decrease 1n operating expenses as a percentage of revenue due to
tighter spending controls

. ansumer — Consumer's revenue increased 3% year-over-year duning Fiscal 2011 Revenue from all product and services categornies decreased year-
over-year for Fiscal 2011, except mobility Consumer mobility revenue increased by 8% year-over-year, due to increase of 8% in notebook units sold,
while revenue from desktops PCs decreased by 1% due to a decline in deskiop PC units of 2% Average selling prices for Consumer mobility and
desktop PCs were relatively flat year-over-year dunng Fiscal 2011 The increase in mobihity revenue was due to improved unit demand for Consumer
mobility products Consumer services decreased 1 1% year-over-year and software and pernipherals revenue decreased 10% for the same period Ata
country level, our U S Consumer revenue decreased 9% year-over-year due to softer demand, while our non-U § regions expenenced 16% revenue
growth Revenue from BRIC grew 46% year-over-year for Fiscal 2011

For Fiscal 201 1, Consumer's operating income percentage decreased 40 basis points year-over-year to 0 5% The decrease 1n operating income percentage was
largely atinbutable to a decrease in gross margin percentage Consumer gross margin decreased due to the shift in sales mix from direct sales to sales through
other distnibution channels, which generally carry a lower gross margin, which was not entirely offset by decreases 1n operating expenses as a percentage of
revenue Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue remained relatively flat year-over-year In the second half of Fiscal 2011, Dell Fnancial Services,
which provides financing to our customers, experienced improved delinquency and charge-oft rates that partially offset the decrease in Consumer 's operating
ncome percentage From time to ume we monetize aspects of the Consumer business model wrth arrangements with vendors and suppliers, such as revenue
shanng arrangements, which we believe will continue to contribute to and improve Consumer’s operating meome over time The impact of our vendor and
supplier arrangements was not matenal to our Fiscal 2011 results as compared to Fiscal 2010
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Revenue by Product and Services Categories

We design, develop, manufacture, market, sell and supporn a wide range of products that in many cases are customized to individual customer requirements
Our products are organized between enterpnse and chent categones Our enterprise products include servers and networking, and storage products Chent
products include mobilhity and desktop PC products Our senvices include a broad range of configurable IT and business services including infrastructure
technology consulting and applications, and product-related support services We also offer software and peripheral products

The following table summanizes our net revenue by product and services categories for each of the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Year k nded

February 3, 2012 Januar 18, 2011 Januar 29, 1010
Dollars % of Yo Dollars % of Ya Dollars % of
Rervenue Change Revenue Change Revenue

{1 millions ¢xcept percentages)
Net yevenue
Enterprise solutions and services
Enterprise solutions

Servers and networking 5 8336 13% 10 % 5 7609 12% 26% 5 6032 11%
Storage 1,943 3% {153)% 2,295 4% 5% 2,192 4%
Services 8,322 13% 8% 7673 12% 36% 5,622 11%
Software and penpherals 10,222 17% —% 10,261 17% 8% 9,499 18%
Chent
Mobility 19,104 31% 1 % 18,971 31% 14% 16,610 3%
Desktop PCs 14,144 23% (4)% 14,685 24% 13% 12,947 25%
Total net revenue § 62,071 100% 1% $ 61494 100% 16% § 52,902 100%

Fiscal 2012 compared to Fivcal 2011
. Enterprise Solutions and Services

Enterprise Solutions

. Servers and Nem orking — The increase 1n our servers and networking revenue for Fiscal 2012 as compared to Fiscal 2011 was
primarily driven by increases in revenue from our PowerEdge lines of servers as well as our virtualized servers and data center
solutions During Fiscal 2012, we saw an overall increase in demand and sclling prices We are continuing to shift towards more
differentiated products and sotutions that command higher selling prices

. Storage — Durning Fiscat 2012, storage revenue decreased 15% The decrease 1n storage revenue was pnmanly attnibutable 1o an
anticipated ducline in sales of third-party storage products, which was partally offset by revenue from sales of Dell-owned storage
products, such as our recently added Compellent products During Fiscal 2012 sales of Deli-owned storage products increased 21%
10 82% of our total storage revenue compared 10 57% in the prior year We behieve Dell-owned storage offenngs, which can be sold
with service solutions wall generate higher margins 1n the long-term Our acquisition of Compellent dunng the first quarter of Fiscal
2012 has expanded our enterprise and data center storage offerings

Services — During Fiscal 2012 services revenue increased 8% to $8 3 billion The mcerease was driven by an increase in transactional revenue
as well as increases 1n outsourcing and project-based services revenue The increase in outsourcing and project-based revenue was partially
driven by our recent acquisitions Qur estimated services backlog as of February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011, was $15 5 billionand $13 9
billion, respectively We provide mformation regarding services backlog because we believe 1t provides useful trend information regarding
changes in the size of our services business over time Services backlog as defined by us, includes deferred revenue from extended warranties
and contracted services backlog Deferred revenue from extended warranties was $7 G bilhon and $6 4 billion as of February 3, 2012, and
January 28 2011, respectively Estimated contracted services backlog which 1s pnmarily related to our outsourcing services business was

$8 5 bilhion and
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$7 5 billion as of February 3, 2012, and January 28 2011, respectively While there are no third-party standards or requirements governing the caleulation of
contracted services backlog, our estimated contracted services backlog represents signed contracts that are initially 32 million or more 1n totai expected
revenue with an initial contract term of at least 18 months The terms of the signed services contracts included in our calculation of services backlog are
subject to change and are affected by terminations changes 1n the scope of services, and changes to other factors that could impact the value of the contract
For these and other reasons, 1t 1s not reasonably practicable to estimate the portions for these backlog amounts that will ultimately be recognized as revenue
when performance on the contracts 1s completed

We continue to view services as a strategic growth opportumity and will continue to invest 1n our offerings and resources to focus on increasing our solutions
sales

= Sofmmare and Peripherals — Revenue from sales of software and penipherals ( S&P”)1s derived from sales of Dell-branded printers, momitors {not sotd
with systems) projectors, keyboards mice docking stations and a multitude of third-party peripherals, including televisions, cameras, stand-alone
software sales and related support services, and other products Duning Fiscal 2012, S&P revenue was effcetively unchanged when compared to the prior
year Revenue growth in S&P has been impacted as we continue to reduce our participation 1n non-strategic areas

Software revenue from our S&P hine of business which includes stand-alone sales of software license fees and related post-contract customer support, 15
reported in services revenue, including software related, on our Consolidated Statements of Income Software and related support services revenue
represented 32% and 33% of services revenue including software related, for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 201 1, respectively

. Clrent

Mobily — Revenue from mobility products (which include notebooks, mobile wotkstations, smartphones, and tablets) increased 1% durning Fiscal
2012 This increase was primarily attnibutable to a 3% increase 1n notebook units sold, largely offset by a 3% dechine 1n average selling price We
have been expeniencing dechines 1n revenue from our lower pnced consumer notebooks, which have been largely offset by increases in revenue
from our hugher value XPS lne of notebooks During Fiscal 2012 Commercial mobility revenue was essentially unchanged year-over-year, when
compared to Fiscal 2011, while Consumer mobility revenue increased 1%

Desktop PCs — Dunng Fiscal 2012, revenue from desktop PCs (which include desktop computer systems and fixed workstations) decreased 4% as
the average selling price as well as unut sales for our desktop PCs each decreased 2% when compared to Fiscal 2011

Fiseal 2011 compared to Fiscal 2010
. Enterprise Solutions and Services

Enterprise Solutions

. Servers and Nemwor king — The increase 1n our servess and networking revenue for Fiscal 2011 as compared to Fiscal 2010 was due to
demand improvements across all Commercial segments During Fiscal 2011, unit shipments increased 13% year-over-year, and
average selling pnices increased 12%, driven by an improved product muix that includes our new product lines

. Storage — Storage revenue increased 5% for Fiscal 2011 The increase in Storage revenue was pnmarnly dnven by our SMB segment
with a 21% increase year-over-year EqualLogic performance was strong, with year-over-year revenue growth of 62%

Services — Services revenue increased $2 1 bilhion from $5 6 billion during Fiscal 2010 10 §7 7 billion duting Fiscal 201 |, with revenue from
Perot Systems contributing a large proportton of the increase As Perot Systems was acquited on November 3, 2009 our services results for
Fiscal 2010 include contributions from Perot Systems for one fiscal quarter Perot Systems reported revenue of $1 9 billion for the three
quarters ended September 30, 2009

Durning Fiscal 201 I, we expenenced mcereases in our owtsourcing and project-based revenues, due to our acquisition of Perot Systems, while transactional
revenues rematned relanvely flat Cur estimated services
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backlog as of January 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010, was $13 9 billion and $12 8 billion, respectively Deferred revenue from extended warranties was $6 4
billion and 85 9 billion as of January 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010 respectively Estimated contracted services backlog, which 1s primanly related 10 our
outsourcing setvices business was $7 5 billion and $6 9 billion, as of January 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010, respectively

*  Software and Peripherals — The 8% increase in S&P revenue for Fiscal 201 1 was driven by overall customer unut shipment increases due to sales of
displays and electromes and peripherals, which experienced a combined year-over-year revenue increase of 15% for Fiscal 2011, while revenue from
imaging products decreased by 6%

Software and related support services revenue represented 33% and 39% of services revenue, including software related for Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010,
respectively

. Client

Mobtiity — Revenue from mobility products increased 14% duning Fiscal 2011 across all operating segments due to demand improvements
Notebook umits increased 14%, while average selling prices remamed flat dunng Fiscal 2011 Dunng Fiscal 2011, overall Commercial mobrlity
revenue increased 19% year-over-year, while revenue from Consumer mobility increased 8% The increase 1n Commercial mobility was driven by
increases 1n demand for our Latitude notebooks

Deskrop PCs — Dunng Fiscal 2011, revenue from desktop PCs increased as unit demand for desktop PCs increased by 10% The average selling
price for our desktop computers increased by 3% year-over-year due to a slight shift in product mix to higher priced units The increase 1n unit
demand was driven by our Large Enterpnise and SMB customers, generating increases of 25% and 23%, year-over-year, respectively, for Fiscal
2011 These mcreases were drnven primarily by the stronger demand for our Optiplex desktop PCs and fixed work stations

Stock-Based Compensation

We primanly use our 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan, amended in December 2007 for stock-based incentive awards These awards can be n the form of
stock options, stock appreciation nights, stock bonuses, restricted stock, restnicted stock umits, performance umts, or performance shares Stock-based
compensation expense totaled $362 mulhon for Fscal 2012, compared to $332 mullion and $312 mllton for Fiscal 20! 1 and Fiscal 2010, respectively For
further discussion on stock-based compensation, see Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “Part Il — Item 8 — Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data

Interest and Other, net

The following table provides a detaited presentation of Interest and other net for each of the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 20 010

{in millions)

Interest and other net

Investment income, primartily interest $ 81 3 47 $ 57

Gains (losses) on invesiments, net 8 6 2

Interest expense (279) (199 (160) ,

Foreign exchange 5 4 (59) |

Other (6) 59 12 !
Interest and other, net 3 (1591) 3 (83) 3 (148)

1
Frscal 2012 compared (o Frscal 2011 |
QOur investment income increased in Fiscal 2012 over the prior year pimanly due to higher average cash and investment balances as well as a shift to longer- '
duratton investments, which have higher investment yields Overall investment yield in Fiscal 2012 increased from approximately 35 basis points during
Fiscal 2011 to approximately 49 basis points

The year-over-year increase 1n interest expense for Fiscal 2012 was due to higher debt levels which increased to $9 3 billion as
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of February 3, 2012, from $6 0 billion as of January 28, 2011

The year-over-year decrease in other income was primanly due to 2 $72 mullion merger termunation fee that we received durning Fiscal 2011

Frscal 2081 compared to Fescal 2010

During Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010, we mamtamed a portfolio of instruments with shorter matunues, which typically carry lower market yields Durning
Fiscal 2011, our investment income declined shghtly even with higher avernge balances, primanty due to a continued declined in market yields Overall
investment yield in Fiscal 2011 declined from approximately 48 basts paints during Fiscal 2010 to approximately 35 basis points

The year-over-year increase 1n interest expense for Fiscal 2011 was duc to higher debt levels, which increased to 36 0 billion as of January 28, 2011, from
$4 1 bithon as of January 29 2010

The year-over-year change n foreign exchange for Fiscal 2011 was primanly due to gains from revaluation of certain un-hedged foreign currency balances,
the effect of which was partially offset by increases in the costs associated with the hedge program

Other includes a $72 milhion merger termination fee that we recerved duning Fiscal 2011
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Income and Other Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 17 6% 21 3%, and 29 2% for Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, respectively The decrease in our effective income tax rate
for Fiscal 2012 as compared to Fiscal 2011, was pnimanly due to an increase in the proportion of taxable income atinbutable to lower tax junisdictions Qur
effective tax rate can fluctuate depending on the geographic distribution of our world-wide carnings, as our foreign carnings are generally taxed at lower rates
than in the U S In certain junisdictions our tax rate 1s significantly less than the applicable statutory rate as a result of tax holidays The majonty of our
foretgn income that 1s subject to these tux holidays and lower tax rates 1s attributable to Singapore, China, and Malaysia Our significant tax holidays expire 1n
whole or 1n part duning Fiscal 2016 through 2021 The differences between our effective tax rate and the U S federal statutory rate of 35% principally resulted
from the geographical distribution of taxable income discussed above and permanent differcnces between the book and tax treatment of certain items  We
continue to assess our business model and 1ts impact i various taxing junsdictions

Deferred tax assets and liabihities are recorded for the estimated tax impact of temporary differences between the tax and book basis of assets and hiabilities,
and are recognized based on the enacted stalutory lax rates for the year in which we expect the differences to reverse A valuation allowance 1s established
agmnst 2 deferred tax asset when 1t 1s more likely than not that the asset or any portion thereof will not be realized Based upon all the available evidence,
including expectation of future taxable mcome, we have determined that we will be able to realize all of our deferred (ax assets, net of valuation allowances

For a further discussion regarding tax matters including the status of income tax audits, see Note |1 of the Notes to Consohdated Financial Staterents
ncluded in Part 1l — ltem 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

We sell products and services directly to customers and through a varicty of sales channels including retail distribution Our Accounts receivable, net was

$6 5 billion as of February 3, 2012 and January 28, 2011 We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts 1o cover recervables that may be deemed
uncollectible The allowance for losses 1s based on specific dentifiable customer accounts that are deemed at risk and a provision for accounts that are
collectively evaluated based on historical bad debt expenence As of February 3, 2012 and January 28, 2011, ihe allowance for doubtful accounts was $63
milhion and $96 mullion, respectively Based on our assessment, we believe we are adequately reserved for expected credit losses We monutor the aging of our
accounts receivable and continue 10 take actions to reduce our exposure to credit losses

DELL FINANCIAL SERVICES AND FINANCING RECEIVABLES

DFS offers a wide range of financial services, including onginaung, collecting, and servicing customer recewvables primanly related to the purchase of Dell
products To support the financing needs of our customers intemationally, we have aligned with a select number of third-party financial services companies
During Fiscal 2012, we acquired Dell Financial Services Canada Limited {"DFS Canada”) from CIT Group Inc In addiion, we announced our entry into a
definitive agreement to acquire C1T Vendor Finance's Deli-related financing assets portfolio and sales and servicing functions 1n Europe for approximately
$400 million Subject to customary closing, regulatory, and other conditions, Dell expects to close substantially alt of this acquisition in the fiscal year ending
February | 2013 CIT Vendor Finance 1s currently a Dell financing preferred vendor operating in more than 25 countnies and will continue to support Deli for
the transition period i Europe CIT Vendor Finance will also continue 1o provide financing programs with Dell in select countries around the world

including programs 1n Latin America, after completion of this transaction

Al February 3, 2012 and January 28, 2011, our net financtng receivables balances were $4 7 billion and $4 4 billion, respectively Included i the February 3,
2012, balance was approximately $0 3 billion related to our acquisition of the DFS Canada portfolio To manage the expected net growth in financing
receivables, we will continue to balance the use of our own working capital and other sources of hquidity, mcluding secuntization programs

We have securitization programs to fund revolving loans and fixed-term leases and loans through consolidated special purpose entities ("SPEs™), which we
account for as secured borrowings We transfer certain U § customer financing receivables to these SPEs, whose purpose 15 to facilitate the funding of
customer receivables through financing arrangements with multi-seller conduits that 1ssue asset-backed debt secunities 1n the capital markets We transferred
$2 3 billion, $1 9 billion, and $0 8 billion to these SPEs during Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, respectively Our nisk of loss related to these
secuntized recervables 1s limited to the amount of our over-collalcralization 1n the transferred pool of recenvables At February 3, 2012, and January 28 2011,
the structured financing debt related to alf of our secured borrowing securitization programs was $1 3 billion and $1 0 billion, respectively, and the carrying
amount of the corresponding financing recervables was $1 5 billion and
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$1 3 billion, respectively

We maintain an aflowance to cover expected financing receivable credit losses and evaluate credit loss expectations based on our total portfolio For Fiscal
2012 Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, the principal charge-off rate for our total portfolio was 4 6%, 7 5%, and 8 0%, respectively The charge-off rate for Fiscal
2011 1s annualized for a portfolio of receivables that consisted of revolving Dell U § customer account balances that was purchased during the third quarter
of Fiscat 2011 The credit quahity mix of our financing receivables has improved in recent years due to our underwnting actions and as the nix of high quahty
commercial accounts in cur portfoleo has increased The allowance for losses 15 determined based on various factors, including historical and anticipated
experience, past due receivables, receivable type and customer nisk profile At February 3 2012 and January 28, 2011, the allowance for financing receivable
losses was $202 million and $241 million, respectively In general the loss rates on our financing receivables for Fiscal 2012 have continued to improve over
the prior year However, we do not expect this improvement to continue as loss rates have stabilized We continue to monitor broader econonmic indicators and
their potential impact on future loss performance We have an extensive process to manage our exposure (o customer nsk, meluding active management of
credit lines and our collection activities Based on our assessment of the customer financing recervables, we belteve that we are adequately reserved

See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in ‘Part 1I — [tem 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data’ for additional
tnformation about our financing receivables and the associated allowance

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMEN1S

With the consohidation of our previously nonconsolidated special purpose entities, we no longer have off-batance sheet financing arrangements
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LIQUIDIN Y, CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, AND CONTRACTUAL CASH OBLIGATIONS

Cash and Investments

At February 3, 2012, we had $18 2 billion of total cash, cash equivalents and investments The objective of our investment pohicy and strategy 15 to manage
our total cash and insvestments balances to preserve principal and maintain hquidity while maximizing the return on the investment portfolio through the full
investment of available funds We diversi(y our investment porifolto by investing in multiple types of investment-grade securities and through the use of
third-party mvestment managers

The following table summarizes our ending cash, cash equivalents, and invesiments balances for the respective periods

February 3, January 28,
2012 2011

(1n milltons)

Cush cash equivalents and wvestments

Cash and cash equivalents 3 13,852 5 13,913
Debt secunties 4,251 1,032
Equity and other securittes 119 124

Cash cash equivalents, and investments s 18,222 s 15,068

Of the $18 2 billion of cash, cash equivalents, and 1nvestments, $13 9 billion 15 classified as cash and cash equivalents Qur cash equivalents primanly consist
of money market funds and commerciat paper Due 10 the nature of these investments, we consider 1t reasonable to expect that they will not be significantly
impacled by a change in interest rates and that these investments can be liquidated for cash at short notice Our cash equivalents are recorded at fair value

The remaining $4 3 bitlion of cash, cash equivalents, and investments 1s primarily invested in fixed income securities of varying matunties at the date of
acquisitton The fair value of our portfolio can be affected by interest rate movements, credit, and hquidity nsks

Current Market Conditions

We regularly momtor economic conditions and associated impacts on the financial markets and our business During Fiscal 2012, the global economic
environment continued to experience challenges We consistently evaluate the financial health of our supplier base, carefully manage customer credit,
diversify counterparty nisk, and monitor the concentration nisk of cur cash and cash equivalents balances globally We routinely monitor our financral
exposure to both sovereign and non-sovereign borrowers and counterparties, particularly 1n Europe 1n recent quarters At February 3 2012 our gross
exposures to our customers and investments in Portugal, Ireland ltaly, Greece and Spain were individually and collectively immaterial

We monitor ¢redit risk associated with our financaal counterparties using various market credit nsk indicators such as credit ratings 1ssued by nationally
recogmized rating agencies and changes in market credn default swap levels We perform periodic evaluations of our positions with these counterparties and
may limit exposure to any one counlerparty in accordance with our policies We monutor and manage these activities depending on current and expected
market developments

See ‘Part | — ltem 1A — Rusk Factors™ for further discussion of risks associated with our use of countetparttes The iumpact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements of any credit adjustments related to these counterparies has been immatertal

Liquidity

Cash generated from operattons 1s our prumary source of operating hquidity In general, we seek to deploy our capital in a systematically pnontized manner
focusing first on requirements for operatons, then on growth nvestments, and finally on returns of cash to stockholders Our sirategy 1s to deploy capital from
any potential source, whether intemally generated cash or debt, depending on the adequacy and availability of that source of capital and whether 1t can be
accessed 1n a cost effective manner We believe that intemally generated cash flows which consist of operating cash flows, are sufficient to support our day-
to-day business operations, both domestically and intemationally, for at least the next 12 months Additionally, while cash generated from operations 1s our
pnimary source of operating hquidity, we use a vanety of capital sources to fund the growth in our financing receivables share repurchases and our needs for
less predictable investing and financing decisions such as acquisibons

Qur working capitai management team actively monttors the efficiency of our balance sheet under vanous macroeconomic and competitive scenarios These
scenarios quantify risks to the financial statements and provide a basis for actions necessary 10 ensure adequate hiquidity, both domestically and
internationally, to support our acquisition and investment strategy share repurchase activity and other corporate needs We utilize external capital sources,
such as long-term notes and structured
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financing arrangements and short-term borrowings, consisting pnmanly of commercial paper, to supplement our intemally generated sources of liquidity as
necessary We have a currently effective shelf registration statement under which we may wssue up to $3 5 billion of debt secunties Although there are
uncertainties surrounding the global economte environment, due 1o the overall strength of our financial position, we believe that we currently have adequate
access (o capilal markets Any future disruptions or additional uncertainty or volatility 1n those markets may result in higher funding costs for us and could
adversely affect our abihty to obtain funds

During Fiscal 2012, we issued $1 5 bilhion principal amount of seior notes with terms that are consistent with our prior note 1ssuances We also 1ssued $1 5
billion of commercial paper during Fiscal 2012 primanily for general corporate purposes During Fiscal 2012, we increased the maximum size of our
commercial paper program from 52 0 billion to $2 5 billion We 1ntend to maimtan appropriate debt levels based upon cash fiow expectations the overall cost
of capal, cash requirements for operations, and discrehonary spending, including spending for acquisittons and share repurchases

Qur cash balances are held tn numergus locations throughout the world, most of which are outside of the US While our U S cash balances do fluctuate, we
typically operate with 10% to 20% of our cash balances held domestically Demands on our domestic cash have increased as a result of our strategic
mitiatives We fund these imuiatives through our existing cash and investment balances which are highly Liquid through internally generated cash and
through external sources of capital, which include 1ssuances of long-term debt and utihzation of our $2 5 billion commercial paper program When
appropniate, we may access foreign cash in a tax efficient manner Where local regulations lint an efficient intercompany transfer of amounts held outside of
the U §, we will continue to utthze these funds for local hquidity needs Under current law, earmings available to be repatnated to the U S would be subject
1o US federal income tax less applicable {oreign tax credits We have provided forthe U § federal tax hability on these amounts for financial statement
purpases, except for foreign eamings that are considered permanently reinvested outside of the U § We utilize a vanety of tax planning and financing
strategies with the objective of having our worldwide cash available in the locations where i1 1s needed

The following table contains a summary of our Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows for the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010

(in milhons)

Net chunge n cash from

Operating acuivities 3 5,527 $ 3,969 $ 3,906
Investing activities (6,166) (1,165) (3 809)
Financing activities 577 477 2012
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1 3) 174
Change 1n cash and cash equivalents $ (61) $ 3278 $ 2283

Operating Acirvities ~— Qperating cash flows for Fiscal 2012 inereased $1 6 billton compared to the prior fiscal year The increase in operating cash flows
was pnmanly driven by year-over-year increases in net income as well as favorable changes in working capital For Fiscal 2011 compared (o Fiscal 2010, the
ncrease i operating cash flows was primarily attnbutable to an increase 1n net income and deferred revenue whuch was partially offset by less favorable
changes in working capital See “Key Performance Metrics™ below for additional discussion of our cash conversion cycle

Investing Activities — Investing activities consist of the net of maturities and sales and purchases of investments, net capital expenditures for property, plant,
and equipment principal cash flows related to purchased financing recervables, and net cash used to fund strategic acquisitions Cash used 1n investing
activities duning Fiscal 2012 was $6 2 billion compared to $1 2 billion and $3 8 illion during Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010, respectively The year-over-year
increase in cash used 1 investing activities for Fiscal 2012 was pnmanily due to a net 3 2 billion increase in cash used to purchase investments as we shafied
funds to investments with ongnal maturities of greater than 90 days and higher spending on business acquisitions We have shified our investments to longer-
term securities primanly to diversify our investment portfolio as well as to better align the duratien of our financial assets with the duration of our financial
habilihes Qur long-term marketable secunties typically have stated maturities of up to three years Cash used to fund business acquisitions, net of cash
acquired was approximately $2 6 bilhion during Fiscal 2012 compared to $0 4 billion and $3 6 billion duning Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010, respectively Our
Fiscal 2012 acquisiions consisted primarnily of SecureWorks Inc . Compellent, DFS Canada, and Forcel0 Networks Inc , while our Fiseal 2011 acquisitions
consisted of Kace Networks, Inc , Ocarina Networks Inc, Scalent Systems, Inc , Boomy, Inc , and InSite One Inc Our principal acquisition i Fiscal 2010
was Perot Systems

Frnancing Activities — Financing activities primartly consist of proceeds and repayments from borrowings and the repurchase of our commeon stock Cash
provided by financing activities for Fiscal 2012 was 30 6 billion compared to cash provided by
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financing actvities of $0 5 billhon and $2 0 lllion for Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010, respectively The slight year-over-year increase 1n cash provided by
financing activities for Fiscal 2012 was pnmarily due to the 1ssuance of $1 5 billion 1 commercial paper, compared 10 a net repayment of 36 5 bilhon of
commercial paper in Fiscal 2011 The increase was offset by an additional $1 9 billion 1n share repurchases during Fiscal 2012 over the prior year

As of February 3, 2012, we had $9 3 billion of total debt, compared to 36 0 billien and $4 | billion of total debt as of January 28 2011, and January 29, 2010,
respectively Of this amount, we had $6 3 billion pnincipal amount of our sentor notes outstanding as of February 3, 2012, compared to $4 8 billion and $3 3
billion principal amount of semor notes outstanding as of January 28 2011, and January 29, 2010 respectively

We have $3 0 billion of sentor unsecured revolving credit facilities primarily to support our $2 5 billion commercial paper program Of the credit facilities,

$1 0 bilhon will expire on April 2,2013, and $2 0 lilhion will expire on Apnl 15, 2015 No amounts were outstanding under our revolving credit facilies as
of February 3, 2012, January 28, 2011, or January 29, 2010 We had $1 5 billion of commercial paper outstanding as of February 3, 2012 As of January 28,
2011, we did not have any amounts outstanding under the commercial paper program compared to $0 5 billion of commercial paper outstanding as of January
29,2010 See Note 5 of the Notes o Consohdated Financiat Statements under “Parnt 1! — ltem 8§ — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data * for further
discussion of our debt

We issued structured financing-related debt to fund our financing recenables as discussed under Financing Receivables™ above The total debt capacity of
our securltization programs 15 $1 4 bithon We had $1 3 billion 1n outstanding structured financing secuntizaton debt as of February 3, 2012 Qur
securitization programs are structured 10 operate near their debt capacity We balance the use of our secunitization programs with working capital and other
sources of hiquidity to fund growth in our financing recenvables In November 201 1, we changed counterparties for our existing revolving loan secuntization
program to a counterparty oftcring more favorable terms We expect to renew one of our fixed-term securitization programs as part of our annual renewal
process in the first quarter of Fiscal 2013 See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under  Part [I — Item 8 — Finanaial Statements and
Supplementary Data™ for further discussion of our structured financing debt

We also repurchased approximately 178 mulhon shares of common stock for $2 7 billion dunng Fiscal 2012 compared to approximately 57 milhion shares of
common stock for $800 million duning Fiscal 2011 Durning the third quarter of Fiscal 2012, our Board of Directors authonzed an additional $5 bilhion tor our
share repurchase program As of February 3, 2012, $6 0 billion remained available for future share repurchases

Key Performance Meiric s — Our cash conversion cycle for the fiscal quarter ended February 3, 2012, improved from the fiscal quarter ended January 28,
2011, and was essentially unchanged from the fiscal quarter ended January 29, 2010 Our business model allows us to maintain an efficient cash conversion
cycle, which compares favorably with that of others in our industry

The following table presents the components of our cash conversion cycle for the fourth quarter of each of the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Quarter Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
Days of sales cutstanding!® 42 40 38
Days of supply in mventory® 11 9 8
Days n accounts payable(®) (8%) (82) (82)
Cash conversion cycle (36) (33) (36)

) Days of salus vutstanding { DSO ) caleulates the mverage collection penod of our recervables SO 15 bused on the cnding net trade recervables and the most reeent quarterly revenue for
cach penod DSO also includes the effect of product costs related to customer ship not yctr 1 as revenue that are classificd tn other current agsets D8O s calculased
by adding accuounts recoivable net of allowance for doubtful uccounts, and customer shipments in transit and dividing that sum by aversge net revenue pur day for the cusrent
quarter (97 days for Fiscal 2012 90 days for Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2013) At February 3 2012 January 28 2011 and January 29 2010 D3SO and days of customer shipments not
yel recogmzed were 39 and 3 days 37 and 3 days and 35 and 3 days respectively

(b Days of supply i inventory { DSI ) mcasures the average number of days from precurement to sale of our product DS 1s based on ending inventory and most recent quarterly cost of

sales for cach penod DSI s calculated by dividing inventory by average cost of goods sold per day for the current quarter (97 days for Fiscal 2002 90 days for Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal
2010
) Days in accounts payable ( DPO ) caleulates the average number of days our payables remain outstanding befere payment DPO 1s based on ending accounts payable and mosl recent

quarterly cost of salcsy for each penod DPO 1s caleulated by divading accounts payable by avernge cost of goods sold per day for the current quarter (97 days for Fiscal 2002 90 days for
Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010)

Our cash conversion cycle increased three days at February 3, 2012, from January 28 2011 dnven by a seven day increase in
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DPO which was largely attributable to the ming of payments to vendors at the end of the period as compared to the prior year due to an additonal week of
operations in Fiscal 2012 The increase i DPO was offset i part by a two day increase in DSO and a two day increase in DSI The increase in DSO from
January 28 2011, was due to a shift in the mix of receivables towards customers with longer payment terms The increase in DSI from January 28 2011,was
primarily driven by strategte purchases of inventory, particularly HDDs

Our cash conversion ¢ycle decreased three days at January 28, 2011, from January 29, 2010, driven by a two day increase in DSO and a one day increase in
DSI DPO was flat year-over-ycar The increase in DSQ from January 29, 2010, was due to growth in our Commercial business which typically has longer
payment terms The shight increase in DSI from January 29, 2010, was pnmaniy atirnibutable to an increase in strategic purchases of matertals and finished
goods inventory 1n connection with the optimization of our supply chain

We defer the cost of revenue associated with customer shipments not yet recogmized as revenue until these shipments are delivered These deferred costs are
included 1n our reported DSO because we believe this reportng results 1n a more accurate presentation of our DSO and cash conversion cycle These deferred
costs are recorded in Other current assets in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and totaled $482 million, $541 mulion, and $523 mithon, at
February 3, 2012, January 28, 2011 and January 29, 2010, respectively

We believe that we can generate cash flow from operations in excess ot net income over the long term and can operate our cash conversion cycte in the mid
negative 30 day range

Capital Commitments

Share Repurchase Program — We have a share repurchase program that authonzes us to purchase shares of our common stock through a systematic program
of open market purchases 1n order to increase sharcholder value and manage dilution resulting from shares 1ssued under our equity compensation plans
However, we do not currently have a policy that requires the repurchase of common stock to offset share-based compensation arrangements For more
information regarding our share tepurchases, see “Part 1l -— Item 5 — Market for Registrant's Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Secunues ™

Capital Expenditures — Dunng Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011 we spent $675 mullion and $444 million, respectively, on property, plant and equipment
primarily i connection with our global expansion efforts and infrastructure mvestments made to support future growth Product demand, product mix, and the
increased use of contract manutaciurers, as well as ongowng investments 1n operating and nformation technology infrastructure, influence the level and
priontization of our capital expenditures Aggregate capital expenditures for Fiscal 2013, which will be pnimarily related to infrastructure investmenis and
strategic imtiatives, are currently expected to total approximately $650 mulhion to $700 mitlion These expenditures will be prunarily funded trom our cash
flows from operating activihes

Purchase Gbligations — We utihize severai suppliers to manufacture sub-assemblies for our products Our efficient supply chain management allows us to
enter into flexible and mutually beneficial purchase arrangements wath our supphiers in order to minimize inventory nsk Consistent with tndustry practice, we
acquire raw matenals or other goods and services including product components, by issuing to suppliers authonzations to purchase based on our projected
demand and manufacturing needs See "Liquidity, Capital Commitments, and Contractual Cash Obligations — Contractual Cash Obligations” for more
information about our purchase commitments
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Contractual Cash Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations at February 3, 2012

Payments Due by Penod

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
Total 2013 2014-2015 2016-2017 Thereafter

(1n millions)

Contractuad cash obligations

Principal payments on long-term debt $ 7,220 % 924 3 2,695 b 1,101 $ 2,500
Operating leases 465 107 165 108 85
Purchase obligations 2,896 2,865 25 6 —
Interest 2417 255 429 326 1,407
Uncertain tax positions — — — — —
Contractual cash obligations $ 12,998 $ 4,151 § 3314 3 1,541 S 3,992

@) We had approximately $2 6 billion in additional liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions that arc not expeeted to be igudated tn Fiscal 2013 We are unable to reliably estimate the
expected payment dates for these additional non-current habalities

Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt — Our expected principal cash payments related to long term debt are exclusive of hedge accounting adjustments or
discounts and premiums We have outstanding long-term unsecured notes with varying matunties For additional information, see Note 5 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements under “Part Il — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data "

Operating Leases — We lease property and equipment, manufacturing facilities, and office space under non-cancellable leases Certain of these leases
obligate us to pay taxes, maintenance, and repair costs

Purchase Obligations — Purchase obhigations are defined as contractual obligations to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding on
us These obligatuons specify ail sigmificant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased, fixed, minumum, or vanable price provisions, and
the approximate timing of the transaction Purchase obligations do not include contracts that may be canceled without penalty

We utilize several suppliers to manufacture sub-assemblies for our products Our efficient supply chain management allows us to enter into flexible and
mutually beneficial purchase arrangements with our suppliers 1n order to minumize inventory risk Consistent with industry practice, we acquire raw matenals
or other goods and services, including product components, by 1ssuing to supplers authorizations to purchase based on our projected demand and
manufacturing needs These purchase orders are typically fulfilled within 30 days and are entered into duning the ordinary course of business 1n order to
establish best pricing and continuity of supply for our production Purchase orders are not included n the table above as they typically represent our
authorization to purchase rather than binding purchase obligations

Our purchase obligations increased from $0 4 billion at January 28, 2011, to approximately $2 9 ballion at February 3, 2012 This increase was primanly
attributable to our entry into purchase commitments with selected suppliers of hard disk drives m order to ensure continuity of supply for these components
following disruption of the HDD supply chain as a result of severe flooding 1n Thailand during the third quarter of Fiscal 2012 The agreements provide for
some variation in the amount of units we are required te purchase and allow us to purchase these components at market-compettive rates The HDD purchase
commitments totated approximaltely $2 6 billton as of February 3, 2012, and have terms expiring on various dates through December 2012

Interest — See Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 1n “‘Part 1l — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for
further discussion of our debt and related interest expense

51




Table of Contents

Risk Factors Affecting Our Business and Prospects

There are numerous sigrficant risks that affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects Many of these risks are beyond our control
These nisks include those relating to

mtense competition,

our rehance on vendors for products and components, cluding reliance on several single-source or imited-source supphers

our ability o achieve favorable pricing from our vendors,

adverse global economic conditions and nstability 1n financial markets

our ability to manage effectively the change mvolved in implementing our strategic imtiatives

successful umplementation of our acquisition strategy,

our cost efficiency measures,

our abihity to manage solutions product, and services transitions in an effective manner,

our ability to deliver quality products and services,

our ability to generate substantial non-U S net revenue,

our product customer, and geographic sates mux, or scasonal sales trends,

the performance of our sales channel participants

access to the capital markets by us and some of our customers,

weak economic conditions and additional regulation affecting our financial services activities,

counterparty default,

customer terminations of, or pricing changes n, services contracts, or our failure to perform as we anticipate at the time we enter nto services contracts,
loss of government contracts,

our ability to develop, obtain or protect Licenses to intellectual property developed by us or by others on commercually reasonable and competitive terms,
infrastructure disruptions, '

cyber attacks or other data secunty breaches,

our ability to hedge effectively our exposure to fluctuations tn foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates,

expiration of tax hohidays or favorable tax rate structures, or unfavorable outcomes 1n tax audits and other tax comphance matters,
impairment of our portfolto invesiments,

unfavorable results of legal proceedings,

our ality to attract, retain, and motivate kKey personnel,

our ability to maintain strong and effective intemal controls,

our comphance with current and changing environmental and safety laws or other regulatory laws, and

the effect of armed hostilities, terronsm, natural disasters and public health 1ssues

For a discussion of these nsk factors affecting our business, operating results, financial conditions, and prospects, see **Part | — Item 1 A — Risk Factors ™
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Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our financial statements i conformity with GAAP The preparation of financial statements mn accordance with GAAP requires certain estimates,
assumptions, and judgments to be made that may affect our Consolidaled Statements of Financial Position and Consolidated Statements of Income We
believe that our most crttical accounting policies relate to revenue recognition, business combinations, warranty liabilittes income taxes, and loss
contingencies We have discussed the development, selection, and disclosure of our cnitical accounting pohcies with the Audit Commuttee of our Board of
Directors These critical accounting policies and our other accounting policies are also descnibed in Note | of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in “Part Il — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ™

Revenue Recognition and Related Allow ances — We enter into contracts to sell our products, software and services and frequently enter into sales
arrangements with customers that contain multiple elements or deliverables such as hardware, software, peripherals, and services We use general revenue
recognition accounting gudance for hardware, software bundled with hardware that 1s essential to the functionality of the hardware, peripherals, and certain
services We recogrize revenue for these products when 1t 1s realized or realizable and earned Revenue 1s considered realized and earned when persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has ocourred or services have been rendered, our fee 1s fixed and determinable, and collection of the resulting
receivable 1s reasonably assured We recognize revenue in accordance with industry specific software accounting guidance for all software that 1 not essential
to the functionality of the hardware Judgments and estmates are necessary 1o ensure comphance with GAAP These judgments include the altocation of the
proceeds recerved from an arrangement to the muttiple elements, and the appropnate timing of revenue recogmitton Most of our products and services qualify
as separate units of accounting We allocate revenue to all deliverables based on their relative selling prices GAAP requires the following hierarchy to be
used to determine the sefling pnice for allocating revenue to deliverables, (1) vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSQE™), (1) third-party evidence of selling
price {(“TPE"}, or (1) best estimate of the selting price ( ESP ) A majonity of our product and service offerings are sold on a stand-alone basis Because
selling pnce 1s generally available based on stand-alone sales, we have limited application of TPE, as detetmined by companson of pricing for products and
services to the pricing of similar products and services as ofTered by Dell or 1ts competiors 1n stand-alone sales to similarly situated customers

We record reductions to revenue for estimated customer sales returns rebates, and certain other customer incentive programs These reduchions to revenue are
made based upon reasonable and refiable estimates that are determined by historical experience, contractual terms, and current conditions The prnimary factors
affecting our accrual for estimated customer returns include estumated return rates as well as the number of units shipped that have a nght of return that has
not expired as of the balance sheet date If returns cannot be reliably estumated, revenue 1s not recagnized until a reliable estimate can be made or the retum
nght lapses Each quarter, we reevaluate our estimates to assess the adequacy of our recorded accruals and allowance for doubtful accounts, and adjust the
arounts as necessary

We sell our products directly to customers as well as through other distnbution channels, including retailers, distnibutors, and resellers Sales through our
disiibution channels are pnmanly made under agreements allowing for hmited nghts of return, price protection, rebates, and marketing development funds
We have generally limited retum nights through contractual caps or we have an established selling history for these arrangements Therefore there 1s
suffictent data to establish reasonable and reliable estimates of returns for the majonty of these sales To the extent pnce protection of retum rights are not
limited and a rehiable estimate cannot be made, all of the revenue and related cost are deferred unul the product has been sold to the end-user or the nghts
expire. We record estimated reductions to revenue or an expense for distnbution channel programs at the later of the offer or the time revenue 15 recognized

We offer extended warranty and service contracts to customers that extend and/or enhance the techmical support, parts, and labor coverage oftered as part of
the base warranty included with the product Revenue from extended warranty and service contracts, for which we are obligated to perform, 1s recorded as
deferred services revenue and subsequently recognized on a straight-line basts over the term of the contract or ratably as services are completed Revenue
from sales of third-partly extended warranty and service contracts, which we are not obhgated 10 perform, 1s recognized on a net basis at the tme of sale All
other revenue 1s recognized on a gross basts

We report revenue net of any revenue-based taxes assessed by governmental authorties that are imposed on and concurrent with specific revenue-producing
transactions

Business Combinations and Intangible Assets Including Geodwill — We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting and

accordingly the assets and habiliies of the acquired business are recorded at ther farr values at the date of acquisition The excess of the purchase price over
the esumated fair value 1s recorded as goodwill Any changes in the estimated fair values of the net assets recorded for acquisitions prior 1o the finalization of
more detailed analysis, but not to exceed one year from the date of acquisiion, will change the amount of the purchase price allocable to goodwall  All I
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acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and in-process research and development costs are recorded at fair value as an indefimite-lived intangible asset and
assessed for impairment thereafter until completion, at which pomt the asset 1s amortized over its expected useful ife  Any restructuring charges asscciated
with a busmess combination are expensed subsequent to the acquisition date The application of business combination and impairment accounting requires the
use of significant estimates and assumptions

The results of operations of acquired businesses are included 1n our Consolidated Financial Statements from the acquisition date

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tesled for imparment on an annual basts in the second fiscal quarter, or sooner 1f an indicator of
impatrment occurs To determine whether goodwill 1s impaired, we determine the fair values of each of our reportable business unuts using a discounted cash
flow methodology and then compare the fair values to the carrying values of each reportable business unit We concluded that there were no impairment
triggenng events duning Fiscal 2012 At the end of the second quarter of Fiscal 2012, the annual testing period, our market capitalization, including common
stock held by affiliates, was $29 8 billion compared te stockholders’ equity of $8 3 billion We have determined that a 10% decrease m the fair value of any
one of our reporting units as of February 3 2012, would have no impact on the carrying value of our goodwill Though we believe our estimates are
reasonable, these fair values require the use of management’s assumptions, which would not reflect unanticipated events and circumstances that may occur

Standard Warranty Liabilitties — We record warranty habihities at the time of sale for the estimated costs that may be incurred under the terms of the hinited
warranty The hability for standard warranties 1s included 1n accrued and other current and other non-current habihties on the Consohdated Statements of
Financial Posiion The specific warranty terms and conditions vary depending upon the product sold and the country in which we do business, but generally
include technical support, parts, and labor over a period ranging from one to three years Factors that affect our warranty liabihty include the number of
nstalled units currently under warranty, historical and anticipated rates of warranty claums on those unuts, and cost per claim to sahsfy our warranty

obhigaton The anticipated rate of warranty claims 1s the pnmary factor impacting our eshmated warranty obligation The other factors are less sigmificant due
1o the fact that the average remaining aggregate warranty period of the covered installed base 1s approximately 15 months, repair parts are generally already in
stock or available at pre-determined prices, and labor rates are generally arranged at pre-established amounts with service providers Warranty claims are
reasonably predictable based on historical expenience of failure rates If actual results differ from our estimates, we revise our estimated warranty hability to
reflect such changes Each quarter, we reevaluate our estimales to assess the adequacy of the recorded warranty habihities and adjust the amounts as necessary

Income Taxes — We calculate a provision for income taxes using the asset and hability method, under which deferred tax assets and habilities are recogmized
by idenufying the temporary differences ansing from the different treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes We provide related valuation
allowances for deferred tax assets, where appropriate [n determuming the future tax consequences of events that have been recogmized in our financial
statements or tax returns, judgment 1s required Differences between the anticipated and actual outcomes of these future tax consequences could have a
material tmpact on our consolidated results of operations or financial position Additionally, we use tax planning strategies as a part of our global tax
compliance program Judgments and interpretation of statutes are mherent 1n this process

While we betieve our tax return positions are sustainable, we recogmize tax benefits from uncertain tax positions n the financial statements only when it 1s
more likely than not that the positions will be sustained upon exammation, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the
technical mernits and a consideration of the relevant taxing authority's administrative practices and precedents The determination of income tax expense
related to these positions requires management judgment as well as use of estimates We believe we have provided adequate reserves for all uncertain tax
positions

Loss Contingencies — We are subject to the possibility of vanous losses anising in the ordinary course of business We consider the hikelihood of loss or
impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a Jlabihity, as well as our ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in determuning loss contingencies An
estimated loss contingency 1s accrued when 1t 1s probable that an asset has been unpaired or a hability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be
reasonably estimated We regularly evaluate cwrrent information available to us to determine whether such acceruals should be adjusted and whether new
accruals are required Third parties have n the past asserted, and may 1n the future assert claims, or in1tiate litigation related to exclusive patent, copyright,
and other intellectual property nghts to technologies and related standards that are relevant to us Lf any tnfringement or other intellectual property clarm made
agamst us by any third party 1s successful, or 1f we fail to develop non-infringing technology or license the proprietary nights on commercially reasonable
terms and conditions, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be matenially and adversely affected
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New Accounting Pronouncements

Intangibles- Goodwill and Other — In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued new guidance that will ssmplity how entities test
goodwtll for impairment A fler assessment of certain quahitative factors, 1f it 1s determmuned to be more hikely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit 1s
less than 1ls carrying amount entittes must perform a quantitative analysis of the goodwill impairment test Otherwise, the quantitative test becomes optional
This new guidance 1s effective for us for the first quarter of the fiscal year ending February 1, 2013 Early adoption 1s permitted We do not expect that this
new guidance will impact our Conselidated Financial Statements .
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ITEM 7A — QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to a vanety of risks, ncluding foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and changes in the market value of our investments In the normal
course of business, we employ established policies and procedures to manage these nsks

Foreign Currency Risk

During Fiscal 2012, the principal foreign currencies in which we transacted business were the Euro, Chinese Renmunty, Japanese Yen, Brniish Pound,
Canadian Dollar, and Australian Dollar Our objective 1n managing our exposures to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations 15 to reduce the impact of’
adverse fluctuations associated with foreign currency exchange rate changes on our earnings and cash flows Accordingly, we utihze foreign currency option
contracts and forward contracts to hedge our exposure on forecasted transactions and firm comnmuitments for certain currencies During Fiscal 2012, we hedged
our exposures on more than 20 currencies We monitor our foreign currency exchange exposures to ensure the overall effectiveness of our foreign currency
hedge positions However, there can be no assurance that our foreign currency hedging activities will continue to substantially offset the impact of

fluctuations 1n currency exchange rates on our results of operations and financial position in the future

Based on our foreign currency cash flow hedge instruments outstanding at February 3, 2012, and January 28, 201 I, we estimate a maximum potential one-day
loss n fair vatue of approximately $57 million and $65 million, respectively, using a Value-at-Rusk ( “'VAR") model By using market implied rates and
incorporating volatihity and correlation among the currencies of a portfolio, the VAR model simulates 3,000 randomly generated market prices and calculates
the difference between the fifth percentile and the average as the Value-at-Risk The VAR model 1s a nsk estimation tool and 1s not intended to represent
actual losses i farr value that wall be incurred Addiwonally, as we utilize foreign currency instruments for hedging forecasted and firmly commutted
transactions, a loss 1n fair value for those instruments is generally offset by increases in the value of the underlying exposure

Interest Rate Rish

We also are exposed to interest rate risk related to our debt and investment portfolios and financing recervables We mitigate the nisk related to our structured
financing debt through the use of interest rate swaps to hedge the varability in cash flows related to the nterest rate payments on such debt See Note 6 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “Part 1l — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data™ for more information on our
interest rate swaps

We mitigate the nisks related to our investment portfolio by investing primarily 1n hugh credit quality securties, lumiting the amount that can be invested 1n
any single issuer, and mvesting 1n short -to- intermedsate-tertn investments Based on our investment portfolio and interest rates as of February 3, 2012, a 100
basis pomnt increase or decrease n nterest rates would result in a decrease or increase of approximately $61 mullion in the fair value of our investment
portfolie As of January 28, 2011, a 100 basis point increase or decrease i interest rates would have resulted in a decrease or increase of approximately $4
mullion in the fair value of our investment portfolio The overall increase in our interest rate sensitivity from January 28, 2011, to February 3, 2012, was due to
a shufi to longer-duration mvestments
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and
Shareholders of Delt Inc

In our opinion the consclidated financial statements hsted in the accompanying index present fatrly m all material respects, the financial position of Dell Inc
and 1ts subsidianies (the "Company™) at February 3, 2012 and January 28, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the penod ended February 3, 2012 1n conformuty with accounung principles generally accepted in the United States of Amenca Alsa, i our opimon,
the Company maintained, i all matenal respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 3, 2012, based on critenia established
Internal Controf - Integr ated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsoring Orgamzations of the Treadway Comnussion (COS0O) The Company's
management 1s responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for 1ts assessment of the
effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting. ncluded 1n Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporung appearing under
Item 9A Our responsibility 15 to express opimons on these financial statements and on the Company's 1nternal control over financial reporting based on our
wntegrated audits We conducted our audits 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material missiatement
and whether effective intemal control over financial reporting was mamtained 1n all matenal respects Qur audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
sigmficant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the nisk that a matenal weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed nsk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
constdered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audils provide a reasonable basis for our opinions

As descnbed 1in Note 1, 1n Fiscal 2011 the Company changed the manner 1n whach 1t accounts for variable interest entities and transfers of financial assets and
extinguishments of Liabilities

A company's internal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabality of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company, (n) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only 1n accordance with authonzations of management and directors of the company, and (11} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements

Because of 1ts inherent limitations, nternal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future penods are subject to the nsk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 1n conditions, or that the degree of compliance
wath the poltcies or procedures may deteriorate

s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Austin Texas
March £3, 2012
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DELL INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENIS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(in mullions)

February 3, January 28,

2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assels
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,852 $ 13913
Short-term 10y estments 966 452
Accounts receivable, net 6,476 6,493
Short-term financing receivables, net 3,327 3,643
Inventones, net 1,404 1,301
Other current assets 3,423 3,219
Total current assets 29,448 29 021
Propertv plant and equipment, net 2,124 1,953
Long-tern investments 3 404 704
Long-term financing receivables, net 1,372 799
Goodwill 5,838 4,365
Purchased intangible assets, net 1,857 1,495
Other non-current assets 490 262
Total assets § 44,533 $ 38,599
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term debt $ 287 § 851
Accounts payable 11,656 11,293
Accrued and other 3,934 4,181
Short-term deferred services revenue 3,544 3,158
Total current habihties 22,001 19,483
Long-term debt 6,387 5,146
Long-term deferred services revenue 3,836 3,518
Other non-current liabilities 3,392 2,686
Total habitiies 35,616 30,833

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders' equity

Common stock and capital in excess of $ 01 par value, shares authorized 7 000, shares 1ssued 3,390 and 3,369, 12,187 11,797
respectively, shares outstanding 1,761 and 1,918 respectively

Treasury stock at cost 1,154 and 976 shares, respectively (31,445} (28,704}

Retained earmings 28 236 24,744

Accumulated other comprehensive loss en (71)
Total stockholders equity 8917 7,766
Total Liabilities and stockholders equity % 44,533 $ 38,599

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Net revenue
Products
Services, including software related
Total net revenue
Cost of net revenue
Products
Services, including soflware related
Total cost of net revenue
Gross margin
Operanng expenses
Selling, general, and admuinistrative
Research, development, and engincering
Tolal operating expenses
Operating income
Interest and other, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income
Earnings per share
Basic

Diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

DELL INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENI1S OF INCOME
{1n milions, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
$ 49,906 50,002 43,697
12,165 11,492 9,205
62,071 61,494 52902
39,689 42,068 37,534
8,571 8,030 6,107
48,260 50,098 43,641
13.811 11,396 9,261
: 8,524 7,302 6,465
856 661 624
9,380 7.963 7,089
4.43) 3,433 2,172
(190 (83) (148)
4,240 3,350 2024
748 715 591
$ 3,492 2,635 1,433
190 136 073
3 188 135 073
1,838 1,544 1,954
1,853 1,955 1962

The accompanying notes are an integrai pan of these consolidated financial statements
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DELL INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(1n millions)

Fiscal Ycar Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 5 3492 5 2635 § 1,433
Adjustments Lo reconcile net income to net cash provided by eperating activities

Depreciation and amortization 936 970 852
Stock-based compensation expense 362 332 312
Effects of exchange rate changes on monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign currencies (5) (4} 39
Deferred income taxes 19 (45) (52)
Provision for doubtful accounts — including financing recervables 234 382 429
Other i 21 26 102
Changes in assets and habiliies net of effects from acquisitions
Accounts receivable (53) (707) (660)
Financing receivables (372) (709) (1,085)
inventories (52) (248) (183)
Other assets (28) 516 (225)
Accounts payable 327 (151) 2,833
Deferred services revenue 720 551 135
Accrued and other liabiluttes (74) 421 (44)
Change 1n cash from operating activities 5,527 3,96% 3,906

Cash flows from 1nvesting activities

[nvestments

Purchases (4,656) (1 360) (1.383)
Maturities and sales 1,435 1,358 1,538
Capital expendutures (675) (444) (367}
Proceeds from sale of facilities and land 14 18 16
Purchase of financing receivables — (430) —
Collections on purchased financing receivables 278 69 —
Acquisiions, net of cash received (2562) (376) (3.613)
Change 1n cash from investing activities (6,1658) (1,165) (3,809)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repurchases of common stock 2,717 (800) —
Issuance of common stock under employee plans 44 12 2
Issuance (repayment) of commercial paper {(matunity 90 days or less), net 635 (176) 76
Proceeds from debt 4,050 3,069 2,058
Repayments of debt (1,435) (1.630) (122)
Other 4 2 (2}
Change n cash from financing activities 517 477 2,012
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1 3) 174
Change in cash and cash equivalents 61 3,278 2,283
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 13,913 10,635 8.352
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 13852 8§ 13913 $ 10,635
Income tax paid $ 408 ) 435 8 434
Interest paid $ %78 188§ 151

The accompanying notes arc an tategral part of these consolidated financial statements
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DELL INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS” EQUITY
(in millions)

Comman Stock and Capital in Excess of Par b alue

Treasury Stock Acc lated Other Comprehenst
Income/(Lass)
Tssued Shares 12 Amount Shares Amount Retained Total
Earnings

Balances at January 30, 2009 3,338 s 11,189 919 $(27,904) $20,677 § 309 $ 4,271
Net income — — — — 1,433 — 1,433
Change in net unreahized gain or loss on — — — — — ] 6
investments net of taxes
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — - —_ - 29) (29}
Change 1n net unrealized gain or loss on — — — — — (323) (323)
derivative instruments, net of taxes
Total comprehensive meome — — — — — —_ 1.087
Stock 1ssuances under employee plans 13 3 — — — — 3
and other®
Stock-based compensation related — 312 — — — — 312
Net tax shortfall from employee stock — (32) —_ —_ -_— —_ (32)
plans

Balances at January 29, 2010 3,351 11,472 919  (27,904) 22,110 3N 5,641
Net income — — — — 2,635 — 2,635
Adjustment to consolidate vanable —_ —_ —_ — n —_ N
interest entities
Change 1n net unreahized gain or loss on — — — — — (1) )
investments, net of taxes
Foreign currency translation adjustments — —_ — — — 79 79
Change 1n net unrealized gan or loss on —_ —_ —_ — —_— (112) (112)
denivative instruments, net of taxes
Total comprehensive income — —_ —_ —_ — — 2,600
Stock 1ssuances under employee plans i8 7 — — —_ — 7
and other®
Repurchases of common stock — — 57 (300) _ — {800)
Stock-based compensation related — 332 — — — — 332
Net tax shortfall from employee stock — (14) —_ — —_ — (14)
plans

Balances at January 28, 2011 3,369 11,797 976 (28,704) 24,744 (71) 7,766
Net income — —_ — — 3,492 o 3,492
Change 1n net unrealized gan or loss on — — — —_ —_ 13 13
nvestments, net of taxes
Foreign currency translatton adjustments — — — - — (74) (74)
Change in net unreahzed gain or loss on — — — — — 71 71
derivative instruments, net of taxes
Total comprehensine mcome — — — — — - 3,502
Stock ssuances under employee plans 21 33 — - — — 33
and othert®
Repurchases of common stock — _ 178 (2,741) — — (2,741)
Stock-based compensation related — 365 — — — — 365
Net tax shortfall from employee stock — {8) — — — — (8)
plans

Balances at February 3, 2012 3,390 S 12,187 1,154 $(31,445) $28,236 S (1) $ 8,917

() [ssucd shares include 475 million sharcs of common stock that were 1ssued o a wholly-owned subsidiary dunng Fuscal 2007 As these shares are held by a wholly-owned subsidiary they
arc not included 1n outstanding shares in our Consolidated Financial Statements
®) Seack 1ssuance under employee plans 15 net of shares held for employced taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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NOIESTO CONSOLIDA1ED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTL | — DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business — Dell Inc  a Delaware corporation (both individually and together with 1ts consohidated subsidianes, “Dell™), offers a broad range
of technology solutions, including servers and networking products storage products services, software and peripherals, mobulity products, and desktop PCs
Dell sells 1ts products and services directly to customers through dedicated sales representatives, telephone-based sales, and online sales and through a variety
of other sales distribution channels Dell's business segments are Large Enterpnse, Public, Small and Medium Busingss ("SMB™), and Consumer References
to Commercial business refer to Large Enterpnse Public and SMB

Fiscal Year — Dell's fiscal year 15 the 52 or 53 week penod ending on the Friday nearest January 31 The fiscal year ended February 3 2012 included 53
weeks, while the fiscal years ended January 28, 2011 and January 29, 2010 included 52 weeks

Principles of Consolidurion — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Dell Inc and 1ts wholly-owned subsichares and
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 1n the Urnited States of America ( GAAP™) All significant intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with GAAP requires the use of management's estimates These esimates are
subjective 1n nature and involve judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and habilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and habtlities at fiscal
year-end, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the fiscat year Actual results could differ from those estimates

Cash and Cush Equivalents -— Al ighly hqund investments, including credit card receivables due from banks, with onginal maturinies of 90 days or less at
date of purchase, are reported at fmr value and are considered to be cash equivalents All other investments not considered to be cash equivalents are
separately categonzed as investments

Investments — Dell's investments are pnimarity 1n debt secuniies which are classified as available-for-sale and are reported a1 fair value (based pnimanly on
quoted prices and market observable inpuis) using the specific identification method Unrealized gatns and losses, net of taxes, are reported as a component of
stockholders’ equity Realized gains and losses on invesiments are included in Interest and other, net An impairment loss will be recogmzed and will reduce
an investment's carrying amount to 1ts far value when a dechine 1n the fair value of an individual security below 1ts cost or carrying value ts determined to be
other than temporary

Dell reviews its investment portfolte quarterly to determine 1f any investment 1s other than temporarily impaired Dell determines an inpairment 1s other than
temporary when there 1s intent to sell the security, 1t 1s more likely than not that the secunty will be required to be sold before recovery 1n value or 1t 1s not
expected to recover its entire amortized cost basis ( ‘credit-related loss™) However, 1f Dell does not expect to seli a debt secunity, 1t still evaluates expected
cash flows to be received and determines 1f a credit-related loss exists [n the event of a credit-related loss, onty the amount of impairment associated with the
credit-related loss 1s recognized 1n earnings Amounts relating to factors other than credit-related losses are recorded as a component of stockholders” equuty
See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for addittonal information

Allowance for Doubiful Accounts — Dell recogmzes an allowance for losses on accounts receivable 1n an amount equal to the estimated probable losses net
of recoveries The allowance 15 based on an analysis of historical bad debt expentence current recervables aging, and expected future write-offs, as well as an
assessment of specific identifiable customer accounts considered at sk or uncollectible The expense associated with the allowance for doubtful accounts 1s
recogmzed m Selling, general, and admumstrative expenses

Financing Recervables —

Financing recewvables consist of customer recervables and residual interest Customer receivables include revolving loans and fixed-term leases and loans
resulung pnmanly from the sale of Dell products and services Based on how Dell assesses nisk and determines the appropriate allowance levels, Dell has two
porifolio segments (1) fixed-term leases and loans and (2) revolving loans Portfolto segments are further segregated into classes based on operating segment
and whether the receivable was owned by Dell since its inception or was purchased subsequent to its inception  Financing reccivables are presented net of the
allowance for losses

Dell retains a residual interest in equipment leased under 1ts fixed-term lease programs The amount of the residual interest 1s established at the inception of
the lease based upon estimates of the value of the equipment at the end of the lease term using historical studies, industry data, and future value-at-nsk
demand valuation methods On a quarierly
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NOTES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {Continued)

basis, Dell assesses the carrying amount of 1ts recorded residual values for impairment Anticipated declines in specific tuture residual values that are
considered to be other-than-temporary are recorded currently m carmngs

Alflow ance for Financing Recervables {osses

Dell recogmizes an allowance for losses on financing receivables in an amount equal 1o the probable losses net of recoveries The allowance for losses 15
generally determined at the aggregate portfolio level based on a variety of factors, including historical and anticipated experience, past due recervables,
recervable type and customer nisk profile Customer account principal and interest are charged to the allowance for losses when an account 1s deemed ta be
uncallectible or generally when the aceount 15 180 days dehinquent While Dell does not generally place financing recervables on non-accrual status during the
delimguency penod, acerued interest 15 included in the allowance for loss calculation and Dell 1s therefore adequately reserved in the event of charge off
Recoveries on receivables previously charged off as uncollectble are recorded to the aflowance for financing receivables losses The expense associated with
the allowance for financing receivables losses 1s recogmzed as cost of net revenue Both fixed and revolving receivable loss rates are affected by
macroeconomu¢ conditions, ncluding the level of GDP growth, unemployment rates the level of commercial capilal equipment investment, and the credit
quality of the borrower

Asset Securttization

Dell enters 1nto secuntizalion transactions (o transfer certain financmg receivables 1o special purpose entities Dunng Fiscal 2011 Dell adopted the new
accounting gutdance that removes the concept of a qualifying special purpose entity and removes the exception from applying vanable interest entity
accounting The adoption of the new guidance requires an entity to perform an ongoing analysts to determine whether it has a controlling financial 1nterest in
1ts special purpose entities As a result of this analysis, Dell has deterrmined that 1t has a controliing financial nterest 1n 1ts special purpose entities, and
therefore, consolidated them into Dell's Consohidated Statements of Financtal Position as of February 3, 2012 and January 28, 2011 The asset secuntizations
1n these special purpose entities are being accounted for as secured borrowings See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for addihional
information on the 1mpact of the consolidation

Inventottes

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis

Property Plaw and Equipment -~ Property, plant, and equipment are carried at depreciated cost Depreciation 1s provided using the straighi-lme method over
the estimated economic lives of the assets, which range from ten to thirty years for buildings and two to five years for all other assets Leasehold

improvements are amortized over the shorter of five years or the lease term Gains or losses related to retirements or disposition of fixed assets are recognized
1n the penod incurred Dell capitalizes eligible mternal-use software development costs incurred subsequent to the completion of the preliminary project stage
Development costs are amortized over the shorter of the expected useful Life of the software or five years Costs associated with maintenance and minor
enhancements to the features and functionality of Dell's website are expensed as incurred

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — Dell reviews long-lived assets for impaiment when circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable based on the undiscounted future cash fiows of the asset 1f the carrying amount of the asset 1s determined not to be recoverable, a wnie-down to
fair value 1s recorded Fair values are determined based on quoted market values, discounted cash flows, or external appraisals, as applicable Dell reviews
long-hved assets for impairment at the individual asset or the asset group level for which the lowest level of independent cash flows can be 1dentified

Busimess Combinations — Dell accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, and accordingly, the assets and habilities of
the acquired business are recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition The excess of the purchase price over the estimated tair values 1s recorded as
goodwill Any changes in the estimated fair values of the net assels recorded for acquisitions pnor to the finahzation of more detmiled analysis, but not to
exceed one year from the date of acquisition, will change the amount of the purchase prices allocable to goodwill  All acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred and m-process research and development costs are recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset and assessed for impairment thereafter
until completion, at which point the asset 1s amortized over 1ts expected useful hife Any restructuning charges associated with a busmess combination are
expensed subsequent to the acquisition date The results of operations of acquired businesses are mncluded n the Consohdated Financial Statements from the
acquisition date

Intangible Assets Including Goodw tli— ldentifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful hives They are generally
amortized on a non-straight-line approach based on the associated projected cash flows 1n order to match the amortization pattern to the pattem in which the
economic benefits of the assets are expected to be consumed Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment 1f indicators of potential impairment exist
Goodwill and indefimite-lived mtangible assets are tested for impaiment on an annual basis i the second fiscal quarter, or sooner 1 an wndicator of
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umparrment occurs

Fareign Currency Translanon — The majonty of Dell's international sales are made by international subsidianes, most of which have the U S dollar as their
functional currency Dell's subsidiaries that do not have the U S dollar as their functional currency translate assets and habihities at current rates of exchange
m effect at the balance sheet date Revenue and expenses from these international subsidiaries are translated using the monthly average exchange rates in
effect for the period in which the items occur These translations resulled in cumulative foreign currency transtation gatns (losses) of $(35) million $39
mullion, and $(40) mutlion as of February 3, 2012, January 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010, respectively and are included as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) 1n stockholders equity

Local currency transactions of international substdianies that have the U S dollar us the functional currency are remeasured into U S dollars using current
rates of exchange for monetary assets and liabilities and historical rates of exchange for non-monetary assets and habihties Gains and losses from
remeasurement of monetary assets and habilities are included n Interest and other, net See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information

Hedging Instruments — Dell uses denivative financial instruments, primanly forwards, options, and swaps, to hedge certain foreign currency and interest rate
exposures The relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking hedge
transactions, are formally documented Dell does not use derivatives for speculative purposes

All denvative instruments are recogmzed as either assets or liabiliies on the Consolidated Statements of Financral Position and dare measured at fair value
Hedge accounting 1s apphed based upon the entena cstablished by accounting guidance for denvative instruments and hedging activities Denvatives are
assessed for hedge effectiveness both at the onset of the hedge and at regular intervals throughout the hife of the derivative Any hedge ineffectiveness 1s
recogmzed currently 1n camings as a component of Interest and other, net Dell's hedge portfolio inciudes derivatives designated as both cash flow and fair
value hedges

For denvative instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges, hedge neffectiveness 1s measured by companng the cumulative change in the fair value of
the hedge contract with the cumulative change 1n the fair value of the hedged item, both of which are based on forward rates Dell records the effective poriion
of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument 1in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) {(“OCI’ ), as a separate component of stockholders' equity
and reclassifies the gain or loss 1nto earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction 1s recogmized 1n earnings

For denvatives that are designated as faiwr value hedges, hedge ineffectiveness 1s measured by calculating the penodic change n the fair value of the hedge
contract and the periodic change 1n the fair value of the hedged item To the extent that these fair value changes de not fully offsct each other, the difference s
recorded as ieffectiveness 1n earmungs as a component of Interest and other, net

For denvatives that are not designated as hedges or do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment, Dell recogntzes the change in the instrument’s farr value
currently 1n eamings as a component of interest and other, net

Cash flows from demvative instruments are presented n the same category on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as the cash flows from the
underlying hedged items Sce Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of Dell’s denivative financial instrument actisities

Revenue Recognion — Net revenues mnclude sates of hardware, software and penpherals, and services Dell recognizes revenue for these products and
services when 1t 1s realized or realizable and earned Revenue 1s considered reahized and earned when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred or services have been rendered, Dell's fee to its customer 15 fixed and determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably
assured

Dell classifies revenue and cost of revenue related to stand-alone software sold with Post Contract Support ("PCS™) i the same line 1tem as services on the
Consolidated Statements of Income Services revenue and cost of services revenue captions on the Conschdated Statements of Income include Dell's services
and software from Dell's software and peripherals product category This software revenue and related costs include software license fees and related PCS that
1s sold separately from computer systems through Dell's software and penipherals product category
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Products

Revenue from the sale of products 1s recognized when title and nisk of loss passes to the customer Delivery 1s considered complete when products have been
shipped 1o Dell's customer, title and risk of loss has transferred to the customer, and customer acceplance has been satisfied Customer acceptance 15 satisfied
1f acceptance 1s obtamned from the customer, if all acceptance provisions lapse, or 1f Dell has evidence that all acceptance provisions have been satisfied

Delt records reductions Lo revenue for estunated customer sales returns, rebates, and certain other customer incentive programs  These reductions (o revenue
are made based upon reasonable and rehiable estimates that are determined by histoncal experience, contractual terms, and current conditions The pnmary
factors aftecting Dell's accrual for estimated customer retuns include estimated return rates as well as the number of unis shipped that have a night of retum
that has not expired as of the balance sheet date If returns cannot be reliably estinated, revenue 1s not recogmzed untl a reliable estimate can be made or the
return right lapses

De!l sells uts products directly to customers as well as through other distnbution channels, such as retailers, distributors, and resellers Dell recogmizes revenue
on these sales when the reseller has economic substance apart from Dell, any credit risk has been 1dentified and quantified, title and nisk of loss has passed to
the sales channel, the fee pard to Dell 1s not contingent upon resale or payment by the end user, and Detl has no further obligations related to bninging about
resale or delivery

Sales through Dell's distribution channels are pnmanly made under agreements allowing for hmited nights of return, price protection, rebates, and marketing
development funds Dell has generally hmuted return nghis through contractual caps or has an established selling history for these armangements Theretore,
there 15 sufficient data to establish reasonable and reliable esimates of returns for the majonty of these sales To the extent price protection or return rights are
not limited and a rehiable estimate cannot be made all of the revenue and related costs are deferred unul the product has been sold to the end-user or the nghts
expire Dell records estimated reducttons to revenue or an expense for distribution channel programs at the later of the offer or the ime revenue 1s recogmzed

Dell defers the cost of shipped products awaiting revenue recognition untij revenue 1s recognized

Services

Services mnclude transactional, outsourcing and project-based offerings Revenue 1s recogmed for services contracts as eamed, which 15 generally ona
straight-line basis over the term of the contract or on a proportional performance basis as the services are rendered and Dell's obligations are fulfilled

Revenue from time and materials or cost-plus contracts is recogmzed as the services are performed Revenue from fixed price contracts 1s recognized on a
straight hine basts, unless revenue 1s eamed and obligations are fulfilled 1n a different pattern These service contracts may include provisions for cancellation,
termination, refunds, or service level adjustments These contract provisions would not have a sigmificant impact on recognized revenue as Dell generally
recognizes revenue for these contracts as the scrvices are performed

For sales of extended warranties with a separate contract price, Dell defers revenue equal to the separately stated price Revenue associated with undelivered
elements 1s deferred and recorded when delivery occurs or services are provided Revenue from extended warranty and service contracts, for which Dell is
obhigated to perform 1s recorded as deferred revenue and subsequently recogmized over the term of the contract on a straight-line basis

Revenue from sales of third-party extended warranty and service contracts or software PCS, for which Dell 1s not obligated to perform, and for which Dell
does not meel the critena for gross revenue recognition under the gudance of the Financiat Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB"), 15 recognized on a net
basis All other revenue 1s recognized on a gross basis

Software

Dell recognizes revenue 1n accordance with industry specific software accounting guidance for all software and PCS that are not essential 10 the functionahty
of the hardware Accounting for software that 1s essential to the functionality of the hardware 15 accounted for as specified below under ‘Multiple
Deliverables Dell has established vendor specific objective evidence ("VSOE") on a hmuted basis for certain sofiware offenngs When Dell has not
established VSOE to support a separation of the software hcense and PCS elements, the revenue and related costs are generally
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recognized over the term of the agreement

In September 2009 the FASB issued revised gundance, which excluded sales of tangible products that contain essential software elements from the scope of
software revenue recogniion gunidance Accordingly, beginning n the first quarter of Fiscal 201 1, certain Dell storage products were removed from the scope
of software revenue recogmtion guidance Prior 1o the new guidance, Dell established fair value for PCS for these products based on VSOE and used the
residual method to allocate revenue to the delivered elements Under the revised guidance, the revenue for what was previously deemed PCS 1s now
considered part of a multiple deliverable arrangement As such, any discount 1s allocated to ail elements based on the relative selhing price of both delivered
and undelivered elements The impact of applying this new guidance was not matenal to Dell's Consolidated Financial Staternents for Fiscal 2011 or 2010

Multiple Deliverables
Dell's multple deliverable arrangements generally include hardware products that are sold with essenual software or services such as extended warranty,

installation, maintenance, and other senvices contracts Dell's service conlracts may include a combination of services armangements, mcluding deployment,
assel recovery recycling, IT outsourcing consulting, applications development, apphcations maintenance, and business process services The nature and
terms of these muluple deliverable arrangements will vary based on the customized needs of Dell's customers Each of these deliverables 1n an arrangement
typically represents a separate unit of accounting

In the first quarter of Fiscal 2011, based on new guidance, Dell began altocating revenue to all deliverables in a muttiple-element arrangement based on the
relative selling prnce of that deliverable The hierarchy to be used to determine the selling price of a deliverable 1s (1)} VSOE, (2) third-party evidence of
selling price (“TPE ), and (3) best estimate of the selling price ( *ESP"} A majonty of Dell product and service offerings are sold on a stand-alone basis
Because selling price 1s generally available based on stand-alone sales, Dell has limited application of TPE, as determined by companison of pricing for
products and services to the prncing of sumilar products and services as offered by Dell or its competitors in stand-alone sales to similarly situated cusiomers
As new products are 1ntroduced in future penods, Dell may be requnred to use TPE or ESP, depending on the specific facts at the ume

For Fiscal 2010, pursuant to the previous gwidance for Revente Arrangements with Multiple Delrver ables , Dell allocated revenue from multiple element
arrangements to the elements based on the relative fair value of each element, which was generally based on the relative sales price of each element when sold
separately The adoption of the new gutdance 1n the first quarner of Fiscal 2011 did not change the manner 1n which Dell accounts for 1ts multiple deliverable
arrangements as Dell did not use the residual method for the majority of 1ts offerings and uts services ofterings are generally sold on a stand-alone basts where
evidence of selling price 15 available

Other

Dell records revenue from the sale of equipment under sales-type leases as product revenue i an amount equal to the present value of mimmum lease
payments at the inception of the lease Sales-type leases also produce financing tncome, which 1s included 1n net revenue in the Consolidated Statements of
Income and 1s recogmzed at consistent rates of return over the lease term Dell also offers qualified customers revolving credit hines for the purchase of
products and services offered by Dell Financing income attnbutable to these revolving loans 1s recognized 1n net revenue on an accrual basis

Dell reports revenue net of any revenue-based 1axes assessed by govemmental authorities that are imposed on and concurrent with specific revenue-preducing
transactions

Standard Warranty Liabilities — Dell records warranty liabilities for 1ts standard mited warranty at the time of sale for the estimated costs that may be
incurred under its Limited warranty The liabihity for standard warranties 1s included 1n accrued and other current and other non-current Liabilities on the
Censolhdated Siatements of Financial Posiion The specific warranty terms and conditions vary depending upon the product sold and the country 1n which
Dell does business but generally includes technical support, parts, and labor over a period ranging from one to three years Fa ctors that affect Dell's warranty
ltabihity include the number of installed unuts currently under warranty, historical and anuicipated rates of warranty claims on those umits, and cost per claim to
sausfy Dell's warranty obligation The anticipated rate of warranty claims 1s the pnmary factor impacting the estimated warranty obligation The other factors
are less significant due to the fact that the average remaining aggregate warranty period of the covered mstalled base 15 approximately 15 months, repair parts
are generally already 1n stock or available al pre-determined prices, and labor rates are generally arranged at pre-cstablished amounts with service providers
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Warranty claims are relatively predictable based on histonical expentence of fatlure rates 1f actual results differ from the estimates, Dell revises its estmated
warranty liability Ench quarter, Dell reevaluates 1ts estimates to assess the adequacy of 1ts recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary

Deferred Services Revenue — Deferred services revenue pnmanly represents amounts recerved 1n advance for extended warranty sales and services contracts
Revenue from the sale of extended warranties and services contracts 1s recogmzed over the term of the contract or when the service 1s completed and the
costs associated with these contracis are recognized as incurred As of February 3 2012, and January 28, 2011, the majonty of deferred services revenue 1s
related to extended wamanhes

Vendor Rebates — Delt may recewve consideration from vendors 1n the normal course of business Certain of these funds are rebaies of purchase price paid
and others are related to reimbursement of costs incurred by Dell to sell the vendor's products Dell recogmizes a reduction of cost of goods sold and mventory
if the funds are a reduction of the price of the vendor's products If the consideration 1s a reirmbursement of costs incurred by Dell to sell or develop the
vendor's products, then the consideration 1s classified as a reduction of that cost in the Consolidated Statements of Income, most ofien operating expenses In
order 1o be recognized as 2 reduction of operating expenses, the reimbursement must be for a specific, incremental identifiable cost incurred by Dell 1n selling
the vendor's products or services

Loss Contingencies — Dell 1s subject to the possibility of various losses arising in the ordinary course of business Dell considers the likehihood of loss or
impaimment of an asset or the mcurrence of a lability, as well as Dell's ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss, 1n determining loss contingencies An
estimated loss contingency 1s accrued when it1s probable that an asset has been imparred or a hiability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be
reasonably estimated Dell regularly cvaluates current information available to determine whether such accruals should be adjusted and whether new accruals
are required

Shipping Costs — Dell's shipping and handling costs are included 1n cost of sales in the Consolidated Stalements of Income

Sellmg, General and Admwnsh ative — Selling expenses include rtems such as sales salares and commussions marketing and advertising costs, and
contractor services Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and were 3860 million, $730 milhon and $619 million, dunng Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and
Fiscal 2010, respectively Advertising costs are included in Selhing, general, and adminmisiraive 1n the Consolidated Statements of Income General and
administrative cxpenses include items for Dell's admimstrauve functions, such as Finance, Legal, Human Resources, and Information Technology support
These functions mclude costs for items such as salaries, maintenance and supplies, insurance, depreciation expense, and allowance for doubtful accounts

Rescarch Development and Engmeermg Costs — Research, development, and engineenng costs are expensed as incurred Research, development, and
engineering expenses primarily (nclude payroli and headcount related costs, contractor fees, infrastructure costs, and administrative expenses directly related
to research and development suppon

Income Taves — Deferred tax assets and habilities are recorded based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse Dell calculates a provision for income taxes using the asset and
hability method, under which deferred tax assets and habilities are recognized by 1dentifying the temporary differences ansing trom the different treatment of’
1tems for tax and accounting purposes In determining the future tax consequences of events that have been recogmized 1n the financial statements or tax
returns, judgment and interpretation of statutes are required Additionally, Dell uses tax planning strategtes as a part of its global tax comphance program
Judgments and interpretation of statutes are inherent in this process

The accounting guidance for uncertamnties i income 1ax prescnbes a comprehensive model for the financial statement recognition, measurement,
presentation, and disclosure of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken 1n 1ncome tax returns Dell recognizes a tax benefit from an uncenamn tax
position m the financial statements only when 1t 1s more likely than not that the posiion will be sustained upon examimanon, inctuding resolution of any
related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical menits and a consideration of the relevant taxing authonty's admimstrative practices and
precedenls

Earmings Per Share — Basic earmings per share 1s based on the weighted-average etfect of all common shares issued and outstanding and 1s calculated by
dividing net income by the weighted-average shares outstanding dunng the period Diluted earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing net income by the
weighted-average number of common shares used n the basic earmings per share calculation plus the number of common sharcs that would be 1ssued
assuming exercise or conversion of all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding  Dell excludes equity instruments from the calculation of diluted
earnings per share 1f the effect of including such 1nstruments 1s anti-dilutive See Note 12 of the Notes to Censolidated Financial Statements for further
mnformation on earmings per share
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Stock-Based Compensation — Dell measures stock-based compensation expense for all share-based awards granted based on the estimated fair value of those
awards at grant date  The cost of restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock umits 1s deterrmined using the tair market value of Dell's
common stock on the date of grant  Dell generally estimates the fair value of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes valuation model The
compensation costs of stock options, restricted stock units and awards with a chff vesting feature are recogmzed net of any estimated forfeitures on a sirmght-
Iime basis over the employee requisite service period Compensation cost for performance-based awards 1s recognized on a graded accelerated basis net of
estumated forfeitures over the requisite service period when achievement of the performance conditions are considered probable Forfeiture rates are

estimated at grant date based on historical expenence and adjusted 1n subsequent periods for differences in actual forfeilures from those estimates  See

Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included for further discussion of stock-based compensation

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses — In July 2010, the FASB 1ssued a new pronouncement that requires enhanced
disclosures regarding the nature of credit nsk inherent in an enuty's portfolio of financing receivables, how that risk 15 analyzed, and the changes and reasons
for those changes 1n the allowance for credit losses These new disclosures require information for both the financing receivables and the related allowance for
credit losses at more disaggregated levels Dhsclosures related to information as of the end of a reporting period became effective for Dell in Fiscal 201 1
Specific disclosures regarding activiies that occur duning a reporting penod were required for Dell beginning n the first quarter of Fiscal 2012 As these
changes relate only to disclosures, they did not impact Dell's Consolidated Financial Statements

Fan Valve Measuremenrs — In May 2011, the FASB i1ssucd new guidance on fair value measurements, which clanfies how a principal market 1s determuned,
how and when the valuation premise of highest and best use applies, and how premiums and discounts are applied, as well as requuning new disclosures This
new puidance 1s effective for Dell for the fiscal year ending February | 2013 Early apphication 1s not permitted Other than requinng additional disclosures,
Dell does not expect that this new guidance will impact Dell's Consohdated Financial Statements

Comprehensive Income — In June 201 1, the FASB 1ssued new guidance on presentation ot comprehensive income The new gindance eliminates the option
to present components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity and requires an entity to present either one
continuous statement of net income and other comprehensive income or two separate, but consecutive statements This new guidance relates only to
presentation Dell will present a separate statement of comprehensive income beginning in the first quarter of the fiscal year ending February |, 2013

Intangibles- Goodwili and Other — In September 2011, the FASB 1ssued new guidance that will ssmplify how entities test goodwill for impairment After
assessment of certain qualitative factors, 1l 1t 1s determined to be more hikely than not that the fair value of a reporting unut 1s less than its carrying amount,
entities must perform a quantitative analysis of the goodwill impaimment test Otherwise, the quantitative test becomes optional This new guidance 1s eftective
for Dell for the first quarter of the fiscal year ending February 1 2013 Early adoption 1s permutted Dell does not expect that this new gmidance will impact
Dell's Consolidated Financial Statements

Disclosures about Offsetiing Assets and Liabiiites — In December 2011, the FASB 1ssued new gudance that will enhance disclosure requirements about the
nature of an entity’s right to offset and related arrangements associated with 1ts financial instruments and denvative instruments This new gwdance requires
the disclosure of the gross amounts subject to rghts of offset, amounts offsel in accordance with the accounting standards {ollowed, and the related net
exposute This new gmdance will be effective for Dell for the first quanter of the fiscal year ending January 31, 2014 Early adoption 1s not permitted Other
than requinng additional disclosures Dell does not expect that this new guidance will impact Dell's Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTE 2 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMFNI S

The following table presents Dell's merarchy for 1ts assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurming basis as of February 3 2012 and January 28,
2011

Febryary 3,2012 January 28, 2011
[evel 1™ Level 2 1eveld Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 ‘1 otal
Quoted Sigmificant Significant Quoted Slgmificant Significant
Prices Other Unobservable Prices Other Unobservable
In Active Observable Inputs in Active Observable Inputs
Markets lor laputs Markets for 1nputs
Identical [dentical
Assets Assets
(n mullions)
Assats
Cash equivalents
Money market funds 5 8370 § — 5 — $ 8370 § 6,261 § — — 3 6,261
Commercial paper — 2,011 — 2011 —_ 2945 — 2945
US corporate — 5 — 3 — —_ — —_
U S government and agencies — — — — — 1,699 — 1,699
Debt secunhies
US government and agencies — — — — _ 79 — 79
Non- U S government and agencies — 94 —_ 94 — 46 — 46
Commercial paper —_— 434 — 434 — — — _
US corporate — 2,668 — 2,668 —_ 464 32 496
International corporate _ 1,055 — 1 055 —_ 411 — 411
Equity and other securities 2 105 — 107 — 109 — 09
Denvative instruments —_ 140 — 140 —_ 27 —_ 27
Total assets $ 8372 § 6512 § — 5 14884 § 6261 § 5780 § 32 $ 12073
Liabilities
Derivative instruments $ — 3 17 % — $ 17 3% — 28 § — ) 28
Tolal habilities $ — % 17 3% — 3 17 3 - 28 3 —_ $ 28

1 Dell did ot transfer any secuntics between levels duning the twelve months ended February 3 2012
The following sechion describes the valuation methodologies Dell uses to measure financial instruments at fair value

Cash Equivalents — The majority of Dell's cash equivalents m the above table consists of money market funds, commercial paper including corporate and
asset-backed commercial paper, and U § government and agencies, ali with onginal maturittes of 90 days or less and valued at fair value The valuations of
these secunties are based on quoted pnices 1n active markets for identical assets when available, or pricing models whereby alt significant inputs are
observable or can be derved from or corroborated by observable market data Dell reviews secunity pricing and assesses iquidity on a quarterly basis

Debt Securities — The majonity of Dell's debt secunties consists of various fixed income secunities such as U S corporate, international corporate, and
commercial paper Valuation 1s based on pricing models whereby all significant puts, including benchmark ytelds, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes,
1ssue spreads, benchmark secunties, bids, ofters and other market related data, are observable or can be denved from or corroborated by observable market
data for substantially the full term of the asset Inputs are documented i accordance with the fair value measurements hierarchy Dell reviews secunty pricing
and assesses hquidity on a quarterly basis The Level 3 position as of January 28, 2011, represented a convertible debt secunty that Dell was unable to
corroborale with observable market data The investment was valued at cost plus accrued interest as this was management's best estimate of fair value Due to
events occurnng 1n Fiscal 2012 the investment was determined to be fully tmpaired and 1ts cost basis reduced to zero See Note 3 of the Notes to
Consolidated Fimancial Statements for addinonal informaton about investiments
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Equuty and Other Securitics — The mayority of Dell's investments 1n equity and other secunties consists of various mutual funds held 1 Dell's Deferred
Compensation Plan The valuation of these securities 1s based on pricing models whereby all sigmificant inputs are observable or can be derived from or
corroborated by observable market data The Level | posiion consists of equity investments which began trading during Fiscal 2012 The valuations are
based on quoted prices 1n active markets These investments were previously accounted for under the cost method

Derwvanive Instruments — Dell's denivative financial instruments consist pnmanly of foreign currency forward and purchased option contracts and interest
rate swaps The fair value of the portfolio 1s deterrmned using valuation models based on market observable inputs, including interest rate curves, forward and
spot pnces for currencies, and unphed volatiities  Credit nsk s factored into the fair value calculation of Dell's dervauve instrument portfolio  For interest
rate demvative instruments, credit risk 1s determuned at the contract level with the use of credit default spreads of either Dell. when 1o a net hability posttion,
or the relevant counterparty, when in a net asset position  For foreign exchange derivative instruments, credit nsk 1s determuned 1n a similar manner, except
that the credit default spread 1s applied based on the net position of each counterparty with the use of the appropnate credit default spreads See Note 6 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of Dell's denvative financial instrument activities

Assets and Liabilities Measur ed at Fawr Valve on a Nom ecin s ing Basts — Certain assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurming basis and therefore are
not mcluded 1n the recurring fair value table above These assels consist pnmanly of invesiments accounted for under the cost method and non-financial
assets such as goodwill and intangible assets Investments accounted for under the cost method included in equity and other secunties, approximated $12
million and 315 milhon, on February 3 2012, and January 28 2011, respectively Goodwill and intangible assets are measured at fair value imtially and
subsequently when there 1s an indicator of imparment and the impairment 1s recognized See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional mformatton about goodwill and intangible assets
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NOTE 3 — INVESTMENTS

The following table summanzes, by major security type, the fair value and amortized cost of Dell's investments All debt security investments with remaiming
maltunties in excess of one year and substantially all equity and other secunties are recorded as long-term investments in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Posttion

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011
Fair Value  Cost Unrealzed Gam  Unreahzed (Loss) Fawr Value  Cost  Unreahzed Gain Unrealized (Loss)

(in millions)

Investments
U S govemment and 3 — 5§ — 5 — $ — 3 58 5 58 5 — 3 —_
agencies
Non-U § government and 24 24 — — 12 12 — —
agencies
Commercial paper 434 434 — — — — —_ —
U S corporate 336 135 1 — 254 253 1 —
International corporate 172 172 — — 128 128 —_ —
Total short-term 966 965 1 — 452 451 1 —_
investments
US government and — — — — 21 20 1 ——
agencies
Non-U S government and 70 70 — — 34 34 — —
agencies
U S corporate 2,332 2,322 12 (2) 242 243 — (4]
International corporate 883 880 4 Q)] 283 283 —_ —_
Equity and other securtties 119 119 — — 124 124 — —
Total long-term 3,404 3,391 16 (3 704 704 1 n
investments
Total 1nvestments $ 4370 %4356 § 17 s 3) $ 1156 S1,155 % 2 3 (e8]

Dell's investimenis in debt secunties are classified as available-for-sale Equity and other securities primarily relate to investments held in Dell's Deferred
Compensation Plan, which are classified as trading secuniies  Equuty and other securities also include equity investments that began trading during Fiscal
2012 which are classified as availabte-for-sale secunities The remaiming equity and other secunities are iutially recorded at cost and reduced for any
impmrment losses During Fiscal 2012, Dell recognized a $39 miliion impairment charge associated with one of 1ts investments, which 1s included in [nterest
and other net on the Consolidated Statements of Income Secunty classes reported at fair value use the specific identification method The fair value of Dell's

portfolio can be affected by interest rate movements, credit, and hquidity nsks Dell's investments in debt securities have contractual maturities of three years
or less

Daunng Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, gross reatized gains recogmzed 1n Interest and other net were $49 million, $7 nulhion and $6 milhion
respectively Dell recogmized gross realized losses of $41 milhion $1 mullion and 34 million, respectively durng the same periods
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NOTE 4 — FINANCIAL SERVICES
Dell Financial Services

Dell offers or arranges various financing options and services for 1ts business and consumer customers in the U S and Canada through Dell Financial Services
(“DF5") DFS's key activities include the ongination, collection, and servicing of customer receivables primarily related to the purchase of Dell products and
services In some cases, Dell may oniginate financing activities for its Commercial customers related to the purchase of third-party technolegy products that
complement Dell's portfolio of products and services New financing onginations, which represent the amounts of financing provided by DFS to customers
for equipment and related sofiware and services, including third-party onigiations were approximately 33 8 illion, $4 0 bilhon, and 33 9 billion for the

fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, January 28 2011, and January 29, 2010 respectively The results of DFS are included 1n the business segment where the
customer receivable was onginated

Dell's financing receivables are aggregated into the followtng categories

. Revolving loans — Revolving loans ofTered under private label credit financing programs provide qualified customers with a revolving credit line
for the purchase of products and services offered by Dell Revolving loans i the U S bear interest at a vanable annual percentage rate that 1s tied to
the prime rate Based on historical payment patterns, revolving loan transactions are typically repaid wiathin 12 months on average Revolving loans
are included 1n short-term financing recenvables From time to time, account helders may have the opportunity to finance their Dell purchases with
special programs during which, 1f the outstanding balance 15 paid in full by a specific date, no nterest 15 charged These special programs generally
range from 6 to 12 months At February 3, 2012, and January 28 2011, receivables under these special programs were $328 million and $398
mullion, respectively

. Fuxed-ter m sales-tvpe leases and loans — Dell enters 1nto sales-type lease arrangements with customers who desire lease financing Leases with
business customers have fixed terms of generally two to four years Future matunties of mimimum lease payments at February 3, 2012, were as
follows Fiscal 2013 - $1,159 nullion, Fiscal 2014 - $725 mullion, Fiscal 2015 - $340 million, Fiscal 2016 - $46 million, Fiscal 2017 and beyond -
$3 mulhion Dell also offers fixed-term loans to quahfied small businesses, large commercial accounts, governmental organizations, educational
entities, and certain consumer customers These loans are repaid in equal payments including interest and have defined terms of generally three to
four years

The following table summarizes the components of Dell's financing receivables segregated by portfolio segment as of February 3, 2012, and January 28,
2011

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011
Revolving Fixed-term Total Revohing Fixed-term Total
{1n millions}
Financing Receivables net
Cuslomer receivables, gross $ 2096 5 2,443 § 4539 § 2,396 b 1,992 $ 4,388
Allowances for losses (179) 23 (202) (214) 27) (241)
Customer receivables, net 1.917 2,420 4337 2,182 1,965 4,147
Residual interest — 362 362 — 295 295
Financing receivables, net g 1,917 $ 2,782 § 4699 b 2,182 by 2.260 $ 4442
Short-term $ 1,917 $ 1.410 3 3327 % 2,182 s 1,461 $ 3,643
Long-term — 1,372 1,372 — 799 799
Financing receivables, net s 1,917 § 2782 $  4.699 3 2,182 $ 2,260 8 4,442
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The following table summanzes the changes 1n the allowance for financing receivable tosses for the respective penods

Allowance for financing 1 ecewvable losses
Balance at beginning of period
Incremental allowance due to VIE consohdation
Principal charge-offs
Interest charge-offs
Recoveries

Provision charged 10 income staltement

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3,

January 28,

January 29,

Balance at end of period

2011 2010
Revolving Fixed- term Total  Revolving Fixed- term Total Total
{1n rmillions)
3 214 b3 27 §241 8 224 $ 13 $237 § 149
— —_ — — 16 16 —
(204) [€)) (213) (233) (18) (251) (139)
(38) - (38) {46) - (46) (27
64 4 68 27 — 27 10
143 1 144 242 16 258 244
) 179 3 23 $ 202 214 S 27 $241 % 237

The following table summanzes the aging of Dell's customer receivables, gross including accrued interest, as of February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011,

segregated by class

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011
Current  Past Due 1 —90 Past Due > 90 Fotal Current Past Due | — 90 Past Due > %0 Total
Days Days Days Days
(im milliens)

Revolving — Consumer

Owned since § 1,249 § 148 $ 49 51446 $ 1,302 153 3 48 $1,503

nception

Purchased 272 47 18 337 447 B8 35 570
Fixed-term — Cansumer

Owned since 29 1 — 30 — — —_ —

mception

Purchased 61 5 | 67 — _ — —
Revolving — SMB™ 272 33 8 313 280 35 8 323
Fixed-term — SMB™® 534 23 5 362 37 11 3 385
Frxed-term — 1,227 95 12 1,334 1,077 47 7 1,131
Large Enterprise®®
Frxed-term — Public’ 419 30 1 450 463 12 | 476

Total customer $ 4063 § 382 s 94 $4,539 § 3940 S 346 3 102 $4,388

recervables, gross

@ Includes purchased receavables described bulow that are not wignificant to any portfolio class

DES Acguisitions

Dunng the second quarter of Fiscal 2012, Dell acquured Dell Financial Services Canada Limited ("DFS Canada™) from CIT Group Inc , which was accounted
for as a business combination The purchase included a portfolio of $367 miliion in gross contractual fixed-term leases and loans Consumet nstallment loans,
and Consumer revolving loans with a fair value at purchase of $309 m:ilhon  Of the gross contractual amounts, $23 milhion was expected to be uncollectible

at the date of
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acquisitton Dell also acquired a hqudating portlolio of computer equipment operating leases The gross amount of the equipment associated with these
operating lcases at the date of acquisition was $67 million and 15 included in Property, plant, and equipment in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about Dell's acquisttions

In Fiscal 2012 | Dell entered o a defimtive agreement to acquire CIT Vendor Finance's Dell-related financing assets portfolio and szles and servicing
functions in Europe The acquisition of these assets will enable global expansion of Dell’s direct finance model Subject to customary closing, regulatory, and
other conditions, Dell expects to close substantially all of this acquisition n the fiscal year ending February 1, 2013

Purchased Credit-Impared Loans

During the third quarter of Fiscal 201 1, Dell purchased a portfolio of revolving loan recervables from CIT Group In¢ Prior to the acquisition, it was evident
that Dell would not collect on all contractually required principal and interest payments As such, these receivables met the definition of Purchased Credit-
Impaired ( 'PCI™) loans At February 3, 2012, the outstanding balance of these receivables, including prncipal and accrued interest was $419 million and the
carrying amount was $184 million

The excess of cash flows expected to be collected over the carrying value of PCI loans 1s referred to as the accretable yield and 1s accreted mnto 1nterest income
using the effective yield method based on the expected future cash flows over the estimated lives of the PCI loans Due to improved expectations of the
amount of expected cash flows and higher post charge-off recovenes, Dell increased the accretable yield associated with these PCI loans 1 Fiscal 2012 The
increases 1n accretable yield will be amortized over the remaining hfe of the loans

The following table shows activity for the accretable yield on the PCI loans for the fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011 We expect the
remaining balance of the aceretable yield as of February 3, 2012 to accrete over the next 3 years, using the effective interest method

Fiscal Year Ended
February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011

(1 millions)
Aceretable Yield

Balance at beginning of penod $ 137 § —
Additions/ Purchases — 166
Accretion (88) 29
Prospective yield adjustment 93 —

Balance at end of penod % 142 3 137
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Credit Qualiry

The follow.ng 1ables summarize customer receivables, gross, including accrued interest by credit quahty indicator segregated by class, as of February 3,
2012, and January 28, 2011 For revolving loans to consumers, Dell makes credit decisions based on propriety scorecards which include the customer's
credit history payment history, credit usage and other credit agency-related elements For Commercial customers, an internal grading system 1s utibized that
assigns a credit level score based on a number of constderations, including hquidity, operating performance, and industry outlook These credit levet scores
range from one 1o sixteen for Public and Large Enterprise customers, and generally from one to six for SMB customers The categones shown in the tables
below segregate customer receivables based on the relanve degrees of credit risk within each segment and product group As loss expenence vanes
substantially between financial products and customer segments, the credn quality categories cannot be compared between the different classes The credit
quality indicators for Consumer revolving accounts are pnmanly as of each quarter-end date, and all others are generally updated on a periodic basis

For the Consumer receivables shown in the below table, the lugher quahity category includes pnme accounts which are generally of a higher credit quality that
are comparable to U S customer FICO scores of 720+ The mud-category represents the mid-tier accounts that are comparable to U § FICO scores from 660
to 719 The lower category 1s generally sub-pnme and represents lower ¢redit quality accounts that are comparable to FICO scores below 660

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011
Higher Mid Lower Total Higher Mid Lower Total

{1n millions)

Revolving — Consumer

Owned since inception 3 220§ 412 % 814 8§ 1,446 $ 251 $ 415 8 837 § 1,503

Purchased s 28 § 80 % 229 % 337 8 50 $ 127 % 393 3 570
Fixed-term — Consumer

Owned since inception 5 2% 14§ 4 3 3 % - & — 8 — 3 —

Purchased 5 4 3 3z 8 31 8 67 % — S — 8 — 3 —

For the SMB receivables shown i the table below, the higher quahty category includes receivables that are generally within Dell's top two mternal credit
quality levels, which typically have the lowest loss experience The nuddle category generally falls within credit levels three and four, and the lower category
genenally falls within Dell's bottom two credit levels, which expenience higher loss rates The revolving product 1s sold pnmanly to small business customers
and the fixed-term products are more weighted toward medwm-sized bustnesses  Although both fixed-term and revolving products generally rely on a six-
level internal rating system, the grading critenia and classifications are different as the loss performance varies between these product and customer sets
Therefore, the credit levels are not comparable between the SMB fixed-term and revolving classes

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011®
Higher Mid Lower Total Higher Mid Lower Total
(m millions)
Revolving — SMB 3 111 § 98 5 104 8 33 08 124 § 109 § % 3 323
Fived-term — SMB $ 43 § 208 S 311 % 562 8§ 55 $ 122§ 208 ) 385

@ Amounts as of January 28 201 | have been reclassified for Fixed term — SME due to adjustments between credit quality categonies
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For the Large Enterprise and Public receivables shown in the below table, Dell's internal credit level sconng has been aggregated to their most comparable
external commercial rating agency equivalents Investment grade generally represents Lhe highest credit guality accounts, non-investment grade represents
middle quality accounts, and sub-standard represents the lowest quality accounts

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011

Investment Non-Inyestment Sub-Standard  Total Investment Non-Investment Sub-Standard Total

(m mlhons)

Frced-term — ) 1,000 % 199 3 £35 $1,334 § 806 b3 166 b3 159 $ 1,134
Luarge Enterprise
Freed-term — Public 3 400 3 40 3 10 $ 450 § 438 $ 30 $ 8 % 476

Asset Securiizations

Dell transfers certain U S customer financing receivables to Special Purpose Entities ( *SPEs™) which meet the defimtion of a Vanable Interest Entity ("VIE™)
and are consolidated into Dell's Consolidated Financial Statements The SPEs are bankruptcy remote legal entities with separate assets and liabiliies The
purpose of the SPEs 15 to facilitate the funding of customer receivables in the capital markets These SPEs have entered into financing arrangements with
multi-seller condwits that, in turn, 1ssue asset-backed debt secunities in the capital markets Dell's nsk of loss related to secuntized receivables 1s hmited to the
amount of Dell's night to receive collections for assets secunitized exceeding the amount required to pay interest principal, and other fees and expenses related
to the asset-backed securies Dell provides credit enhancement to the securihization in the form of over-collateralization Customer recervables funded via
securitization through SPEs were $2 3 illion 31 9 billion and 30 8 billion dunng Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010 respectively

The following table shows financing recervables held by the consolidated V1Es

February 3, January 28,
2012 2011

(1n millions)

Fmancing recenables held by consolidated VIEs, net

Short-term net $ 1,056 $ 1,087
Long-term, net 429 262
Financing receivables held by consolidated VIEs, net 3 1,525 $ 1,349

Dell's secuntization programs are generally effective for 12 months and are subject to an annual renewal process These programs contain standard structural
features related to the performance of the secuntized receivables The structural features include defined credit losses, delinquencies, average credit scores,
and excess collections above or below specified levels In the event one or more of these criteria are not met and Dell 1s unable to restructure the program, no
further funding of receivables will be permitted and the timing of Dell's expected cash flows from over-collaterahization will be delayed At February 3, 2012,
these cniteria were met

Structured Financorg Debt

The structured financing debt related 1o the fixed-term lease and loan, and revolving loan secunitization programs was $1 3 billion and $1 0 bullion as of
February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011, respectively The debt 1s collateralized solely by the financing receivables i the programs The debt has a vanable
interest rate and an average duration of 12 to 36 months based on the terms of the underlying financing receivables The total debt capacity related to the
secunitization programs s $1 4 billlon See Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the structured
financing debt

Dell enters 1nto interest rate swap agreements to effectively convert a portion of the structured financing debt from a floating rate to a fixed rate  The interest
rate swaps qualify for hedge accounting treatment as cash flow hedges See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolhidated Financial Statements for additional
information aboul interest rate swaps
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NOTE 5 — BORROWINGS

The following table summarizes Dell's outstanding debi as of the dates indicated

February 3, January 28,
2012 2011

(in miilions)

Leng-Term Debt

Notes
$400 mullion 1ssued on June 10, 2009, at 3 375% due June 2012 (“2012 Notes ) @) $ 400 $ a0
$600 nulhon 1ssued on Apnl 17, 2008, at 4 70% due Apnil 2013 (20134 Notes”)1b} 605 609
3500 million 1ssued on September 7, 2010, at 1 40% due September 2013 (“2013B Notes™) 499 499
$500 million 1ssued an Aprid [ 2009, at 5 625% due April 2014 (“2014A Notes™)® 500 500
$300 mullion 1ssued on March 28, 2011, with a floating rate due Apnl 2014 (**2014B Notes™)} 300 —
$400 rmulhon 1ssued on March 28, 2011, at 2 10% due Apnl 2014 (“2014C Notes") 400 —_
$700 mllion 1ssued on September 7, 2010, at 2 30% due September 2015 (2015 Notes™} &) 701 700
$400 million 1ssued on March 28, 201 1, at 3 10% due April 2016 (*2016 Notes™)® 401 —
$500 mullion 1ssued on Apnl 17, 2008, at 5 65% due Apnl 2018 (“2018 Notes™) ®) 501 499
$600 million 1ssued on June 10, 2009, at 5 875% due June 2019 (2019 Notes™ )P 602 600
$400 mullion tssued on March 28, 2011, at 4 625% due April 2021 (¥2021 Notes™ ) 3198 —
$400 mllion 1ssued on Apnl 17, 2008, at 6 50% due Apnl 2038 ( ‘2038 Notes™) 400 400
$300 malhion i1ssued on September 7, 2010, at 5 40% due September 2040 (2040 Notes™) 300 300
Semior Debentures
$300 nullion 1ssued on Apni 3, 1998, at 7 10% due Apnl 2028 ("Semor Debentures") (@) 384 389
Other
Long-term structured financing debt 920 828 |
Less current portion of long-term debt (924) (578)
Total long-term debt 6,387 5,146
Short-Term Debt
Commercial paper 1,500 —
Short-term structured financing debt 440 272
Current portion of long-term debt 924 578
Other 3 |
Total short-term debt 2,867 851

Total debt $ 9,254 $ 5,997

@ [ncludes the impact of intercst rate swap terminations
"} Includes hedge accounting adjustments

During Fiscat 2012, Dell 1ssued the 2014B Notes, the 2014C Notes, the 2016 Notes and the 2021 Notes (collectively, the “Issued Notes™) under a shelf
registration statement that was onginally filed in November 2008 and amended in March 2011 The net proceeds from the Issued Notes, after payment of
expenses, were approximately $i 5 bilhon The Issued Notes are unsecured obligattons and rank equally in nght of payment with Dell's existing and future
unsecured senior indebtedness The Issued Notes effectively rank junior in right of payment to all indebtedness and other lrabilities, including trade payables,
of Dell's subsidianes The [ssued Notes were 1ssued pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture dated March 31, 2011, between Dell and a trustee with terms and
condrtions substantially the same as those governing the Notes outstanding as of January 28, 2011 (such outstanding Notes, together with the Issued Notes,
the "Notes"}

The estimated fair value of total debt at February 3, 2012, was approximately $9 8 bilhon The fair values of the structured financing debt and other short-term

debt approximate their carrytng values as themr interest rates vary with the market The carrying value of the Semor Debentures, the 2012 Notes and the 2013A
Nates includes an unamortized amount related to the
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termination of interest rate swap agreements, which were previously designated as hedges of the debt See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information about interest rate swaps The weighted average nterest rate for the short-term structured financing debt and other as of
February 3, 2012 , and January 28, 2011 , was 0 28% and 0 29% respectively

Aggregate future matunties of long-term debt at face value were as follows as of February 3, 2012

Matunities by Frscal Year

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total
{in rilhons)
Aggregate future matunities of long-term debt outstanding $ 924 § 1,404 $§ 1291 § 701 $ 400 § 2,500 § 7,220

Structured Finuncing Debt — As of February 3, 2012, Dell had $1 4 bilhon outstanding in structured financing related debt, of which $t 3 mllion was
through the fixed-term lease and loan, and revolving loan securitization programs Of the $1 4 biallion outstanding 1n structured financing related debt, $964
mullion was current as of February 3, 2012 See Note 4 and Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the structured
financing debt and the 1nterest rate swap agreements that hedge a portion of that debt

Commerctal Paper — As of February 3, 2012 , there was §1 5 bullion outstanding under the commercial paper program At January 28, 201 1 , Dell had no
outstanding commercial paper The weighted average interest rate on outstanding commercial paper as of February 3, 2012 , was 023% Dell has $3 0 billion
n senior unsecured revolving credst facilities, pnimarily to support 1ts $2 5 billion commercial paper program Dell replaced the five-year $1 0 billion credit
facility expinng on June 1, 2011, with a four-year $2 0 billion credit facility that will expire on Apnil 15,2015 Dell's remaining credit facility for $1 0 billion
will expire on Apnl 2, 2013 There were no outstanding advances under the revolving credit facilities as of February 3, 2012

The indentures goverming the Notes, the Semor Debentures, and the structured finaneing debt contain customary events of default, including failure to make
required payments, fatlure to comply with certain agreements or covenants, and certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency The indentures also contain
covenants limiting Detl's ability to create certain liens, enter into sale-and-lease back transactions, and consolidate or merge with, or convey, transfer or lease
all or substantially all of 11s assets to, another person The senior unsecured revolving credit facilities require comphance with conditions that must be satisfied
prior to any borowing, as well as ongoing comphance with specified affirmative and negative covenants, including maintenance of a minimum interest
coverage ratio  Dell was i comphance wath all financial covenants as of February 3, 2012
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NOTE 6 — DLRIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Derwative Instruments

As part of its risk management strategy, Dell uses denvative instruments, pnmanly forward contracts and purchased options, to hedge certain foreign
currency exposures and interest rate swaps to manage the exposure of its debt portfolio to interest rate sk Dell's objective 1s to offset gains and losses
resulting from these exposures with gamns and losses on the denvative contracts used to hedge the exposures, thereby reducing volatility of earnings and
protecting fair values of assets and habihiies Dell assesses hedge effectiveness both at the onset of the hedge and at regular intervals throughout the life of the
derivative and recognizes any meffective portion of the hedge, as well as amounts not included 1n the assessment of effectiveness, in earnings as a component
of Interest and other, net

Foreign Exchange Risk

Dell uses a combination of forward contracts and purchased options designated as cash flow hedges to protect agamst the foreign currency exchange rate nisks
mherent in s forecasted transactions denonminated 1n cutrencies other than the U § dollar The nisk of loss associated with purchased optons 1s imited to
premium amounts paid for the option contracts The nisk of loss associated with forward contracts 15 equal to the exchange rate differential from the time the
contract 15 entered mto until the time 1t 15 settled The majority of these contracts typically expire tn |2 months or less

Dell assessed hedge ieftectiveness for foreign exchange contracts designated as cash flow hedges for the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012, and determined
that such ineffectveness was not matenal Duning the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012, Dell did not discontinue any cash flow hedges related to foreign
exchange contracts that had a materal impact on Dell's results of operations, as substantially all forecasted foreign currency transactions were realized 1n
Dell's actual results

In addition, Dell uses torward contracts to hedge monetary assets and liabihiies, primanly recervables and payables, denominated 1n a foreign currency These
contracts generally expire in three months or less, are considered economtc hedges and are not designated The change 1n the fair value of these mstruments
represents a natural hedge as their gains and losses offset the changes m the underlying fair value of the monetary assets and liabilities due to movements
currency exchange rates Dell recogmzed gains (losses) for the change in fair value of these foreign currency forward contracts of $17 million, $59 mellion
and $(85) million during Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, respectively

Interest Rate Risk

Dell uses interest rate swaps to hedge the vanability in cash flows related to the interest rate payments on structured financing debt The mterest rate swaps
economically convert the variable rate on the structured financing debt to a fixed interest rate to match the underlying fixed rate being recerved on fixed term
customer leases and loans The duration of these contracts typically ranges from 30 to 42 months Certain of these swaps are destgnated as cash flow hedges
Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges was not material for the fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, and J anuary 28,
2011

Penodically, Dell also uses interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges to modity the market risk exposures i connection with long-term debi to
achieve pnmaniy LIBOR-based floating interest expense During the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012, Dell entered nto interest rate swaps to economically
hedge a portion of 1ts interest rate exposure on certain tranches of 1ts long-term debt Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps designated as fair value
hedges was not matenal for the fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011
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Nononal Amounts of Ontstanding Der ivative Instriements

The notional amounts of Dell's outstanding derivative imstruments are as follows as of the dates indicated

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011
(in mullions)
Foreign Exchange Contracts
Designated as cash flow hedging instruments 3 4,549 $ 5,364
Non-designaled as h_edgmg instruments 168 250
Total 3 4,717 $ 5614
Interest Rate Contracts
Designated as fair value hedging instruments $ 650 b —
Designated as cash flow hedging instruments 751 625
Non-designated as hedging instruments 132 145
Total b 1,533 3 770

Dervgtive Instruments Addittonal Information

The aggregate unrealized net loss for nterest rate swaps and foreign currency exchange contracts, recorded as a compenent of comprehensive mmcome, for the
fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, and January 28 2011, was $40 miilion and $111 miilion, respectively

Dell has reviewed the existence and nature of credit-nsk-related contingent features m derivative trading agreements with its counterparties Certamn
agreements contain clauses under which, if Dell's crecdit ratings were to fall below investment grade upon a change of control of Dell, counterparties would
have the nght to termimate those denvative contracts where Dell 1s 1n a net hability posiion  As of February 3, 2012 , there had been no such triggenng
events

Lffect of Derivative Instrumenis on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and the Consolidated Statements of Income

Derhvatives in Gain (Loss) Location of Gain (Low) Gain (Loss) Location of (Gain (Loss) Gain (1 os1) Recognized in Income on
Cash Flow Recognized Reclassifled R ized in Income on Derivative (Ineffective Portion)
Hedging Relatianships in Accumulated from Accumulated from Accumulated Derivative (Ineffective
OC1, Met QOCl ints Income QOCl into Income Partian)
of Tax on (Effectih e Portion) {EfTective Pertion)
Derlvatives
(EfTectiv e Portien}
{tv milhons)
For the fiscal year ended February 3 2012
Total net revenue $ (186)
Foreign exchange $ (126} Total cost of net revenue [€)]
caontracts
Interest rate contracts 3 Interest and other, net — Interest and other, $ 2
net
Total $  (123) $  (193) 3 2
e ——————— =
For the fiscal year ended January 28 2011
Total net revenue ) (105)
Foreign exchange 3 (265) Total cost of net revenue (49)
contracts
Interest rate contracts h Interest and other, net — Interest and other, 3 2
net
Total $ (266 $  (154) $ 2
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Fanr Value of Derivattve instruments in the Consolidated Staiements of Financial Posinon

Dell presents us foreign exchange denvative insiruments on a net basis in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position due to the nght of offset by 1ts
counterparties under master netting arrangements The fair value of those denvative instruments presented on a gross basis as of each date indicated beiow 15

as follows
February 3, 2012

Other Current Other Non- Other Current Other Non-Current Total
Assets Current Assets Liabailities Liabilities Fair Value

(1n rilhons)
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

Foreign exchange contracts in an asset position § 266 $ — b3 2 $ — 3 268
Fareign exchange contracts n a hability position (140} — (N — (147)
Interest rate contracls 1n an assel position — 8 — — 8
Interest rate contracts in a hability position —_ — — 3 (3)
’ Net asset (lability) 126 8 (5) (3) 126
Dernatives not Destgnated as Hedging Instrumenis
Foreign exchange contracts 1n an asset position 67 — 1 — 68
Foreign exchange contracts 1n a liability posttion wn —_ (1) — (71
Net asset (Lhability) 6 — (9 — (3)
Total derrvatives at fair value k) 132 $ 8 b (14) 3 3 3 123
January 28, 2011
Other Current Other Nob- Other Current Other Non-Current Total
Assets Current Assets Laabihties Laabilities Fair Value
(1n millions})
Derwvanves Designated as Hedging Instruments
Foreign exchange contracts 1in an asset position $ 81 $ t - 34 5 — 3 R1]
Foreign exchange contracts i a hability posiion (86) — (59) — (145)
Interest rate contracts 1n a liability position — — — (2) (2)
Net asset (Labiluy) 5 1 (25) 2 (€1}
Dervatives nol Designated as Hedging Instruments
Foreign exchange contracts 1n an asset position 52 — 15 — 67
Foreign exchange contracts 1n a llability position 21 —_ (15) . — (36)
Interest rate contracts n a Liability position — — —_ (€)) N
Net asset (hability) 31 — — (48] 30
Total denvatives at fair value 3 26 3 1 S (25) 3 3 3 n
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NOTE 7— ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions

Duning Fiscal 2012, Dell completed several acquisitions including acquisitions of Compellent Technologies, Inc ("Compellent”) SecureWorks Inc
("SecureWorks"™), DFS Canada, and Force!0 Networks Ine ("Forcel0") The total purchase consideration was approximately $2 7 billion 1n cash for all of
the outstanding shares for all acquisitions completed dunng the period Compellent is a provider of virtual storage solutions for enterprise and cloud
computing ¢nvironments, and SecureWorks 15 a global provider of information secunity services Forcel( 1s a global technology company that provides
datacenter networking solutions Compellent, SecureWorks, and Force 10 will be integrated 1nto Dell’s Commercial segments DFS Canada enables expansion
of Dell's direct finance model into Canada for all of Dell's segments See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financral Statements for further discussion on
Dell's acquisition of DFS Canada

Dell has recorded these acquisttions using the acquisition method of accounting and recorded their respective assets and habilities at fair value at the date of
acquistion The excess of the purchase prices over the estimated fair vatues was recorded as goodwill Any changes in the estimated fair values of the net
assets recorded for these acquisitions prior to the finalizauon of more detailed analyses, but not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition, will change
the amount of the purchase prices allocable to goodwill Any subsequent changes to any purchase price allocations that are material to Dell's consolidated
financial resutts will be adjusted retroactively

Dell recorded $1 5 billion in goodwill related to acquisitions duning the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012 This amount pnmanly represents synergies
associated with combumng these compames with Dell to provide Dell's customers with a broader range of IT solutions or, in the case of DFS Canada, to
extend Dell's financial services capzbilities This goodwill 1s not deducuible for tax purposes Dell also recorded $753 muflion 1 intangible assets related to
these acquisitions which consist primanly of purchased technology and customer relationships The intangible assets have weighted-average useful lives
ranging from 3 to |1 years In conjunction with these acquisitions, Delt will incur approximately $150 million in compensation-related expenses that wall be
expensed over a period of up to four years There was no contingent consideration related to these acquisitions

Dell has not presented pro forma results of operations for Fiscal 2012 acquisitions because these acquisitions are not matenal to Dell's consolidated results of
operations, financial posiion, or cash flows on euher an individual or an aggregate basis

Fiscal 2011 Acquisihons

Dell completed five acquisitions dunng Fiscal 2011, Kace Networks, Inc (‘KACE™) Ocanna Networks Inc { Ocanina’ }, Scalent Systems Inc { ‘Scalent™),
Boom, In¢ {“Boomr™), and InSite One, Inc ( ‘InSite™), for a total purchase consideration of approximately $413 milhion in cash KACE 1s a systems
management apphance company with solutions tatlored to the requirements of mid-sized businesses KACE 15 being integrated primanly into Dell's SMB and
Public segments Ocanna 1s a provider of de-duphication solutions and content-aware compression across storage product hines Scalent 1s a provider of
scalable and efficient data center infrastructure soflware Boomi 1s a provider of on-demand itegranon technology Ocanina, Scalent, and Bootn will be
integrated into all of Dell's Commercial segments InSite provides cloud-based medical data archiving, storage, and disaster-recovery sofutions to the health
care industry InSite will be integrated inte Dell's Public segment

Dell has recorded these acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting and recorded their respective assets and habulities at fair value at the date of
acquisition The excess of the purchase prices over the esuimated fat values were recorded as goodwill Any changes in the estimated fair values of the net
assels recorded for these acquisitions prior to the finalization of more detailed analyses, but not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition, will change
the amount of the purchase prices allocable to goodwill Any subsequent changes to the purchase price allocations that are maternial to Dell's consohdated
financial results will be adjusted retroactively Dell recorded approximately $284 milhon in goodwill and $141 muthon in intangible asscts related to these
acquisiions The goodwill related to these acquisitions 1s not deducuble for tax purposes In conjunction with these acquisitions, Dell will incur 356 muliion in
compensatton-related expenses that will be expensed over a period of one to three years There was no contingent consideration related (o these acquisttions

Dell has not presented pro forma results of operations for the Fiscal 2011 acquisitions because these acquisitions are not material to Dell's consolidated results
of operations, financial position, or cash flows on either an individual or an aggregate
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basis
Fiscal 2010 Acquisitions

On November 3, 2009, Dell completed 11s acquisition of all the outstanding shares ot the Class A common stock of Perot Systems, a worldwide provider of
information technology and business solutions for a purchase consideration of $3 9 billion 1n cash This acquisition ts expected to provide customers a
broader range of IT services and solutions and better position Dell for 1ts own immediate and long-term growth and efficiency Perot Systems was primarily
integrated into the Large Enterpnise and Public segments for reporting purposes Perot Systems’ results of operations were included in Dell's results beginning
November 3, 2009

The following table summanzes the consideration paid for Perot Systems and the amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognized at the
acquision date

Total
{in rullions)

Cash and cash equivalents 5 266
Accounts recetvable net 410
Other assets 58
Property, plant, and equipment 323
Customer reiationships and other intangible assets 1,174
Deferred tax hability, net @ (424}
Other habilihes (256)
Total identifiable net assets 1,551
Goodwi1ll 2,327

Total purchase price . 3 3 878

@) The deferred tax bability net primaely relates to purchased dentifisble intangible assets and property plant and equipment and 1s shown net of assocrated deferred tax assets

The goodwill of 32 3 billion represents the value from combining Perot Systems wath Dell to provide customers with a broader range of 1T services and
solutions as well as optimzing how these solutions are delivered The acquisition has enabled Dell to supply cven more Perot Systems customers with Dell
products and extended the reach of Perot Systems' capabilities to Dell customers around the world Goodwill of 3679 million, $1,613 million, and $35 muillion
was assigned to the Large Enterpnse Public, and SMB segments, respectively

In conjunction with the acquisition, Dell incurred $93 million 1n cash compensation payments made 1o former Perot Systems employees who accepted
positions with Dell related to the accelerahon of Perot Systems unvested stock options and other cash compensation payments These cash compensation
payments were expensed as incurred and are recorded in Selling, gencral, and admimistrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income for Fiscal
2010 During Fiscal 2010, Dell incurred $116 million in acquisition-related costs for Perot Systems, including the payments above, and an addiional $23
millien 1n other acquisition-related costs such as bankers' fees consulting fees, other employee-related charges, and integration costs

There was no contingent consideration related to the acquisibion

Unaudited pro-forma results for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2010 were pro-forma net sales of $54 7 billon, pro-forma nct income of $1 4 billion, and
pro-forma diluted earmings per share of $0 72 The pro forma results were adjusted for intercompany charges, but did not include any anticipated cost
synergies or other effects of the planned integration of Perot Systems Accordingly, the pro forma results presented are not necessarily indicative of the results
that actually would have occurred had the acquisition been completed on the dates indicated, nor are they indicative of the future operating results of the
combined company
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NOIE 8§ — GOODWILL AND IN [ANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

Goodwill allocated to Dell's business segments as of February 3, 2012, and January 28 2011, and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the
respective pentods, were as follows

Fiscal Year Eaded
February 3, 2012

Large Public Small and Consumer Total
Enterprise Medium
Business

(in mullions)

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,424 $ 2,164 b 476 $ 301 5§ 4365

Goodwill acquired duning the pertod 800 386 287 6 1479

Adjustments (2) (3} (4} 3 (6)
Balance al end of period $ 2,222 $ 2,547 $ 759 % 30 s 5,838

January 28, 2011

Large Public Small and Consumer Total
Enterprise Medium
Business

(1n mullions)

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,361 k3 2,026 S 389 3 298 $ 4,074
Goodwill acquired during the period 62 135 87 — 284
Adjustments 1 3 —_ 3 7

Balance at end of pertod 1 1,424 s 2,164 ] 476 $ 301 3 4,365

Goodwill is tested annually during the sccond fiscal quarter and whenever events or circumstances indicate an impairment may have occurred 1f the carrying
amount of goodwi1ll exceeds 1ts fair value, estimated based on discounted cash flow analyses, an impairment charge would be recorded Based on the results of
the annua! impaimment tests, no impairment of goodwill existed at July 30, 2011 Further, no tnggenng events have transpired since July 30, 2011, that would
indicate a potential impairment of goodwtll as of February 3 2012 Dell did not have any accumulated goodwill impairment charges as of February 3, 2012

Inrangible Assers

Dell's intangible assets associated with completed acquisitions at February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011, were as follows

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011
Gross Accumulated Net Gross Accumulated Net
Amortization Amortization

(xn millions)

Customer relationships $ 1,569 § (506) $ 1063 $ 1363 % (309) $ 1,054
Technology 1,156 (490) 666 647 (322) 325
Non-compele agreements 70 42) 28 68 (26) 42
Tradenames 81 (41) 40 54 (30 23
Amortizable intangible assets 2,876 (1,079) 1797 2,132 (688) 1,444
In-process research and development 34 — 34 26 — 26
Indefimte hved intangible assets 26 —_ 26 25 — 25
Total intangible assets § 2936 § (1079 $ 1857 § 2183 § (688) $ 1495

During Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011, Dell recorded additions to intangible assets of $715 milhion and 5126 millien , respectively, and addittons 1o in-process
research and development of $38 million and $26 muthion , respectively These addiions were
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primanly related to Dell's Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011 business acquisitions

Amortization expense related to finite-hved intangible assets was approximately $391 mulhion and 8350 mullion in Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011, respectively
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There were ne material impairment charges retated to intangible assets for the fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, and January 28, 201 ]

Estimated future annual pre-lax amoruzatton expense of fimite-lived intangible assets as of February 3 2012 over the next five fiscal years and thereafter 1s as

follows

Fiscal Years

{1in milhons)

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Thereafter
Total

3 388
370
275
227
189
348
3 1,797
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NOTE 9 — WARRANTY AND DLFERRLD EXTENDED WARRANIY REVENUL

Dell records liabilittes for its standard limited warranties at the time of sale for the estimated costs that may be incurred The hability for standard warrantiesas
inctuded 1n Accrued and other current habilities and Other non-current habilittes on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position Revenue from the sale
of extended warranties 1s recognized over the term of the contract or when the service 1s completed, and the costs associated with these contracts are
recognized as incurred Deferred extended wamanty revenue 1s included 1n deferred services revenue on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Changes in Dell's habilities for standard limited warranties and deferred services revenue related to extended warranties are presented in the following tables
for the pertods indicated

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010

(1n millions)

Warranty habtiiry

Warranty hability at beginming of peried $ 895 S 912 $ 1,035
Costs accrued for new warranty coniracts and changes in estimates for pre-existing warranties®{b 1,025 1,046 987
Service obligations honored (1,032) (1,063) (1110)

Warranty hability at end of penod S 388 S 895 3 912
Current portion $ 572 3 575 5 593
Non-current portion 316 320 319

Warranty hability at end of period $ 888 S 895 $ 912

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 19,
2012 2011 2010

(1n mullions)

Deferred extended warranty revenue

Deferred extended warranty revenue at beginning of penod § 6416 5 5910 § 5,587
' Revenue deferred for new extended warranties® 4,301 3,877 3,481
Revenue recogmzed (3.715) (3.371) (3,158)
Deferred extended warranty revenue at end of period 3 7,002 $ 6,416 g 5,910
Current portion 5 3265 3 2959 $ 2,906
Non-current portion 3,737 3,457 3,004
Deferred extended warranty revenue at end of penod s 7,002 § 6416 $ 5910

@) Changes n cost estimates related to pre-cxasting warrantics are dggrogated with aciruals for new standard warranty contracts Dell's warranty hability process does not differennate
between estimates made for preexisting wammantics and new warranty obligations
™ Includes the unpact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations
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NOTE 10 — COMMITMENIS AND CONTINGLNCIES

Lease Commuitments — Dell lease s property and equipment, manufacturing facilities, and office space under non-cancelable leases Certain of these leases
obligate Dell 10 pay taxes, maintenance, and repair costs At February 3 2012 future mimimum lease payments under these non-cancelable leases are as
follows $107 mullion in Fiscal 2013 $86 mullion in Fiscal 2014 $79 mulhion in Fiscal 2015, $58 mullion 1n Fiscal 2016 $50 million in Fiscal 2087 and $85
milhon thereafter

Rent expense under all leases totaled $107 millien , $87 muillion , and $93 million for Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, respectively

Purchase Obligations — Dell has contractual abhigations to purchase goods or services, which specify sigmificant terms, including fixed or mimimum
quantities to be purchased, fixed munimum, or variable price provisions, and the approximate nnung of the transaction As of February 3 2012 Dell had
52,865 milhon, $15 mibion and $16 milhon tn p urchase obligattons for Fiscal 2013, Fiscal 2014, and Fiscal 2015, and thereafler, respectively

Legal Matters — Dellis involved 1n vartous claims, suits, assessments, investigations, and legal proceedings that anse from time to time 1n the ordinary
course of its business, mcluding those 1dentificd below, consisting of matters involving consumer, antitrust, tax, intellectual property, and other 1ssues on a
glabal basis Dell accrues a hability when it believes that it 1s both probable that a habihity has been incurred and that tt can reasonably estumate the amount of
the loss Dell reviews these accruals at least quarterly and adjusts them to reflect ongoing negotiations settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other
relevant information To the extent new information 1s obtained and Dell's views on the probable outcomes of claims, suits, assessments, investigations, or
legal proceedings change changes in Dell's accrued habilittes would be recorded n the penod 1n which such determination 1s made For some matters, the
amount of hability 1s not probable or the amount cannot be reasonably estimated and therefore accruals have not been made The following 1s a discussion of
Dell's significant legal matiers and other procecdings pending at February 3, 2012

Securities Lingatton — Four putative secunties class actions filed between September 13 2006, and January 31, 2007, inthe U S Dustrict Court for the
Western Distnict of Texas, Austin Division, against Dell and certain of its current and former directors and officers were consolidated as In re Dell Securines
Litigation, and a lead plannfT was appointed by the court The lead plaintiff asserted claims under Sections 10(b), 20(a), and 20A of the Secunties Exchange
Act of 1934 based on alleged false and misleading disclosures or ommissions regarding Dell's financial statements, govemmental investigations, internal
controls, known battery problems and business model, and based on msiders’ sales of Dell secuniies This action also included Dell's independent registered
public accounting firm, PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP, as a defendant On October 6, 2008, the court dismissed all of the plaintiff's claims with prejudice and
without leave to amend On November 3, 2008, the plaintiff appealed the dismissal of Dell and the officer defendants to the Fifth Circmit Court of Appeals
The appeal was fully briefed, and oral argument on the appeal was heard by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals on September 1, 2009 On November 20 2009,
the parties to the appeal entered into a wnitten settlement agreement whereby Dell would pay $40 milhon 10 the proposed class and the plamuff would dismiss
the pending lingation The settlement was prehmnanily approved by the Ihstrict Court on December 21, 2009 The settlement was subject to certain
conditions, including opt-outs from the propesed class not exceeding a specified percentage and finat approval by the District Court Duning the first quarter
of Fiscal 2011, the ongimal opt-out period in the notice approved by the District Court expired without the specified percentage being exceeded The District
Court subsequently granted final approyal for the settlement and entered a final judgment on July 20, 2010 Dell paid $40 million nto an escrow account to
satisfy this settlement and discharged the habihity dunng the second quarter of Fiscal 2011 Certain objectors to the settlement filed notices of appeal to the
Fifth Circenit Court of Appeals with regard to approval of the selllement On February 7, 2012, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's
approval of the settlement

Copyright Levies — Dell's obligabon to collect and remut copynght levies in centain European Union ( EU™) countries may be affected by the resolution of
legal proceedings pending in Germany against various companies, includmg Dell's German subsidiary, and elsewhere in the EU against other companies 1n
Dell's industry The plaintffs in those proceedings, some of which are descnibed below, generally seek to impose or modify the levies with respect to sales of
such equipment as multtifunction devices, phones personal computers, and printers alleging that such products enable the copying of copyrighted matenals
Some of the proceedings also challenge whether the levy schemes i those countries comply with EU law Certain EU member countries that do not yet
impose levies on digital devices are expected to implement legislation to enable them to extend existing levy schemes, while some other
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EU member countnes are expected to limit the scope of levy schemes and their apphicability 1n the digital hardware environment Dell, other compantes, and
various industry associations have opposed the extension of levies to the digital environment and have advocated alternative models of compensation to nghts
holders Dell continues to collect levies in certain EU countries where 1t has determined that based on local taws 1t 1s probable that Dell has a payment
obligation The amount of levies ts generally based on the number of products sold and the per-product amounts of the levies which vary In all other matters,
Dell does not believe there 15 a probable and estinable claim As such Bell has not accrued any hability nor collected any levies

On December 29, 2005, Zentralstelle Fur private Uberspielungrechie (*ZPU ), a joint association of vartous German collecting societies, mstiuted arbitration
praceedings against Dell's German subsidiary before the Board of Arbitration at the German Patent and Trademark Office in Munich, and subsequently filed a
lawsuit in the German Regional Court 1n Munich on February 21, 2008, seeking levies to be paid on each personal comiputer sold by Dell in Germany through
the end of calendar year 2007 On December 23 2009, ZPUJ and the German industry association, BCH, reached a settlement regarding audio-video copynght
levy itigation (with levies ranging from €3 15 to €13 65 per unit) Dell joined this settlement on February 23, 2010 and has paid the amounts due under the
setilement However, because the settlement agreement expired on December 31, 2010, the amount of levies payable after calendar year 2010, as well as
Dell's abuluty to recover such amounts through increased prices, remains uncerntain

German courts are also considenng a lawsuit oniginally filed in July 2004 by VG Wort, a German collecting society representing certain copynght holders,
aganst Hewlett-Packard Company 1n the Stuitgan Civil Court seeking levies on pnnters and a lawsint oniginally filed in September 2003 by the same
plamnuff against Fujitsu Stemens Computer GmbH 1n Munich Civil Court 1n Munich, Germany seeking levies on personal computers In each case, the civil
and appellate courts held that the subject classes of equipment were subject to levies In July 2011, the German Federal Supreme Court, to which the lower
court holdings have been appealed, referred cach case to the Court of Justice of the European Union, submitting a number of legal questions on the
nterpretation of the European Copyright Directive which the German Federal Supreme Court deems necessary for its decision Dell has not accrued any
liabihity 1n etther matter, as Dell does not believe there 1s a probable and estmable claim

Proceedings seeking to impose or modify copyright levies for sales of digital devices also have been instituted 1n counts in Spain and 1n other EUJ member
states Even 1n countries where Dell 1s not a party to such proceedings decisions in those cases could impact Dell’s business and the amount of copynght
levies Dell may be required to collect

The ultimate resolution of these proceedings and the associated financial impact to Dell, if any, including the number of umits potentially affected, the amount
of levies imposed, and the abihity of Dell 10 recover such amounts remains uncertam at this time Should the courts determmine there 1s hability for previous
umits shipped beyond the amount of levies Dell has collected or accrued, Dell would be hable for such incremental amounts Recovery of any such amounts
from others by Dell would be posstble only on future collections related to future shipments

Chad Brazi and Steven Seick v Dell Inc — Chad Brazil and Steven Seick filed a class action suit against Dell in March 2007 1n the U S Distnct Court for the
Northern Distnct of Cahforma The plaintiffs allege that Dell advertised discounts on 1ts products from false “regular’ prices 1n violation of California law
The plamtiffs seek compensatory damages, disgorgement of profits from the alleged false advertising, injunctive relief, pumitive damages and attorneys' fees
In December 2010, the District Court certified a class consisting of all Cahfornia residents who had purchased certain products advertised with a former sales
price on Lhe consumer segment of Dell's website during an approximately four year period between March 2003 and June 2007 During the first quarter of
Fiscal 2012, the plamt:ffs and Dell reached a class-wide setttement in principle regarding the dispute on terms that are not matenial to Dell, and on October 28,
2011 the District Court granted final approval of the settlement Since the final approval, an objector to the settlement has filed a notice of appeal to the Ninth
Crircnt Court of Appeals with regard to approval of the settlement While there can be no assurances with respect to htigation, Dell believes 1t 15 unhkely that
the settlement will be overturned on appeal

Convolve Inc v Dell Inc — Convolve, Ine sued Dell, Western Digital Corporation (*Western Digital™), Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, Inc |, and
Hitachi Lid {collectively * Hitachi’ } on June | 8, 2008 1n the Eastern Distnct of Texas, Marshall Division alleging thal the defendants infringe Umited States
Patent No 4,916,635 (entitled Shaping Command Inputs to Mimmize Unwanted Dynamics™) and United States Patent No 6,314,473 (enuitled * System for
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Removing Selected Unwanted Frequencies tn Accordance with Altered Seitings 1n a User Interface of a Data Storage Device™) Western Dhgital and Hitach
are hard drive suppliers of Dell The plaintiff sought damages for each preduct with an allegedly intringing hard dnive sold by Dell, plus exemplary damages
for allegedly willful infringement On july 26, 2011 a jury found that the patents had been infringed and awarded the plaintiff an amount that 1s not material
ta Dell The jury decision 1s subject to final approval and entry by the judge

Other Litigation — The varous legal proceedings in which Dell 1s involved include commercial Litigatten and a vanety of patent suits In some of these cases,
Dell 1s the sole defendant More often particularly in the patent suits, Dell 1s one of a number of defendants in the electrontcs and technology industries Dell
1s actively defending a number of patent infnngement suits, and several pending claims are 1n vanous stages of evaluation While the number of patent cases
has grown over time, Dell does not currently anticipate that any of these malters wall have a matenal adverse effect on Dell's busmess, financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows

As of February 3, 2012, Dell does nol believe there 1s a reasonable possibiiuty that a matenal loss exceeding the amounts already accrued for these or other
proceedings or matters may have been incurred However, smee the ulumate resolution of any such proceedings and matters 1s inherently unpredictable Dell's
business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be matenially affected in any particular period by unfavorable outcomes in one or more
ol these proccedings or matters Whether the outcome of any claim, suit, assessment, investigation, or legal proceeding, individually or collectively, could
have a matenal adverse effect on Dell's business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows will depend on a number of vanabies, including the
nalure timing and amount of any associated expenses, amounts paid 1n settlement, damages or other remedies or consequences

Cer tam Concentrations — Dell's counterparties to 1ts financial instruments consist of a number of major financial msttutions with credit ratings of AA and A
by major credit rating agencies [n addition to limiting the amount of agreements and contracts 1t enters mto with any one party, Dell momtors its pesitions
with, and the credit quality of the counterparties to, these financial instruments Dell does not anticipate nonperformance by any of the counterparties

Dell's mvestments in debt securities are in high quahity financial institutions and companies As part of 1ts cash and risk management processes, Dell performs
periodic evaluattons of the credit standing of the institutions 1n accordance with 1ts investment polhicy Dell's investments 1n debt securities have stated
maturities of up to three years Management belhieves that no significant concentration of eredit nsk for investments exists for Dell

As of February 3 2012, Dell did not have sigmficamt concentrations of cash and cash equivalent deposits with 1ts financial institutions

Dell markets and sells its products and services to large corporate chents, governmments, and health care and education accounts, as well as to small and
mediim-sized businesses and individuals No single customer accounted for more than 10% of Dell's consolidated net revenue during Fiscal 2012, Fiscal
2011, or Fiscal 2010

Dell purchases a number of components from single or hmited sources In some cases, altenative sources of supply are not available In other cases, Dell may
establish a working refationship with a single source or a limited number of sources 1f Dell believes 1t 15 advantageous to do so based on performance, quahty,
support, delivery capacity or price considerations

Dell zlso sells components to certain contract manufacturers who assemble final products for Dell  Dell does not recognize the sale of these components 1n
net sales and does not recogmize the related profits until the final products are sold by Dell to end users  Profits from the sale of these parts are recognized as a
reduction of cost of sates at the time of sale Dell has net settlement agreements with the majority of these contract manufacturers that allow Dell to offset the
accounts payable to the contract manufacturers from the amounts recervable from them Gross non-trade receivables as of February 3 2012, and January 28
2011 were $3 0 billion and $2 7 billion, respectively and four contract manufacturers account for the mayority of these receivables Dell has net settiement
agreements with these four contract manufacturers and as of February 3 2012, and January 28, 2011, the payables to these four contract manufacturcrs
exceeded the receivables due from them, therefore the non-trade recetvable amounts due from these manufacturers are offset against the corresponding
accounts payable to those manufacturers n the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
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NOTE 11 — INCOME AND OTHER TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
(1n mullions)
Cutrent
Federal 375 $ 597 491
State/Local gl 66 36
Foreign 273 97 116
Current 729 760 643
Deferred
Federal 62 (95) (21
State/Local (12) 9 9
Foreign 30 41 (40)
Deferred 19 (45) (52)
Provision for mncome taxes 748 3 715 391
Income before provision for income taxes consists of the following
Fiscal Year Ended
February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
{1n mullions)
Domestic 365 532 182
Foreign 3,875 2.8i8 1,842
Income before mcome taxes 4,240 3,350 2,624

Deferred tax assets and hiabilities are recorded for the estimated tax impact of temporary differences between the tax and book basis of assets and habilities,
and are recognized based on the enacted statutory tax rates for the year in which Dell expects the differences to reverse A valuation allowance 15 established
against a deferred tax asset when it 1s more likely than not that the asset or any portion thereof will not be realized Based upon all the available evidence
including expectation of future taxable income Dell has provided a valuation allowance of 344 million and $48 milhion for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011
respectively, related to state income tax credit carryforwards Dell has provided a valuation allowance of $29 nulhon and $20 milhion related to net operating
losses for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011, respectively No valuation allowance has been provided against other deferred tax assets for Fiscal 2012, compared 1o
a 34 million valuation allowance provided aganst other deferred tax assets for Fiscal 2011 Dell has detetmned that it will be able to realize the remainder of

its deferred tax assets
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The components of Dell's net deferred tax assets are as folows

February 3, January 28,
2012 2011
(11 millions)
Deferred tax assets
Deferred revenue $ 486 3 369
Warranty provisions 226 214
Provisions for product returns and doubtful accounts 85 77
Credit carry forwards 61 54
Loss carryforwards 2N 268
Stock-based and deferred compensalion 183 203
Operating and compensation related accruals 140 135
Capitalized intangible assets 51 55
Other 97 98
Deferred tax assets 1,600 1,473
Valuation allowance (73) (72)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 1,527 1,401
Deferred tax habilities
Leasing and financing (2200 49}
Property and equipment (136) (144)
Acquired mntangibles (667) (511)
Other (59) (64)
Deferred tax habilities (1,082) (768)
Net deferred tax assets $ 445 $ 633
Current portion 3 682 s 558
Non-current portion (237) 75
Net deferred tax assets 3 445 s 633

The current portion of net deferred tax assets 15 mcluded in Other current assets in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of February 3, 2012,
and January 28, 2011 The non-current portion of net deferred tax assets 1s included in Other non-current labilities and Other non-current assels in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of February 3, 2012 and January 28, 2011, respectively

During Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011, Dell recorded $124 rmullion and $41 mulhon , respectively, of deferred tax assels related to net operating loss and credit
carryforwards acquired dunng the year all of which was offset aganst goodwill Dunng Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011 $1¢ mullion and $21 mulhon ,
respectively, were recorded to addiional paid n capital related to the utihization of acquired net operating losses as a result of employee stock option activity,
and 1s included 1n net tax shorifall from empleyee stock plans on the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity Utihzation of the acquired
carryfarwards 15 subject to limitations due to ownership changes that may delay the utilization of a portion of the acquired carryforwards No additional
valuation allowances have been placed on the acquired net operating loss and credit carryforwards The camryforwards expire begmmng in Fiscal 2013

Deferred taxes have not been recorded on the excess book basis in the shares of centain foreign subsidiaries because these basis differences are not expeeted to
reverse 1n the foreseeable future and are expected to be permanent in duration The basis differences 1n the amount of approxamately $15 9 biltion arose
primanly from undistnbuted book earmings, which Dell intends to remnvest indefinitely The basis differences could reverse through a sale of the subsidianes
or the recept of dividends from the subsidianies, as well as vanous other events Net of available foreign tax credits, residual income tax of approximately

55 2 billion would be due upon reversal of this excess book basis as of February 3, 2012

A portion of Dell's operations 15 subject to a reduced tax rate or 1s free of tax under various tax holidays Dell's sigmificant tax hohdays expire in whole or 1n
part during Fiscal 2016 through Fiscal 2021 Many of these tax holidays and reduced tax rates may be extended when certain conditions are met or may be
termunated early 1f certain conditions are not met The income tax
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benefits attnbutable to the tax status of these subsidianes were estimated to be approximately $474 million (3 26 per share) tn Fiscal 2012, $321 million ($ 17
per share) in Fiscal 2011, and $149 million ($ 08 per share) in Fiscal 2010

The effective tax rate differed from the statutory U S federal income tax rate as follows

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
U S federal statutory rate 350% 350% 350%
Foreign income taxed at different rates (192) (147) (76)
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 08 14 14
Regulatory settlement - 10 —
Other 10 (L 4) 04
Toral 176% 213% 292%

A reconcihation of the beginnming and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits 1s as follows

1otal

(1n milhons)

Balance at January 30, 2009 ] 1,538
Increases related to tax positions of the current year 298
Increases related to tax positions of prior years 32
Reductions for tax posiuions of prior years (69)
Lapse of statute of hmutations 3
Audit settlements (3)

Balance at January 29, 2010 1,793
Increases related to tax positions of the current year 262
Increases related to tax posiions of prior years 22
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 41
Lapse of statute of hmitations (32)
Audit settlements 21

Balance at January 28, 2011 1,983
Increases related to tax positions of the current year 260
Increases related Lo tax poasitions of prior years 30
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (43)
Lapse of statute of hmttations (32)
Audit settlements (C)]

Balance at February 3 2012 b 2194

Dell recorded net unrecognized tax benefits of $2 6 billion and $2 3 ballion, which are included 1n Other non-current habalities n 1ts Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position as of February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011 respectively The unrecogmized tax benefits in the table above do not include accrued
terest and penalues Dell had accrued interest and penalties of $664 million, $552 million, and $507 milhion as of February 3, 2012, January 28, 2011, and
January 29 2010 respectively These interest and penalties are offset by tax benefits from transfer pricing, interest deduchions, and state income tax, which
are also not included n the table above These benefits were $295 million, $242 mullion, and 3209 mullion as of February 3, 2012, January 28, 201 1, and
January 29, 2010, respectively Nel unrecognized tax benefits, 1f recognized would favorably affect Dell's effective tax rate

Interest and penalties related 1o income tax habilities are included in income tax expense Dell recorded 5! 12 mullion , $45 milhion , and $107 mullion related
to interest and penalties which were included 1n income tax expense for Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, respeciively
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Dell 18 currently under income tax audits in vanous junsdictions, including the United States The 1ax penods open o examinanion by the major taxtng
Jurisdictions to which Dell 1s subject include fiscal years 1999 through 2011 As a result of these audits, Detl maintains ongomg discussions and negotiations
relating (o tax matters with the 1axing authonties in these vanous junisdictions Dell believes that it has provided adequate reserves related to all matters
contained 1n tax penods open to examination

Deli's US federal income tax retums for fiscal years 2007 through 2009 are currently under examination by the [nternal Revenue Service ( IR§") The [RS
1ssued a Revenue Agent's Report (“RAR™) for fiscal years 2004 through 2006 proposing certam assessments pnimanly related to transfer pnicing matters Dell
disagrees with centain of the proposed assessments and has contested them through the IRS administrative appeals procedures The IRS has remanded the
audit for tax years 2004 through 2006 back to examination for further review Should Dell expenence an unfavorable outcome n the IRS matter, such an
outcome could have a matersal impact on its results of operations, financial position, and cash flows Although the iming of income tax audit resolutions and
negotiations with taxing authonties 1s highly uncertain, Dell does not anticipate a sigmificant change to the total amount of unrecognized tncome tax benefits
within the next 12 months

Dell takes certain non-income tax positions in the jurisdictions in which it operates and has received certain non-income tax assessments from vanous
junisdictions Dell has recently reached agreement with a state government 1n Brazil regarding the proper application of transactional taxes to warranues
related to the sale of computers Under the consensus Dell has agreed to apply certain tax incentives in order to offset potential tax habihties Reaching this
agreement did not have a materal impact to ts Consolidated Financial Statements

Dell belteves its positions 1n these non-income tax hitigation matters are supportable, that a hability 1s not probable and that 1t will ultimately prevail In the

normal course of business, Dell's positions and conclusions relaled 10 1ts non-income taxes could be challenged and assessments may be made To the extent
new information 1s obtained and Dell's views on 1ts positions, probable outcomes of assessments, or litigation change, changes in estimates to Dell’s accrued
liabilities would be recorded 1n the pertod in which such determination 1s made

94




Table of Contents
DELL INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SIATEMENTS (Continucd)

NOIE 12 — EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 1s based on the weighted-average effect of all common shares 1ssued and outstanding and 15 caleulated by dividing net income by the
wetghted-average shares outstanding duning the penod Dituted earnings per share 1s calcutated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of
commeon shares used 1n the basic earmings per share calculation plus the number of common shares that would be 1ssued assumung exercise or conversion of
all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding Dell excludes equity instruments from the calculation of diluted earmungs per share 1f the effect of
including such instruments 1s anti-dilutive Accordingly, certain stock-based incentive awards have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earmings per
share totahing 142 mulhion, 179 mullion, and 220 million shares for Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010, respectively

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for each of the past three fiscal years

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, Januvary 29,
2012 2011 2010
(in mullions, except per share amounis) -
Numerator
Net income 3 3,492 $ 2,635 b3 i,433

Denominator

Weighted-average shares outstanding

Basic 1,838 1,944 1.954

Effect of ditutive options, restnicted stock unuts, restricted stock, and other 15 11 8

Daluted 1,853 1,955 1,962
Earmings per share

Basic $ 190 s 136 $ 073

Diluted $ 1 88 3 135 $ 073

NOTE 13 — CAPITALIZATION

Preferred Stock

Authorized Shares — Dell has the authonty 10 1ssue 5 million shares of preferred stock, par value § 01 per share At February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011
no shares of preferred stock were 1ssued or outstanding

Common Steck

Authorized Shares — At February 3, 2012, Dell was authonized to 1ssue 7 billion shares of common stock, par value $ 01 per share

Shai e Repur chase Program — Dell has a share repurchase program that authonzes it to purchase shares of common stock 1n order to increase shareholder
value and manage dilution resulting from shares 1ssued under Dell's equity compensation plans However, Dell does not currently have a policy that requires
the repurchase of common stock 1 conyunction with stock-based payment arrangements During Fiscal 2012, Dell repurchased $2 7 billion tn common stock
At bFebruary 3, 2012, Dell's remaimung authonzed amount for share repurchases was $6 0 biliion
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NOIE 14 — S10CK-BASED COMPENSA[ION AND BENEFI1 PLANS
Stock-based Compensation

Description of the Plans

Employ ee Stock Plans — Dell 1s currently 1ssuing stock grants under the Detl Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the ‘2002 Incentive
Plan™), which was approved by sharcholders on December 4, 2007 There are previous plans that have been terminated, except for options previously granted
under those plans which reman outstanding In Fiscal 2012, m connection with a business acquisition, Dell assumed the stock incentive plan of one of its
acquired companies No luture grants will be made under the assumed plan The 2002 Incentive Plan, all previous plans, and the assumed plan are all
collecuvely referred to as the  Stock Plans 7

The 2002 Incentive Plan provides for the grant of stock-based incentive awards to Dell’s employees and non-employee directors Awards may be incentive
stock options wathin the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock umits, or
performance-based restricted stock units There were approximately 342 million, 344 million, and 320 million shares of Dell's common stock available for
future grants under the 2002 Incentive Plan at February 3, 2012, January 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010, respectively To sansty stock option exercises and
vested restricted stock awards, Dell has a policy of 1ssumg new shares rather than repurchasing shares on the open market

Stock Oprion Agreements — Stock options granted under the 2002 Incentive Plan typically vest pro-rata al each option annmiversary date over a three- to five-
year period These options, which are granted with option exercise pnees equal to the fair market value of Dell's common stock on the date of grant generally
expire within ten to twelve years from the date of grant In connection with business acquisitions, duning Fiscal 2012, Dell converted or assumed a small
number of stock options granted under the stock incentive plans of acquired companies, which are collectively referred to as the "assumed options " These
assumed options vest over a penod of up to four years and generally expire within ten years from the date of assumption Compensation expense for all stock
optiens s recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service penod

Restricted Stock Awards — Awards of restncted stock may be either grants of restricted stock, restnicted stock units, or performance-based stock units that are
1ssued at no cost to the recipient For restricted stock grants, at the date of grant, the recipient has all nghts of a stockholder, subject to certain restnctions on
transferabihity and a nisk of forfeiture Restncted stock grants typically vest over a three- to seven-year period beginming on the date of the grant Fgr restricted
stock umits legal ownership of the shares is not transferred to the employee until the umits vest, which 1s generally over a three- to five-year period The cost
of these awards 1s determuned using the fair market value of Dell's common stock on the date of the grant Dell also grants performance-based restricted stock
units as a long-term incentive 1n which an award recipient receives shares contingent upon Dell achieving performance objectives and the employee's
conuinuing employment through the vesting penod, which 15 generally over a three- to five-year penod Compensation costs recorded 1n connection with these
performance-based restricted stock units are based on Dell's best esimate of the number of shares that will eventually be 1ssued upon achievement of the
specified performance objectives and when 1t becomes probable that such performance objectives will be achieved

Compensation costs for restncted stock awards with a service condition 1s recogmzed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period Compensation
costs for performance-based restricted stock awards 1s recogmzed on an accelerated multiple-award approach based on the most probable outcome of the
performance condition
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Stock Oprion Activin
The following table summarnizes stock option activaty for the Stock Plans dunng Fiscal 2010, Fiscal 201 1, and Fiscal 2012

Number Weighted- Weighted- Aggregate
of Average Average Intrinsic
Options Exercise Remaiming Value
Price Contractual
Term
(in millhions) (per share) {1n years) (in millions)

1Oplions outslandmg — January 30, 2009 230 3 31 85
Granted ® 1 983
Exercised — 12 05
Forfeited — 14 73
Cancelled/expired (36} 3539
Options outstanding — January 29, 2010 205 3000
Granted ) 17 14 82
Exercised M 918
Forfeited (2) 13 85
Cancelled/expired (58) 3644
Options outstanding — January 28, 2011 161 2649
Granted and assumed through acquisitions 28 1379
Exercised {4 938
Forfeited (5) 1335
Cancelled/expired 37N 24 85

Options outstanding — February 3, 2012 ) 143 2537 42 $ 177

Vested and expected 1o vest {net of estimated forfertures) — February 3, 2012(% 138 $ 2572 41 $ 163

Exercisable — February 3, 2012 108 $ 2902 28 5 54

) In Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010 Dell did not convert or assume any options in connection with business zcquisibons

() For options vested and expected to vest options exercisable, and options outstandsng the aggregate intnnsic value 1n the table above represents the witdl pre-tax intnnsic value (the
difference between Dells closing stock price on February 3 2012 and the exercise price multiplied by the number of in-the moncy options) that would have been recerved by the option
halders had the holders exercised their options on February 3 2012 The intrinsic valug changes based on changes 1n the fuir value of Dell's commen stock

In connection with Fiscal 2012 acquisitions, Dell assumed approximately & million stock options with a weighted-average exercise price per share of §7 38
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Information about options outstanding and exercisable at February 3, 2012 1s as follows

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Range of Number Waeighted-Average Weighted-Average Number Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise Price per Share Remaining Exercisable Exercise Price Per Share
Contractual Life |
(in mulhions) (tn years) (1n mullions)
$0-3999 8 $ 738 39 3 3 742
$1000-51999 42 $ 1557 B 12 3 1672
$20 00 - $29 99 45 $ 25 86 18 45 s 25 86
$30 00 - %3999 31 $ 3431 22 k1 5 3431
$40 and over 17 $ 40 23 31 17 $ 4023
Total 143 s 2537 432 108 3 2902
R |
Other information pertaining to stock options for the Stock Plans 1s as follows !
Iiscal Year Ended |
February 3, January 28, January 29, |
2012 2011 2010 '
(in millions except per option data) !
Total far value of options vested $ 56 $ 13 $ —
Total ntnnsic value of options exercised $ 27 3 7 $ —

(@) The total intnnsic value of options cxcrcised represcnts the total pre-tax intminsic valug (the difference between the stock price at exercise and the exercise price muluplied by the number
of uptions exercised) that was received by the aption holdurs who excreised their optiens duning the fiscal year

At February 3, 2012, January 28, 201 L, and January 29, 2010, there was $114 milhon, $65 million, and $28 mitlion of total unrecognized stock-based
compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures, related to unvested stock options expected to be recognized over a weighted-average penod of 1 9 years,
2 0 years and 2 2 years, respectively

Valwation of Awards

For stock options granted under the 2002 Incentive Plan, Dell uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options at grant
date For stock options assumed through business acquisitions, Dell uses the lattice binomial valuation model to estimate fair value For a limited number of
performance-based units that include a market-based condition, Dell uses the Monte Carlo sumulation valuation model to estimate fair value Stock-based
compensztion expense recogmized for awards assumed through acquisitions as well as awards that include a market-based condition was not matenal for
Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011, or Fiscal 2010

For stock options granted under the 2002 Incentive Plan, the estimated fair values incorporate various assumptions, including volaulity, expected term, and
risk-ftee interest rates Expected volatility 1s based en a blend of implhied and tustorical volatihity of Dell's common stock over the most recent penod
commensurate with the estimated expected term of Dell's stock options  Dell uses this blend of implied and historical volatility, as well as other economic
data, because management believes such volatility 1s more representative of prospective trends The expected term of an award 1s based on histerical
expenence and on the terms and condiions of the stock awards granted to employees The dividend yield of zero 1s based on the fact that Dell has never paid
cash dividends and has no present intention to pay cash dividends
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The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted under the 2002 Incentive Plan was deterrmned based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model
The assumptions utilized 1n this model as well as the weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and
Fiscal 2010 are presented below

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,

2012 2011 2010

Weighted-average grant date foir value of stock options granted per option $ 513 $ 501 $ 37

Expected term (in years} 46 45 45
Risk-free interest rate (U S Government Treasury Note) 1 9% 22% 1 8%
Volatility 36% 3% 44%
Dividends —% —% —%

Restricted Stock Anards

Non-vested restnicted stock awards and activinies For Fiscal 2010, Fiscal 201 1, and Fiscal 2012 were as follows

Number Weighted-
of Average

Shares Grant Date

Fair Value

(1 mullons) (per share)

Non-vested restricred stock

Non-vested restricted stock balance as of January 30, 2009 36 $ 2245
Granted 22 1139
Vested'® (13) 2278
Forfeited (5) 18 23
Non-vested restricted stock balance as of January 29, 2010 40 16 84
Granted 26 14 53
Vested(®! a7 1910
Forfeited (7 1521
Non-vested restricted stock balance as of January 28, 2011 42 1471
Granted 22 1519
Vested® (18) 16 47
Forfetted (4) 14 05
Non-vested restnicted stock balance as of February 3, 2012 42 3 14 29

@) Upon vesting of restrcted stock units some of the underlying shares arc generally sold to cover the required withholding taxes However, select participants may choose the net shares
settlement methed to cover withholhing tax requirements  Total shares withheld were approximately 426 000 334 000 and 157 000 fior Fiscal 2002, Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010
respectively Total payments for the employee s tax obligations to the taxing authoritics were $6 millien 35 million and $2 milhion tn Fiscal 2002 2011 and 2010 respectively and arc
reflected as a financing actnaty within the Consolhidated Statemcents of Cash Flows

For Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010, the total estimated vest date fair value of restricted stock awards was $273 mullion, $250 million, and $134
mlhon, respectively

At February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010, there was $348 mullion, $341 mullion, and $393 mullion, respectively, of unrecogmized stock-
based compensation expense, nel of estimated forfeitures, related to non-vested restnicted stock awards These awards are expected to be recogized over a
weighted-average penod of approximately | 8,1 9 and 1 8 years, respectively
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Srock-based Compensation b epense

Stock-based compensation expense was allocated as follows |

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010

(in rllions)

Stock-based compensation expense

Cost of net revenue b 59 3 57 1) 47

QOperating expenses 303 275 265
Stock-based compensation expense before taxes 362 332 312

Income tax benefit (108} (97) o0
Stock-based compensation expense, net of income taxes $ 254 ) 235 ) 221

Emplovee Benefit Plans

401 (k) Plan — Dell has a defined contnbution retirement plan (the *401(k) Plan™) that complies with Section 401(k) of the Intemal Revenue Code
Substantially all employees in the U § are ehigible to participate 1n the 401(k) Plan Effective Januvary 1, 2008, Dell matches 100% of each participant's
voluntary contributions subject o a maxsmum contnibution of 5% of the participant’s compensation, and participants vest immediately m all Dell
contributions to the 40t (k) Plan Dell's contributions during Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 , and Fiscal 2010 were $153 mullion , $132 milhon , and $91 mullion , |
respectively Dell's contnbutions are invested according to each participant's elections 1n the tvestment options provided under the Plan Investment options .
include Dell common stock, but neither participant nor Dell comributions are required to be invested in Dell common stock During Fiscal 2010, Dell also |
contributed $4 mullion to Perot Systems' 401(k) Plan (the "Perot Plan") after the acquisition of the company on November 3, 2009 The Perot Plan was merged |
into the 401(k) Plan during Fiscal 2011

Deferred Compensation Plan — Dell has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan (the * Deferred Compensation Plan”} for the benefit of cenan
management employees and non-employee directors The Deferred Compensation Plan permuts the deferral of base salary and annual incentive bonus The
deferrals are held n a separate trust, which has been established by Dell to administer the Plan The assets of the trust are subject to the claims of Dell's
credutors n the event that Dell becomes msolvent Consequently, the trust qualifies as a grantor trust for income tax purposes (known as a “Rabbi Trust’) In
accordance with the accounting provisions for deferred compensation arrangements where amounts carned are held in a Rabbi Trust and invested, the assels
and liabihities of the Deferred Compensation Plan are presented in Long-term investments and Accrued and other habilites respectively, in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position The assets held by the trust are classified as trading secunties with changes recorded to Interest and other, net These assets
were valued at $105 mmlhon at February 3, 2012, and are disclosed m Note 3 of the Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements Changes in the deferred
compensation hability are recorded to compensation expense
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NOTE 15 —SLGMEN1 INFORMATION

Dell's four global business segments are Large Enterprise, Public, Small and Medium Business (‘SMB ), and Consumer Large Enterprise includes sales of IT
infrastructure and service solutions to large global and national corporate customers Public includes sales to educational institutions, governments, health care
orgamzations, and law enforcement agencies among others SMB includes sales of complete IT solutions to small and medium-sized businesses Consumer
in¢hudes sales to individual consumers and retailers around the world

The business segments disclesed 1n the accompanying Consohidated Financial Statements are based on this orgarzational structure and information reviewed
by Dell's management to evaluate the business segment results Dell's measure of segment operating income for management reporting purposes exchudes
severance and facility closure expenses, broad based long-term incentives, acquisition-related charges, and amortization of intangibles

The follewing table presents net revenue by Dell's reportable global segments as well as a reconcihiation of consolidated segment operating income to Dell's
consolhidated operating income

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, Januoary 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010

(1n milhons)

Net revenue

Large Enterptise $ 18,457 $ 17,813 $ 14,285
Public 16,548 16,851 14,484
Small and Medium Business 15,166 14473 12 079
Consumer 11,900 12,357 12,054
Total 5 62,071 5 61,494 3 52,902
Consalidated operating income )
Large Enterprise B 1,854 3 1,473 3 819
Public 1,644 1,484 1,361
Small and Medium Business 1,665 1477 1,040
Consumer 324 65 107
Consolidated segment operating income 5,487 4499 3,327
Severance and facility actions and acquisition-related costs @ (313%) (227) (597)
Broad based long-term meentives (352) (350) (353)
Amortization of intangible assets (391) (349) (205)
Other = — (140) —
Total S 4,431 $ 3,433 % 2,172

(3} Broad based long-term incentives in¢ludes stock-based compensation and other long-term incentive awards but excludes stock-based compensation related to acquisiions which are
inctuded 1n acquisition-related costs See Note 14 of Notes to Conselidated Financial Statements for additional information

] Acquisition-related costs cansist primanly of retention payments integration costs and consultng fees

(&) Other includes the $100 mullion settlement fur the SEC investgation and a $40 million sctilement for a secunities hiigation taw suit that were both incucred 1n the first quarter of Fiscal
2011
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The follewing table presents assels by Dell's reportable global segments Segment assets primanly consist of accounts receivable and inventories

February 3, January 28,
2012 2011
{1n nullions)

Total assets
Corporate i 36,171 s 30,264
Large Fnterprise 3,108 2,934
Public 2,330 2,545
Small and Medium Bustiness 1,421 1398
Consumer 1,503 1458

Total $ 44,533 b 38,599
The following table presents depreciation expense by Dell's reportable business segments

' Fiseal Year Ended
February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
(m millions)

Depreciation expense
Large Enterprise 3 162 $ 180 5 175
Public 145 170 177
Small and Medium Business 133 146 148
Consumer 105 125 147

Total s 545 N 621 $ 647
The following 1ables present net revenue and long-lived asset information allocated between the U § and foreign countnes

Fiscal Year Ended
February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
(m mithions)

Net revenue
United States 3 30 404 5 31,912 $ 28.053
Foreign countrics 31,667 29,582 24,849

Total % 62,071 s 61 494 $ 52,902

February 3, January 28,
2012 2011
(1 mallons)

Long-tived assets
Umnited States ) 1,577 3 1.419
Foreign countries 547 534

Total § 2124 3 1953

The allocation between domestic and foreign net revenue is based on the location of the customers Net revenue and long-lived assets from any single foreign
country did not constitute more than 10% of Dell's consotidated net revenues or long-lived assets duning Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, or Fiscal 2010
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The following table presents net revenue by product and services categories

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 2011 2010
(i mulhions)
Net revenue
Enterpnise Soluttons and Services
Enterprise Solutions
Servers and networking $ 8,336 3 7,609 6,032
Storage | 943 2,295 2,192
Services 8,322 7673 5,622
Software and peripherals 10,222 10,261 9 499
Chient
Mobility 19,104 18,971 16,610
Desktop PCs 14,144 14,685 12,947
Net revenue s 62,071 5 61,494 52,902
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NOTE 16 — SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDA IED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Supplemental Consolidated Statements of Financial Position Information
The following table provides :nformanon on amounts included 1n Accounts receivable, net, [nventories, net, Property, plant, and equipment, net, Accrued and

cther habilsties, and Other non-current habilities, as well as prepaid expenses as of February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011

February 3, Janunary 28,
2012 2011

(1in mullions)
Accounts recewvable, net

Gross accounts recelvable $ 6,539 $ 6,589
Allowance for doubtful accounts (63} (96)
Total 3 6,476 $ 6,493
Inventories net
Production materials $ 753 $ 593
Work-1n-process 239 232
Fimshed goods 412 476
Total 3 1,404 S 1,301
Prepaid expenses™ 3 362 $ 374
Property plant, and equipment net
Computer equipment $ 2309 S 2,275
Land and buildings 1,843 1,674
Machinery and other equipment 782 780
Total property, plant, and equipment 4,934 4,729
Accumulated depreciation and amorization (2,810) (2776)
Total 5 2,124 ] 1,953

() Prepaid expenses are included 1n other current asscts in the Consohdated Statements of Financiat Position
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Supplemental Consolidated Statements of Financial Position Information {cont )

February 3, January 28,
2012 2011
(tn miullions)
Accrued and ather current habilittes
Compensation s 1 604 b3 1.550
Warranty liability 572 575
Income and other taxes 432 529
Other 1.326 1,527
Total $ 3,934 % 4,181
Other non-current llabilites
Warranty liability $ 316 3 320
Unrecogmized tax benefits net 2,563 2,293
Deferred tax habilities 405 —
Other 108 73
Total $ 3,392 $ 2,686

Supplemental Consohdated Statements of Income
The table below provides details of interest and other, net for Fiscal 2012, Fiscal 2011, and Fiscal 2010

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, January 28, January 29,
2012 01 2010

(1in millions)

Inrerest and other net

Investment mcome, primanly interest $ 81 $ 47 $ 57
Gains (losses) on investments, net 3 6 2
Interest expense (279) (199) (i60)
Foreign exchange 5 4 (59)
Other (6) 59 12
Interest and ather, net S (9on 3 (83) S (148)
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NO1LS 10 CONSOI IDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT1S (Continued)

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Fiseal Description Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance
Year Beginming Income Allowance at knd of
of Period Statement Period

Trade Receivables

2012 Allowance for doubtful accounts $ a6 3 90 ) 123 $ 63
2011 Allowance for doubtful accounts b 15 8 124 $ 143 3 96
2010 Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 12 $ 185 ) 182 S 115
Customer Financing Recewvables )

2012 Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 241 § 144 $ 183 $ 202
2011 Aliowance for doubtful accounts 3 237 $ 258 S 254 s 241
2010 Allowance for doubtful accounts S 149 $ 244 $ 156 $ 237
Trade Recervables

2012 Allowance for customer returns by 102 $ 607 3 623 $ 86
2011 Alowance for customer returns $ 79 g 581 3 558 b 102
2010 Allowance for customer returns 3 69 $ 541 S 531 s 79

@) Charge-offs to the allowance for financing receivable losses for customer financing recervables includes principal and interest
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NOTE 17 — UNAUDITED QUARTERLY RESULTS

DELL INC

NOILS TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS (Continued)

The following tables present selected unaudited Conselidated Statements of Income for each quarter of Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011

MNet revenue
Gross margin
Net income
Earnings per share
Basic
Dihuted

Weighted-average shares outstanding

Basic
Diluted

Net revenue
Gross margin
Net income
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding

Basic
Diluted

Fiscal Year 2012

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in millions, except per share data)
s 15,017 3 15,658 $ 15,365 16,031
S 3432 8§ 3525 § 3,469 3 385
$ 945 § 890 3 893 764
$ 050 § 048 & 049 043
3 049 3 048 § 049 043
1,908 I,SSé 1,813 1778
1,923 1,871 1,828 1,796
Fiscal Year 2011
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(1in millions, except per share data)

3 14874 § 15,534 § 15,394 15,692
$ 2516 3 2,586 8§ 3,003 3291
s 341 § 545 3 822 927
017 $ 028 § 042 048
017 3 028 $ 042 048
1,961 1,952 1,939 1,924
1,973 1,960 1,949 1,938
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ITEM 9 — CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMLENTS WITH ACCOUNITANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURL

None

ITEM 9A — CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Exhibits 31 1 and 31 2 1o this report include the certifications of aur Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14 under the
Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act™) This ltem 9A ncludes information concerning the controls and control evaluations referred to in those
certifications

Management's Report on [nternal Control over Financial Reporting

Management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, 1s responsible {or establishing and mamtaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting Intemnal contro! over financial reporting {as defined 1n Rules 13a-15(f) and t5d{f) under the Exchange Act) s a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabality of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes tn accordance with GAAP [nternal control over financial reporting includes those poltetes and procedures which (a) pertain to the mamntenance of
records that 1in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets, {b) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permil preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, (c) provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures
are being made only w accordance with appropnate authorization of management and the board of directors, and (d}) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthonzed acquisition, use, or disposition of assets that coutd have a matenal effect on the financial statements

In connection with the preparation of this report our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financia! Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of February 3, 2012, based on the cniterta
established n Jnternal Control — Integrated Framew ork 15sued by the Committee of Sponsoning Orgamizations of the Treadway Commussion As a result of
that evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of February 3, 2012 The effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of February 3, 2012, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report, which 1s included in Part 1l — ltem 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ™

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Dell's management, with the participation of Dell's Chief Execunive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated whether any change n Dell's internal
control over financial reporting occurred during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2012 Based on their evaluation, management concluded that there has been no
change i Dell's internal control over financial reporting duning the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2012 that has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably hkely 1o
matenally affect, Dell's internal control over finanuial reporting

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 1n Rules 13a-15(¢) and i5d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed 1n reports filed or submutted under the Exchange Act 1s recorded, processed, summanzed, and reported within the ime peniods specified in SEC
rules and forms and that such information 1s accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chuef Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures

In connection with the preparaton of this report, our management, under the supervision and wath the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effecuveness of the design and operation of our disctosure controls and procedures as of February 3, 2012
Based on that evaluation, our management has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of February 3, 2012

Inherent Limutatiens un Internal Controls

Our system of controls 1s designed to provide reasonable, nat absolute assurance regarding the reliability and integnty of accounting and financial reporting
Management does not expect thal our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financtal reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all
fraud A control system, no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system will be met These inherent ltmitations include the following

*  Judgments in deciston-makimg can be faulty, and control and process breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or
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mistakes
= Controls can be circumvented by individuals acting alone or in collusion with each other, or by management overnde

+  The design of any system of controls 1s based 1n part on certain assumptions about the likelthood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving 1ts stated goals under all potential future conditions

+  Qver ume, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of comphance with associated policies or
procedures

»  The design of a control system must reflect the fact that resources are constrained, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs

ITEM 9B — OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART IN

ITEM 10 — DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We have adopted a code of ethics apphcable to our principal executive officer and other senior financia! officers, who nclude our principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer or controller, and persons performing similar functions The code of ethics, which we refer to as our Code of Conduct, 1s avatlable
on our Interet website at www dell com To the extent required by SEC rules, we intend to disclose any amendments to this code and any waiver of a
provision of the code for the benefit of our prinuipal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar functions, on our website within any period that may be required under SEC rules from time to ume

Sce ‘Part | — Item t — Business — Executive Officers of Dell™ for information about our executive officers, which 1s incorporated by reference 1n this
Item 10 Other information required by this ltem 10 15 incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2012 annual meeting ot
stockholders, referred to as the 2012 proxy statement, * which we will file with the SEC on or before 120 days after our 2012 fiscal year-end, and which will
appear 1n the 2012 proxy statement under the captions ‘Propesal | — Election of Directors’ and  Additional Informauon — Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownershup Reporting Compliance ™

ITEM i1 — EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item 11 1s incorporated herein by reference to the 2012 proxy statement, including the information in the 2012 proxy statement
appeanng under the captions Proposal 1 — Election of Directors — Director Compensation™ and ‘Executive Compensation ™

1 12— SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMEN1 AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this Item 12 1s incorporated herein by reference to the 2012 proxy siatement, including the mformatton in the 2012 proxy statement
appearing under the captions *Stock Ownership™ and  Executive Compensation — Equity Compensation Plans

A 13 — CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this Item 13 1s incorporated herein by reference to the 2012 proxy statement, including the information in the 2012 proxy statement
appearmg under the captions Proposal | — Elections of Dhrectors™ and “Additonal Information — Certain Relationships and Related Transactions ™

[TEM 14 — PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this ltem 14 15 mcorporated herein by reference to the 2012 proxy statement, including the mformaton in the 2012 proxy statement
appearing under the caption ‘Propesal 2 — Ranfication of Independent Auditor *
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PART IV

I'TEM 15 — EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULLS
Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed as a part of this repont under “Part Il — ftem 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data™

Page
Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 58
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at February 3, 2012, and January 28, 2011 59
Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended Echruary 3, 2012, January 28, 2011, and Japuary 29, 2010 60
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, Janvary 28, 2011, and January 29, 2010 61
Consclidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, January 28, 2011, and January 29, 62
2010

Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements 63

A hst of the exhibits filed or furnished with this report {or incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed or furnished) 1s provided in the Exhibit index
on page 115 of this report
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Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule 1 — Valuation and Qualtfying Accounts for the three fiscal years ended February 3, 2012, January 28 2011, and January 29 201015 included in
Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “Part Ll — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data " All other schedules
called for by Form 10-K are omutted because they are napplicable or the required information 18 shown in the consahidated financial statements, or notes
thereto, included heren
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 1its behalf’
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized

DELL INC

By /s MICHAEL S DELL
Michael S Dell
Chearmun and Chief Executive Officer
(Duby authorized officer)

Date March 13, 2012
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of (he registrant
and 1n the capacities and as of the date indicated

Name Itle Date
/s! MICHAEL § DELL Chairman and Chief Execulive Officer March 13, 2012
Michael § Dell (principal executive officer)
s/ JAMES W BREYER Drreclor March 13,2012

James W Breyer

/s/ DONALD J CARTY Drrector March 13,2012
Donald I Carty

/sf JANET F CLARK Drrector March 13,2012
Janet F Clark

/sf LAURA CONIGLIARO Director March 13 2012

Laura Comigharo

/o KENNETH M DUBERSTEIN Director March 13, 2012
Kenneth M Duberstein

/s/ WILLIAM H GRAY, 111 Director * March 13, 2012
Willlam H Gray, 11

/s/ GERARD J KLEISTERLEE Director March 13,2012

Gerard J Klesterlee

fs/ THOMAS W LUCE, Il Duirector March 13, 2012

Thomas W Luce, 11

/s KLAUSS LUFT Director March 13, 2012
Klaus § Luft

fsf ALEX ] MANDL Director March 13, 2012
Alex ] Mandl

s/ SHANTANU NARAYEN Director March 13, 2012

Shantanu Narayen

/s/ H ROSS PEROT, JR Durector March 13, 2012

H Ross Perot, Jr

fs/ BRIAN T GLADDEN Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 13 2012




Brian T Gladden

/s/ THOMAS W SWEET

Thomas W Sweet

(principal financial officer)

Vice President, Corporate Finance and Chief Accounting Officer
(principal accounting officer)
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Exhibits

Exhibit No.

31 -

32 —

41 —

42 —

43 —

44 —

45 —

46 —

47 —

48 —

49 —

410 —

411 —

413 —

414 —

415 —

Description of Exhibit

Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exmbit 3 | of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dell Inc
(“Dell" ) for the fiscal quarter ended April 29 2011, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Restated Bylaws, as amended and effecuve as of August 16, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Extubit 3 2 of Dell's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 30, 2010, Commssion File No 0-17017)

Indenture, dated as of Apnl 27, 1998 between Dell Computer Corporation and Chase Bank of Texas, National Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 2 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 28, 1998, Commission File No 0-17017)

Officers’ Certificate pursuant to Sectton 301 of the Indenture establishing the terms of Dell's 7 10% Semor Debentures Due 2028
fincorporated by refecence to Exhibit 99 4 of Dell's Current Report en Form 8-K filed Aprl 28, 1998, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Dell's 7 10% Senior Debentures Due 2028 {(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 6 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed April 28, 1998, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Indenture, dated as of April 17, 2008 between Dell and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N A {formerly The Bank of
New York Trust Company, N A ), as trustee (including the form of notes) (incorporated by reterence to Exhibit 4 1 of Dell's Current
Report an Form 8-K filed April 17, 2008, Commussion File No 0-17017)

indenture, dated as of Aprl 6, 2009 between Dell and The Bank of New York Meilon Trust Company, N A |, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to kxhibit 4 1 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 6, 2009, Commissien File No 0-17017)

First Supplemental Indenture, dated Apnl 6, 2009, between Dell and The Bank of New York Melion Trust Company, N A , as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 2 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed Apnl 6, 2009, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of 5§ 625% Notes due 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhitnt 4 3 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed Apnl 6, 2009,
Commussion File No 0-17017)

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated June 15 2009, between Dell and The Bank of New York Meilon Trust Company, N A , as
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 15, 2009, Commussion File No
0-17017)

Form of 3 375% Notes due 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhubut 4 2 of Dell's Currem Report on Form 8-K filed June 15, 2009,
Comrussion File No 0-17017)

Form of 5 875% Notes due 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 3 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 15, 2009,
Comrmssion File No 0-17017)

Thurd Supplemental indenture, dated September 10, 2010, between Deil and The Bank of New York Melton Trust Company, N A , as
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 10, 2010, Comrmssion File No
0-17017)

Fomm of 1 40% Notes due 201 3 (incorporated by reference to Eximbit 4 2 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 10
2010, Commssion File No 0-17017)

Form of 2 30% Notes due 2015 (imcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 3 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 10,
2010, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of § 40% Notes due 2040 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 4 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 10,
2010, Commussion File No 0-17017)

tourth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 31, 2011, between Dell and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N A , as
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 31,2011 Commission File No
0-17017)




416

417

418

419

Form of Floating Rate Notes due 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 2 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 31,
2011, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of 2 100% Notes due 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibtt 4 3 of Dell’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 31, 2011,
Commusston File No 0-17017)

Form of 3 100% Notes due 2016 {incorporated by reference to Exhibnt 4 4 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 31, 2011,
Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of 4 625% Notes due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibat 4 5 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 31, 2011,
Commussion File No 0-17017)
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Exhibit No.

101

102

103

106

107

108

109

1010

1011

1012

1013

1014

1015

10 16

1017

1018

*

Description of Exhibit

Amended and Restated Dell Computer Corporation 1994 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 of Dell's Registration
Statement on Form S-8 filed October 31 2000, Registration No 333-49014)

Amended and Restated Detl Computer Corporation 1998 Broad-Based Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 of
Dell’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed October 31, 2000, Registration No 333-46016)

Dell Computer Corporation 2002 Long-Termn Incentive Plan (imcorporated by reference to Extibit 10 1 of Dell’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended August 2, 2002, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Dell Inc Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of Dell's 2007 proxy
statement filed October 31, 2007 Commutsston File No 0-17017)

Amended and Restated Dell Inc Deferred Compensation Plan effective as of January 1 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10 7 of Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2009 Commussion File No 0-17017)

Amended and Restated Dell Inc Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective as of January 1, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 8 of Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2009,
Commuission File No 0-17017)

Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of Deli's 2008 proxy statement filed June 2 2008
Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (mcorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99 1 of Dell's Current Report on Form §-K filed July 27 2006 Commission File No 0-17017)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhubit 99 2 of Dell’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 27, 2006, Commission File No 0-17017)

Form of Stock Unnt Agreement for grant 10 Donald J Carty under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99 2 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 20 2006 Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term Incentive
Pian (incorporated by reference to Exiibit 10 10 of Dell's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 4, 2007,
Commuission File No 0-17017)

Form of Restricted Stock Umit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (incotporated by reference to Exhibat 10 12 of Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2011,
Commission File No 0-17017)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Executive Officers under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Extubit 19 23 of Dell’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2009,
Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Restricted Stock Umit Agreement for Executive Officers under the Amended and Restaled 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(ancorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 4 of Dell's Quarnterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended Apnl 30, 2010,
Comnussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for New Hire Senior Executive Officers under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 5 of Dell's Quarterly Report on Fonim 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April
30, 20190, Commussten File No 0-17017

Form of Performance Based Stock Unit Agreement for employees under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99 2 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 14 2006 Commussion kile No 0-17017)

Form of Performance Based Stock Unit Agreement for Executive Officers under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 17 of Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 1,
2008, Comimisston File No 0-17017)

Form of Performance Based Stack Umit Agreement for Executive Officers under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term
Incentive Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 21 of Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 30,
2009, Commussion File No 0-17017)
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Exhibit No.

10 19

10 20

1021

1022

1023

1024

1023

10 26

10 27

10 28

1029

10 30

10 31

1032

1033

10 34

121

21

23
311

*t

-+ 4 4+

Description of Exhibit

Form of Performance Based Stock Uit Agreement for Key Vice Presidents under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 | of Dell's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended Apn!
30, 2010 Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Performance Based Stock Umt Agreement for Communications Solutions Executive Officers under the Amended and
Restated 2002 Long-Term Incennve Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 2 of Dell's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended Apnl 30, 2010 Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 99 3 of Dell's Current Report on Form §-K filed July 27 2006 Commission File No 0-17017)

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for grant to Donald J Carty under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Extubut 99 | of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 20, 2006, Commission File No 0-17017)

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Opuion Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 11 of Dell's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscat quarter ended May 4,
2007, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Executive Officers under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to kxhibit 10 22 of Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2009,
Commussien File No 0-17017)

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Executive Officers under the Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term [ncentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 3 of Dell's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the (iscal quarter ended Apnl 30 2010,
Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Dell and each Non-Employee Director of Dell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10 11 10 Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2003, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Dell and each Executive Officer of Dell (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 27 of
Dell's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal year ended January 28 2011 Commssion File No 0-17017)

Form of Protection of Sensitive Information Noncompetition and Nonsolicitation Agreement (incorporated by reference 1o Exhibt
99 3 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 21, 2007, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Protection of Sensitive Information, Noncompetition and Nonsolicitation Agreement for Executive Officers (incorporated by
reference to Extubit 10 1 of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 16, 2007, Commssion File No 0-17017)

Form of Protection of Sensitive Information, Noncompetition and Nonsolicitation Agreement for Executive Officers (incorporated by
reference 1o Exhibut 10 | of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 12 2007, Comnussion File No 0-17017)

Form of Protection of Sensiive Information Noncompetition and Noasoheitation Agreement

Retention Bonus Merger and Modification Agreement between Dell and Ronald G Garriques (1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit
99 | of Dell's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2009, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Separation Agreement and Release between Ronald G Garrigues and Dell (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 99 1 of Dell’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed November 17 2010, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Separation Agreement and Release between Dell and Peter Altabef (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 | of Dell's Current Repon
on Form 8-K filed January 13, 2011, Commussion File No 0-17017)

Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges
Subsidianes of Dell
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Certification of Michael S Dell, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule |3a-i4(a) under the Securiies Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

312 — Certfication of Bnan T Gladden, Sentor Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32101 — Cenifications of Michael 8 Dell Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Brian T Gladden Semor Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer, pursuantto 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101 INS§ — XBRL Instance Document

101 SCH§ — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101  CAL§ — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
10!  LAB§ — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docurnent

101  PRE§ — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101  DEF§ — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Identifies Exhibii that consists of or includes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

1 Filed wath this report
1t Furnushed with this report
§ Furnished with this report [n accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the information 1n these exhibits shall not be deemed to be “filed™ for

purposes of Section 18 of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to hability under that section, and shall not be
incorporated by reference into any registration statement or other document filed under the Secunities Act of 1933, as amended, except as
expressly set forth by specific reference n such filing
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EXHIBIT 121

DELL INC
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Fiscal Year Ended

February 3, 2012 January 28, 2011 January 29,2010  January 30, Februaryl,

2009 2008
(1n millions, except ratios)
Earnings
Pre-tax income from continuing operations 3 4 240 S 3,350 3 2,024 3 3,324 $ 3,827
Add Fixed Charges adjusted for capitalized interest 315 228 191 132 84
Add Noncontrolling interest — -— — — 29
Total 5 4,555 3 3,578 $ 2215 3 3456 §$ 3,940

Fixed Charges®
Interest Expense 3 279 3 199 S 160 ) 93 8 45

Capitalized interest - —_

Estimate of interest 1n rent expense 36 29 31 39 39
Total 13 315 3 228 S 191 3 132 S 84
Ratio of Earntngs to Fixed Charges 14 16 12 26 47

) Fixed charges included in the calculation of this ratio consist of (1) interest expensed plus (1) interest capitalized {when applicable) plus (1) a reasonable estimation of the interest
fuctor included in rental expense




Dell Ine Subsidiary Last

Other US Entities

Allenware Corporation

Alienware Labs Corporation
ASAP Software Express Inc
Boomi Inc

Bracknell Boulevard (Block CYLL C
Bracknell Boulevard (Block DYL L. C
Compellent Technologies Inc

DCC Executive Secunty Inc

Dell Amenica Latina Corp

Dell Assel Revolving Trust

Dell Asset Secuntization GPLL C
Dell Asset Secuntization Holding L P
Dell Colombia Inc

Dell Computer Holdmngs L P

Dell Conduit Funding L P

Dell Condun GP L L C

Dell DFS Corporation

Dell DES Holdings LL C

Dell Equipment Funding L P

Dell Equipment GPLL C

Dell Federal Systems Corporation
Dell Federal Systems GPLL C
Dell Federai Systems L P

Dell Federal Systems LP LL C
Dell Financial Services LL C

Dell Funding LL C

Dell Global Holdings IVLL C
Dell Global Holdings IX L L C
Dell Global Holdmgs L L C

Dell Global Hoddings VILL C
Dell Gioba! Hoidings VILL L C
Dell Globa! Holdngs VIITL L C
Dell International Holdings 1 L L. C
Dell Intemational L L C

Dell Marketing Corporation

Dell Marketing GPLLC

Dell Marketing L P

Dell Marketng LFLLC

Dell Products Corporation

Dell Products GP L L C

Dell Products L P

Dell Products LPL L C

Dell Protective Services Inc

[xell Recervables Corporation

Exhibat 21

Jurisdiction

Flonda
Flonda
1hinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Nevada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware

Delaware




Other US Lntities

Dell Recevables GPL L C

Dell Receivables L P

Dell Receivables LPLLC

Dell Revolver Company L P

Dell Revolver Funding LL C

Dell Revolver GP LLC

Dell Product and Process Innovation Services Corp
Dell USA Corporation

Dell USAGPLLC

Delt USAL P

DeliUSALPLLC

Dell World Trade Corporation

Dell World Trade GPL L. C

Dell World Trade L P

Dell World Trade LPL 1. C

DFS Equipment Holdings, L P

DFS Equipment Remarketing LLC

DFS Funding L L. C

DFS-SPVLLC

ForcelQ Networks, Inc

Turin Networks Internztional, Inc
Forcel0 Networks Global, Inc

Forcel0 Networks international, Inc
InSlte One Inc

License Technologies Group, Inc

Perot Systems Application Solutions Inc
Perot Systems Communications Services, Inc
Perot Systems Corporation

Perot Systems Government Healthcare Solutions, Inc
Perot Systems Government Services, Inc
Perot Systems Government Sotutions, Inc
Perot Systems Healthcare Solutions, Inc
Perot Systems Revenue Cycle Solutions, Inc
PrSM Corporation

PSC GP Corporation

PSC Healthcare Software, Inc

PSC LP Corporation

PSC Management Limited Partnership
Q5SS Group Inc

SecureWorks Holding Corp

SecureWorks Inc

Transaction Applications Group, Inc

Jurisdiction

Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Nevada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Virginia
Delaware
Massachusetts
Delaware
Tennessee
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Maryland
Georgia
Georgia
Nebraska




Americas International

Alienware Latin Amenica, S A

Canada Branch of Perot Systems Corporation
Corporacion Dell de Venezuela SA

Dell DFS Canada Inc

Delf America Latima Corp , Argentina Branch
Dell Canada Inc

Delil Colombia Inc , Colomba Branch

Dell Computadores do Brasil Lida

Dell Computer de Chile Ltda

Dell Computer Services de Mexico SA de CV
Dell Export Sales Corporation

Dell Global Holdings 111 L P

Dell Global Holdings Ltd

Dell Guatemala Ltda

Dell Honduras § de RL de CV

Dell Mexico, S A deCV

Dell Panama S de R L

Dell Peru, SAC

Dell Puerto Rico Corp

Delt Quebec Inc

Deli Technology Services Inc SR L

Dell Trinidad and Tobagoe Limited

Forcel0 Networks Mexico SA de CV
Force 10 International, Lid

Perot Systerns TSI (Bermuda) Ltd

TXZ Holding Company Limned

Jurnsdiction

Costa Rica
Canada
Canada

Venezuela

Argentina
Canada

Colombia

Brazil
Chile
Mexico
Barbados
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands

Guatemala

Honduras
Mexico
Panama

Peru

Puerto Rico
Canada

Costa Rica

Trimidad and Tobago
Mexico
Cayman Islands
Bermuda
Bermuda




Lurope, Middle East & Africa

26eme Avenue SAS

Abu Dhabi Branch of PSC Healthcare Software, Inc

Alwenware Limited

Bracknell Boulevard Management Company Limited

Branch of Dell (Free Zone Company L LC)
Compellent Technologres Intemational Ltd
Compeltent Technologies Netherlands BV
Compellent Technotogies Germany GmbH
Compellent Technologies France Sarl
Compellenm Technologies [taly S¥l

DellA B

DellAS

Dell A/S

Dell Asia BV

DellBY

Dell Computer {Propnetary) Ltd

Dell Compuler EEIG

Dell Computer Intemnational (11} — Comercio de Compuladores Sociedade Unipessoal Lda

Dell Computer S A
Dell Computer spol sro
Dell Corporation Limited

Dell Corporation Limuited — Northern Lreland Place of Bustness

Dell DFS Hotdings Kft

Dell DFS Ltd - Spamn Branch
Dell DFS Ltd

Dell Direct

Dell Distnibution (EMEA) Limited External Company (Ghana)

Dell Distribution Maroe (Succ)

Dell Emerging Market (EMEA) Ltd (Russia Representative Office}

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited — Egypt Representative Office

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited — Representative Office

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited — Representative Office (Jordan)

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited — Representative Office (Republic of Croatia)

Deil Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited (Kazakhstan Representative Office)

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited (Uganda Representative Office)

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Linuted Magyarorszagi Kereskedelmut Kepviselet — Rep Office
Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited Representative Office - Lebanon

Dell Emerging Markets (EMEA) Limited Trade Representative Office (Bulgaria)

Dell FZ - LLC

Dell FZ-LLC — Bahrain Branch
Dell FZ -LLLC — Qatar Branch
Dell Gesm b H

Dell Global BV

Dell Global Holdtngs 11 BV
Dell Global Holdings 111 BV
Dell Global International BV
Dell GmbH

Jurisdiction

Erance
Abu Dhab:
Ireland
United K_mgdom
Saudi Arabia
UK
Netherlands
Germany
France
laly
Sweden
Norway
Denmark
Netherlands
Netherlands
South Africa
United Kingdom
Portugal
Spain
Crech Republic
United Kingdom
Northern Ir¢land
Hungary
Spain
Ireland
Ireland
Ghana
Morocco
Russia
United Kingdom
Egypt
Romania
Jordan
Croatia
Kazakhstan
Uganda
Hungary
Lebanon
Bulgaria
UAE
Bahrain
Qatar
Austna
Netherlands
Netherlands
Nethertands
Netherlands
Germany




Lurope, Middle East & Africa

Dell Halle GmbH

Dell Hungary Technology Solutions Trade LLC
Del} 111 - Comercto de Computadores, Umipessoal L.DA
Dell Intemational Holdings IX B V

Dell Intenational Holdmgs Kit

Dell International Holdings SAS

Dell Intemational Holdings VILI B V

Dell International Holdings X B V

Dell International Holdings X11 Cooperatoef U A
Dell Internattonal Services SRL

DellLLC

Dell NV

Dell Products

Dell Products (Europe) B V

Dell Products (Poland)} Sp zo o

Dell Products Manufacturing Ltd

Dell Research

Dedl (Swatseriand) GmbH

DS A

Dell S A

DellSpA

Dellsto

Dell SA

Dell SAS

Dell Services S rl

Dell Solutions (UK) Ltd

DeltSpzoo

Decll Tarwan B V

Dell Technology & Solunens (Migena) Limited
Dell Technology & Solutions Israel Lid

Dell Technology & Solutions Ltd (Formerly Ongmnai Solutions Limted)

Dell Technology Products and Services § A
Dell Teknoloj Lumted Sirket

DFS BV

DI IX CV

DI VICY

DIH VIICV

DIH VIIICV

Forcei® Networks France SARL

Force 10 Networks Germany (Branch)
Forcel0 Networks Spain (Rep office)
Force10 Networks Lid

LLC Dell Ukraine

Oy DellAB

Dell Services GmbH (FKA Perot Systems (Germany) GmbH)
Perot Systems (Slovakia)sro

Perot Systems (Switzerland) GmbH

Perot Systems (UK) Ltd

Jurisdiction

Germany
Hungary
Portugal
Netherlands
Hungary
France
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Romania
Russia
Belgium
[reland
Netherlands
Poland
[reland
Ireland
Switzerland
Switzerland
France
lialy
Slovakia
Luxembourg
Morocco
Ttaty
Umted Kingdom
Poland
Netherlands
Nigeria
Israel
Ireland
Greece
Turkey
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
France
Germany
Spain
UK
Ukraine
Finland
Germany
Slovakia
Switzerland
United Kingdom




Europe, Middle East & Africa

Perot Systems BV

Perot Systems Europe Limited

Perot Systems Investments B V

Perot Systems Nederland B V

Perot Systems S rl

Perot Systems TSI (Hungary) Liquidity Management LLC
Perot Systems TSI (Mauritius) Pvt Litd
Perot Systems TS1 (Middle East) FZ-LLC
Perot Systems TSI (Netherlands) B V

SC! Siman

SecureWorks UK Ltd

SecureWorks UK Lid - Finland Branch

Jurisdiction

Netherlands
United Kingdom
Netherlands
Netherlands
Ttaly
Hungary
Mauritius
UAE
Netherlands
France
UK
Finland




Asia-Pacific & Japan

Alienware Corporation (Pacific Rim) Pty Ltd

Australia Branch of Perot Systems (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Beanng Point Management Consulting (Shanghar) Ltd
Dell (China) Company Limited

DctlkChnria) Company Limited, Beying Branch

Dell (China) Company Limited, Beying Liaison Office
Dell (China) Company Lumited Chengdu Branch

Dell (China) Company Limuted, Chengdu Liaison Office
Dell (China) Company Limited, Dalian Branch

Dell (China) Company Limited Guangzhou Branch

Dell (China) Company Limited, Guangzhou Liaison Office
Dell (China) Company Linited Hangzhou Lizison Office
Delt (China) Company Limuted, Nanjing Liaison Office
Deli (China) Cempany Limuted Shanghai Branch

Delt (China) Company Lunited, Shanghai Liaison Office
Dell (China) Company Limuted, Shenzhen Liaison Office
Dell (China) Company Limited, Xiamen Branch

De!l (Thailand) Co , Ltd

Dell (Xiamen) Company Limited

Dell {(Xiamen) Company Limited, Dahan Branch

Dell Asia Holdings Pte Ltd

Delt Asia Pacific Sdn Bhd {Pakistan Liaison Office)

Delt Asia Pacific Sdn

Delt Asia Pacific Sdn Philippines Representative Office
Dell Asiz Pte Ltd

Dell Australia Pty Limited

Dell B V, Tarwan Branch

Dell Global B V , Singapore Branch

Dell Giobal Business Center Sdn Bhd

Dell Global BV (Bangladesh Representative Office}

Dell Gilobal BV (Indonesia Representative Office)

Dell Global BV (Pakistan Liaison Office)

Dell Global BV (Philippines Representative Office)

Dell Global BY (Sn-Lanka Representative Office}

Deli Global BY (Vietnam Representative Office)

Dell Global Procurement Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Dell Global Pte Ltd

Dell Hong Kong Limited

Dell [ndia Pnivate Lid

Delt India {Sales & Marketng) Private Limited

Deli International Inc

Dell International Services Philippines Inc

Dell Japan Inc

Dell New Zealand Lirmited

Dell Procurement {Xiamen) Company Limited

Dell Procurement {Xiamen) Company Limited Shanghai Branch
Dell Procurement (Xiamen) Company Limuted, Shenzhen Limison Office
Dell Sales Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Junsdiction

Australa
Australia
China
China
China
Chuna
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
Tharland
China
China
Singapotre
Pakistan
Malaysia
Philippines
Singapore
Australia
Tarwan
Singapore
Malaysia
Bangladesh
Indonesia
Pakistan
Philippines
S Lanka
Vietnam
Malaysia
Singapore
Hong Kong
Incha
India
South Korca
Philippines
Japan
New Zcaland
China
China
China
Malaysia




Asia-Pacific & Japan

Dell Singapore Ple Lid

Dell Tawan B V, Taiwan Branch

Equallogic Japan Company Limited

Tunin Networks India Pvt Ltd

Forcel0 Networks India Pvt Ltd

Forcel0 Networks Austrahia Pty Lid

Forcei0 Networks Singapore Pte Lid

Farce 10 Networks (Shanghai) Ltd

Force 10 Networks Malaysta (Branch)

Force10 Networks Hong Kong (Branch)

Force 10 Networks Korea YH

Forcel0 Networks KK

Ocarina Networks Incha Pvt Lid

Perot Systems (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Perat Systems (Shanghat) Consulting Co , Limited
Perot Systems (Singapore) Pte Lad

Perot Systems Holdings Pte Ltd

Dell International Services India Prvate Limited (fk a Perot Systems TSI (India) Pnvate Limited)
Dell {Chengdu) Company Limated

Dell Services {Chuina) Company Limited

Dell [nformation Technelogy (Hunan) Company Limzted
PT Dell Indonesia

Jurisdiction

Singapore
Tarwan
Japan
India
India
Australia
Sinpapore
China
Malaysia
Hong Kong
Korea
Japan
India
Malaysia
China
Singapore
Simgapore
India
China
China
China
Indonesia




EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporatton by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No 333-172872) and Form S-8 (Nos 033-54583,
033-63273, 333-58039, 33366415, 3133-49014 333-49016, 333-69724, 333-69726, 333-100342, 333-111214, 333-147882, 333-158216 and 333-177202) of
Dell Inc of our report dated March 13, 2012 relating to the financial stalements, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting which
appears in this Form 10-K

fs! PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Austin Texas
March 13, 2012




EXHIBIT 31 1

CERIIFICATION OF MICHAEL § DELL, CHAIRMAN AND
CHILF EXLCUTIVE OFFICER, PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURIIIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael S Dell, certify that

1
2

(a}

()

©)

{d}

(a)

()

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dell Inc ,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contatn any untrue statement of a matenal fact er omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information mcluded in this repont, fairly present in all matenial respects the
financtal condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the pertods presented in this report,

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and [ are responsible for establishing and mantaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financal reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(6))
for the registrant and have

Designed such diselosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under cur supervision, to
ensure that material informanion relating 1o the registrant, mcluding 1ts consolidated subsidianes, 1s made known to us by others within those
entises particutarly during the perod 1n which this report 15 being prepared,

Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporuing to be designed under our
supervision, 1o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure. controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed n this report any change i the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or 15 reasonably hkely to matenally affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting, and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit commttee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions)

All sigmificant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation of interal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarnze and report financial information, and

Any fraud, whether or not matenial that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s nternal control
over financial reporting

March 13, 2012 /sf MICHAEL S DELL

Michael S Dell
Charrman and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 312

CLRUIFICATION OF BRIANT GLADDEN, SENIOR VICE PRLSIDENIT AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICLR, PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDLR
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF T HE SARBANES-OXLEY AC1 OF 2002

1, Bnan T Gladder certify that

1
2

(a}

(b)

(c)

(d}

(a)

(b}

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dell Inc ,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenial fact or amit to state a maltenal fact necessary to make the
statements made 1n light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading wrth respect to the period covered by this report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, farly present in all matenal respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for the penods presented in this report,

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintsming disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 1n
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and |15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to
ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant, ncluding its consolidated subsidiaries, 15 made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the peniod in which this report 1s being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such mternal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the relability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting pninciples

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented n this report our conclusions about the
eftectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

Disclosed 1n this report any change 1n the registrant’s intermal control over financial reporting that occurred during the regisirant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably hikely to matenally affect,
the registrant's internal control over financiat reporting, and

The registrant's other cerfying officer(s) and | have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s audifors and the audit commuttee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions)

All sigmficant deficiencies and malenal weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information, and

Any fraud whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a sigmficant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting

March 13, 2012 /s BRIAN T GLADDEN

Brian T Gladden
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 321

CERTIFICATIONS OF MICHAEL § DELL, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICLER,
AND BRIANT GLADDEN, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, PURSUANT TO I8 U § C SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT 10 SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned officers of Dell Inc hereby certity that (a) Dell Inc 's Annual Report on Form 16-K for the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012, as filed with
the Secunties and Exchange Commuission, fully complees with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934 and (b)Y information
contamed n the report farly presents, i all matenal respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Dell Inc

Date March 13, 2012 /s/ MICHAEL § DELL
Michael S Dell
Chatrman and Chief Executive Officer

Date  March 13, 2012 /s/ BRIANT GLADDEN
BnanT Gladden
Sentor Vice President and Chief Financral Office




